
i 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Staging the Past: 

 
The Period Room in New Zealand  

 

 

 

 

 

Volume I 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submitted by Kimberley Jane Stephenson in fulfilment of a Master of Arts in Art 

History 

School of Art History, Classics and Religious Studies 

Victoria University of Wellington  

December 2011 



 ii 

 

Contents 

 

 

Volume I  

  

Abstract iii 

  

Acknowledgements iv 

  

Abbreviations vi 

  

List of Illustrations vii 

  

Introduction 1 

  

Chapter 1          The Centennial Exhibition and the  

                          emergence of a period room tradition in New                                               

                          Zealand 20 

  

Chapter 2          Otago Early Settlers Museum 46 

  

Chapter 3          Canterbury Museum 71 

  

Chapter 4          Dominion Museum 126 

  

Conclusion 175 

  

Bibliography 177 

  

Illustrations 193 

  

  

  

  

Volume II  

  

List of Illustrations 1 

  

Illustrations 9 

  

 



 iii 

 

Abstract 

 

Before 1940, few of the nation’s museums actively collected or displayed 

artefacts associated with the history of European settlement in New Zealand.  

Over the following three decades, an interest in ‘colonial history’ blossomed and 

collections grew rapidly.  Faced with the challenge of displaying material 

associated with the homes of early settlers, museums adopted the period room as 

a strategy of display.  The period room subsequently remained popular with 

museum professionals until the 1980s, when the type of history that it had 

traditionally been used to represent was increasingly brought into question.      

 

Filling a gap in the literature that surrounds museums and their practices in New 

Zealand, this thesis attempts to chart the meteoric rise and fall of the period room 

in New Zealand.  Taking the two period rooms that were created for the New 

Zealand Centennial Exhibition in 1939 as its starting point, the thesis begins by 

considering the role that the centennials, jubilees and other milestones celebrated 

around New Zealand in the 1940s and 1950s played in the development of period 

rooms in this country, unpacking the factors that fuelled the popularity of this 

display mode among exhibition organisers and museum professionals.  The 

thesis then charts the history of the period room in the context of three 

metropolitan museums – the Otago Early Settlers Museum, the Canterbury 

Museum, and the Dominion Museum – looking at the physical changes that were 

made to these displays over time, the attitudes that informed these changes, and 

the role that period rooms play in these institutions today. 



 iv 

 

Acknowledgements 

 

Firstly, I would like to thank Victoria University for their generous financial 

support, without which this thesis would never have been written.  I am also 

deeply indebted to my supervisor, Roger Blackley, whose advice and attention to 

detail has been invaluable throughout the research process.  A special thank you 

also goes to the staff of the Art History department, especially Annie Mercer and 

Pippa Wisheart, for all of their help over the years. 

 

I would also like to acknowledge the numerous people and organisations around 

New Zealand who assisted me in various ways during the research process: 

Elizabeth Lorimer, Rose Young, and the library staff at the Auckland Museum; 

Damian Cairns, Joanna Condon, Kerry McCarthy, Katie Wilson and the staff at 

the Documentary Research Centre, Canterbury Museum; Alison Breese, Dunedin 

City Council Archives; Wendy Adlam, Lower Hutt City Council Archives; 

Rebecca Smith, Invercargill City Archives; Anita Hogan, Carolyn McGill, 

Jennifer Twist and the staff at Te Aka Matua Library, Museum of New Zealand 

Te Papa Tongarewa; the staff at the National Library of New Zealand Te Puna 

Mātauranga o Aotearoa; the Northland, Central and Southern Regional Offices of 

the New Zealand Historic Places Trust Pouhere Taonga; Moira White and Elise 

Allen, Otago Museum; Seán Brosnahan and Jill Haley, Otago Settlers Museum; 

the staff at the Upper Hutt Community Archive; and David Dudfield, Lindsay 

Hazley and Gael Ramsay at the Southland Museum and Art Gallery. 

 



 v 

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends for their ongoing 

support – I could not have done this without you!  Dudley and Jesse Stephenson 

– thank you so much for all your love and support over the years.  I miss you 

both dearly.   



 vi 

 

Abbreviations 

 

ANZ  Archives New Zealand Te Rua Mahara o te Kāwanatanga 

AM  Auckland Museum 

CM   Canterbury Museum 

DPL  Dunedin Public Library 

LHCC   Lower Hutt City Council Archives 

MONZ  Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa 

NLNZ  National Library of New Zealand Te Puna Mātauranga o Aotearoa 

NZHPT  New Zealand Historic Places Trust Pouhere Taonga 

OSM  Otago Settlers Museum 

HCL   Hutt City Libraries Heritage Centre 

UH   Upper Hutt Community Archive 

 



 vii 

 

List of Illustrations 

 

 

Chapter 1 – New Zealand Centennial Exhibition 

 

Fig 1.1:  North Island Pioneer Hut (1840), Women’s Court, New Zealand 

Centennial Exhibition (1939-40). 

Souvenir postcard, circa 1939.   

 

Figs 1.2-3:  North Island Pioneer Hut (1840), Women’s Court, New Zealand 

Centennial Exhibition (1939-40). 

John T. Salmon, 13 December 1939.   

 

Fig 1.4:  South Island Pioneer Room (1840-50), Women’s Court, New Zealand 

Centennial Exhibition (1939-40). 

Souvenir postcard, circa 1939.   

 

Figs 1.5-6:  South Island Pioneer Room (1840-50), Women’s Court, New 

Zealand Centennial Exhibition (1939-40). 

John T. Salmon, 13 December 1939.   

 

 

Chapter 2 – Otago Early Settlers Museum 

 

Fig 2.1: Pioneer Cottage Parlour, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.   

‘Display at Otago Early Settlers Museum of Historical Scenes’, Otago Daily 

Times, 19 February 1948, p. 3. 

 

Fig 2.2: Pioneer Cottage Kitchen, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.   

‘Display at Otago Early Settlers Museum of Historical Scenes’, Otago Daily 

Times, 19 February 1948, p. 3. 

 

Fig 2.3: Layout of the Pioneer Hall at the Otago Early Settlers Museum after the 

installation of the Otago Centennial Exhibition in 1948.   

Author, 2011.   

 

Fig 2.4: Exterior of the Pioneer Cottage and mural of Gabriel’s Gully in 1861 

painted by Colin Wheeler and John W. Brock, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers 

Museum.   

Photographer unknown, circa 1948.   

 

Fig 2.5: Pioneer Cottage Bedroom, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.   

Photographer unknown, circa 1948.   

 



 viii 

Fig 2.6: Pioneer Cottage Parlour, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.  

Photographer unknown, 1948.   

 

Fig 2.7: Pioneer Cottage Kitchen, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.  

Photographer unknown, 1948.   

 

Fig 2.8: Pioneer Cottage Parlour, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.  

Photographer unknown, circa 1950.   

 

Fig 2.9: Pioneer Cottage Kitchen, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.  

Franz Photographs, circa 1950.   

 

Fig 2.10: Pioneer Cottage Parlour, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum. 

Photographer unknown, circa 1972.   

 

Fig 2.11: Pioneer Cottage Parlour, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.  

Photographer unknown, circa 1980.   

 

Fig 2.12: Pioneer Cottage Kitchen, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.  

‘Cottage Shows Early Family Life’, Otago Daily Times, 16 October 1982, p. 16. 

 

Fig 2.13: Pioneer Cottage Parlour, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum. 

Martti Puhakka and Ed Higbee, circa 1987.   

 

Fig 2.14: Pioneer Cottage Kitchen, Pioneer Hall, Otago Early Settlers Museum.  

Martti Puhakka and Ed Higbee, circa 1987.   

 

Figs 2.15-16:  Across the Ocean Waves, Otago Settlers Museum. 

Author, 29 June 2010. 

 

Figs 2.17-18:  Steerage Quarters, Across the Ocean Waves, Otago Settlers 

Museum. 

Author, 29 June 2010. 

 

 

Chapter 3 – Canterbury Museum 

 

Fig 3.1: Layout of the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition (1950-51), former 

Ethnological Hall, Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 2011.   

 

Fig 3.2: James Edward FitzGerald’s cabin aboard the Charlotte Jane, 

Canterbury Colonists Exhibition (1950-51), Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1950.   



 ix 

Fig 3.3: Lyttelton Cottage Kitchen (1850-60), Canterbury Colonists Exhibition  

(1950-51), Canterbury Museum. 

Green & Hahn, 1950.   

 

Fig 3.4: Lyttelton Cottage Bedroom (1850-60), Canterbury Colonists Exhibition  

(1950-51), Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1950.   

 

Fig 3.5: Christchurch House Bedroom (1850-60), Canterbury Colonists 

Exhibition (1950-51), Canterbury Museum. 

Green & Hahn, 1950. 

 

Fig 3.6: Christchurch House Drawing Room (1850-60), Canterbury Colonists 

Exhibition (1950-51), Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1950.   

 

Fig 3.7: Studding Sail Hall, Canterbury Colonists Exhibition (1950-51), 

Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1950.   

 

Fig 3.8: Studding Sail Hall Living Room, Canterbury Colonists Exhibition 

(1950-51), Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1 June 1951.   

 

Fig 3.9: Studding Sail Hall Bedroom, Canterbury Colonists Exhibition (1950-

51), Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1 June 1951.   

 

Fig 3.10: Victorian Room (1890s), Canterbury Colonists Exhibition (1950-51), 

Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1950.   

 

Fig 3.11: James Edward FitzGerald, Cabin of Charlotte Jane, 1850. 

 

Fig 3.12: Dr A.C. Barker, Studding Sail Hall, Christchurch, New Zealand, 28 

January 1851. 

 

Fig 3.13: Dr A.C. Barker, Interior of Studding Sail Hall, Christchurch, N. 

Zealand, ACB Architect, 28 February 1851. 

 

Fig 3.14: Christchurch House Bedroom (1850-60), Canterbury Colonists 

Exhibition (1950-51), Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1 June 1951.   

 



 x 

Fig 3.15: Christchurch House Drawing Room (1850-60), Canterbury Colonists 

Exhibition (1950-51), Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1 June 1951.   

 

Fig 3.16: Victorian Room (1890s), Canterbury Colonists Exhibition (1950-51), 

Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1 June 1951.   

 

Fig 3.17: ‘Colonial Room’ created by the Canterbury Museum on the premises 

of Calder Mackay, Christchurch, for Museum Week. 

Frank McGregor, circa 1953.   

 

Fig 3.18: Layout of the Canterbury Colonists Galleries, Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 2011.   

 

Fig 3.19: Christchurch Street, Canterbury Colonists Galleries, Canterbury 

Museum. 

Photographer unknown, circa 1960.  

 

Fig 3.20: Cob House Kitchen (1850s), Canterbury Colonists Galleries, 

Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1960.   

 

Fig 3.21: Cob House Parlour (1850s), Canterbury Colonists Galleries, 

Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1960.   

 

Fig 3.22: Victorian Room (1860s), Canterbury Colonists Galleries, Canterbury 

Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1960.   

 

Fig 3.23: Georgian Room, Canterbury Colonists Galleries, Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1960.   

 

Fig 3.24: Stuart Room, Canterbury Colonists Galleries, Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1960.   

 

Fig 3.25: Furniture Case, Canterbury Colonists Galleries, Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, 1960.   

 

Fig 3.26: Cabin aboard the Charlotte Jane, Hall of Colonial Settlement, 

Canterbury Museum. 

Unknown Press photographer, circa 1966?   

 

 



 xi 

Fig 3.27: Georgian Room, Canterbury Colonists Galleries, Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, circa 1972. 

 

Fig 3.28: Heathcote Helmore Hall of European Fine Arts, Canterbury Museum. 

Photographer unknown, circa 1967.   

 

Figs 3.29-30:  Christchurch Street, Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 23 July 2010. 

 

Figs 3.31-32:  Mountfort Gallery, Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 27 July 2010 and 23 July 2010. 

 

Fig 3.33: Victorian Museum, Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 23 July 2010. 

 

Fig 3.34: Julius von Haast’s Office, Victorian Museum, Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 16 February 2010. 

 

Fig 3.35: Studding Sail Hall and ‘Britain of the South’ displays, Ngā Taonga 

Tuku Iho o Ngā Tūpuna/Treasures Left to Us by Our Ancestors, Canterbury 

Museum. 

Author, 22 July 2010. 

 

Fig 3.36: ‘The Tide of Immigration’ and ‘A Home Beyond the Sea’ displays, 

Ngā Taonga Tuku Iho o Ngā Tūpuna/Treasures Left to Us by Our Ancestors, 

Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 22 July 2010. 

 

Figs 3.37-38:  Studding Sail Hall, Ngā Taonga Tuku Iho o Ngā 

Tūpuna/Treasures Left to Us by Our Ancestors, Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 27 July 2010. 

 

Figs 3.39-41:  Fred and Myrtle’s Paua Shell House, Canterbury Museum. 

Author, 23 July 2010. 

 

 

Chapter 4 – Dominion Museum 

 

Fig 4.1: Page from the New Zealand Free Lance illustrating the arrangement of 

period furniture from the Elgar Bequest and other ‘new look’ displays that were 

created at the Dominion Museum in preparation for its reopening in 1949.   

‘Dominion Museum’s “New Look”’, New Zealand Free Lance, 28 September 

1949, p. 38. 

 

 



 xii 

Fig 4.2: Queen Anne Room, Dominion Museum. 

‘Furniture with a History’, New Zealand Free Lance, 12 September 1951, p. 30. 

 

Fig 4.3: Georgian Room, Dominion Museum. 

‘Furniture with a History’, New Zealand Free Lance, 12 September 1951, p. 30. 

 

Figs 4.4-5:  Queen Anne Room, Dominion Museum. 

Charles Hale, October 1954.   

 

Fig 4.6: Georgian Room, Dominion Museum. 

Charles Hale, October 1954.   

 

Fig 4.7: Kitchen (1840-50), Colonial Exhibition (1954-55), National Art Gallery 

and Dominion Museum.  

Charles Hale, 1955.   

 

Fig 4.8: Ships Furniture (1840-50), Colonial Exhibition (1954-55), National Art 

Gallery and Dominion Museum. 

Charles Hale, 1955.   

 

Fig 4.9:  Imported Furniture (1840-50), Colonial Exhibition (1954-55), National 

Art Gallery and Dominion Museum. 

Charles Hale, 1955.   

 

Fig 4.10: Sitting Room (circa 1875), Colonial Exhibition (1954-55), National 

Art Gallery and Dominion Museum. 

Charles Hale, 1955. 

 

Fig 4.11: Drawing Room, Lower Hutt Jubilee Exhibition (1966), Horticultural 

Hall, Lower Hutt. 

‘Tea for Two’, Hutt News, 22 February 1966, p. 9. 

 

Fig 4.12: Bedroom, Lower Hutt Jubilee Exhibition (1966), Horticultural Hall, 

Lower Hutt. 

‘Pioneer Display for Jubilee’, Dominion, 15 February 1966, p. 3. 

 

Figs 4.13-14:  Living Room (1860-70), Early Wellington Exhibition (1963), 

Kirkcaldie & Stains, Wellington. 

Frank O’Leary, 1963. 

 

Fig 4.15: Kitchen (1860-70), Early Wellington Exhibition (1963), Kirkcaldie & 

Stains, Wellington. 

Frank O’Leary, 1963. 

 



 xiii 

Fig 4.16:  Colonial Cottage Living Room, Colonial History Gallery, Dominion 

Museum. 

John B. Turner, September 1968.   

 

Figs 4.17-19:  Queen Anne Room, Colonial History Gallery, National Museum.  

Photographer unknown, circa 1974?   

 

Fig 4.20: Colonial History Gallery, National Museum. 

Michael Fitzgerald, April 1982.   

 

Figs 4.21-22:  Colonial Cottage Dining Room, Colonial History Gallery, 

National Museum. 

Michael Fitzgerald, 30 June 1982.   

 

Figs 4.23-24:  Queen Anne Room, Colonial History Gallery, National Museum. 

Alan Marchant, June 1990. 

 

Fig 4.25: Georgian Room, Colonial History Gallery, National Museum. 

Alan Marchant, June 1990.   

 

Figs 4.26-27:  Georgian Room, Colonial History Gallery, National Museum. 

Alan Marchant, 1992.   

 

Fig 4.28: Colonial Cottage Dining Room, Colonial History Gallery, National 

Museum. 

Alan Marchant, June 1990.   

 

Figs 4.29-30:  Colonial Cottage Kitchen, Colonial History Gallery, National 

Museum. 

Alan Marchant, 1992.   

 

Fig 4.31: Colonial Cottage Bedroom, Colonial History Gallery, National 

Museum. 

Alan Marchant, 1992.   

 

Figs 4.32-33:  Queen Anne Room, Colonial History Gallery, National Museum. 

Alan Marchant, May 1992.   

 

Figs 4.34-35:  Living Room tableau, Mother Country/Whenua Whaera, Slice of 

Heaven: 20
th

 Century Aotearoa, Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa. 

Author, 10 December 2010. 

 



 xiv 

Fig 4.36:  ‘Turn of the Century 1900-1910’ and ‘All that Jazz 1920-1930’,  

Home-Grown/Kiwiana, Slice of Heaven: 20
th

 Century Aotearoa, Museum of 

New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa. 

Author, 21 February 2011. 

 

 

 



1 

 

Introduction 

 

Before 1940, few of the nation’s museums actively collected or displayed 

artefacts associated with the history of European settlement in New Zealand.  

Over the course of the next three decades an interest in ‘colonial history’ 

blossomed and collections grew rapidly.  Faced with the challenge of displaying 

material associated with the homes of early settlers, museums adopted the period 

room as a strategy of display.  The period room subsequently remained popular 

with museum professionals until the 1980s, when the type of history that it had 

traditionally been used to represent was increasingly brought into question.  

During the 1990s many of New Zealand’s metropolitan museums underwent 

substantial redevelopment, providing these institutions with the opportunity to 

update their displays on a widespread scale.  As a result, many of the period 

rooms that had been in place since the 1950s and 1960s were dismantled and the 

collections stored.    

 

Filling a gap in the literature that surrounds museums and their practices in New 

Zealand, this thesis attempts to chart the meteoric rise and fall of the period room 

in New Zealand.  Taking the two period rooms that were created for the New 

Zealand Centennial Exhibition in 1939 as its starting point, the thesis begins by 

considering the role that the centennials, jubilees and other milestones celebrated 

around New Zealand in the 1940s and 1950s played in the development of period 

rooms in this country, unpacking the factors that fuelled its popularity among 

exhibition organisers and museum professionals.  The thesis then charts the 
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history of the period room in the context of three metropolitan museums – the 

Otago Early Settlers Museum, the Canterbury Museum, and the Dominion 

Museum – looking at the physical changes that were made to these displays over 

time, the attitudes that informed these changes, and the role that period rooms 

play in these institutions today. 

 

 

Literature Review 

 

In the 1980s the ‘new museology’ called for an examination of the ways in 

which museums create meaning.  As a result, museum professionals and scholars 

began to examine the modes of presentation used by such institutions, an area of 

museum studies that had previously been largely ignored in favour of histories 

that focused on objects and collections.  Among the many scholars who have 

addressed the knowledge-making capacity of museums are Barbara Kirshenblatt-

Gimblett, Emma Barker, Carla Yanni and Stephanie Moser, whose work 

provides important insight into the way in which different strategies of display 

contribute to how a museum object is seen and understood.
1
  As Barker observes, 

displays are always produced by museum staff and thus they are necessarily ‘a 

form of representation as well as a mode of presentation.’
2
 

 

                                                 
1
 Barbara Kirshenblatt-Gimblett, Destination Culture: Tourism, Museums and Heritage, 

Berkeley, Los Angeles and London: University of California Press, 1998.  Emma Barker, ed., 

Contemporary Cultures of Display, New Haven: Yale University Press, 1999.  Carla Yanni, 

Nature’s Museums: Victorian Science and the Architecture of Display, London: Athlone Press, 

1999.  Stephanie Moser, ‘The Devil is in the Detail: Museum Displays and the Creation of 

Knowledge’, Museum Anthropology 3, no. 1 (2010): 22-32. 
2
 Barker, 1999, p. 13. 
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Complementing this body of literature, other scholars and museum professionals 

have contributed to our understanding of this issue by examining how the 

practices and principles that underpin certain display strategies have evolved 

over time.  One particular sub-set of display that has received much attention in 

the past three decades are reconstructions, or what Kirshenblatt-Gimblett refers 

to as ‘in situ displays’, a form of display in which the original context from 

which the artefact or artefacts were derived is re-created or evoked.
3
  As a 

display type, the term reconstruction covers a diverse range of display 

techniques, including waxworks, habitat groups, period rooms, life groups, 

dioramas, tableaux, replicas, and period environments.  Among those scholars 

whose work has critically engaged with the implications of one or more of these 

particular display strategies are Alison Griffiths (life groups, habitat dioramas), 

Stephanie Moser (life groups) and Karen Wonders (habitat dioramas).
4
   

 

Since the emergence of the period room in Europe and the United States of 

America in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, a small body of 

literature has addressed this method of display.  The oldest and by far the largest 

subset of this literature takes the form of books and articles devoted to the history 

of an individual room or suite of rooms within the context of a particular 

institution.
5
  Written largely by museum professionals, much of this literature has 

                                                 
3
 Kirshenblatt-Gimblett, 1998, p. 3. 

4
 Alison Griffiths, Wondrous Difference: Cinema, Anthropology & Turn-of-the-century Visual 

Culture, New York: Columbia University Press, 2002.  Alison Griffiths, Shivers Down Your 

Spine: Cinema, Museums, and the Immersive View, New York: Colombia University Press, 2008.  

Stephanie Moser, ‘The Dilemma of Didactic Displays: Habitat Dioramas, Life Groups and 

Reconstructions of the Past’, in Nick Merriman, ed., Making Early Histories in Museums, 

Washington: Leicester University Press, 1999, pp. 97-116.  Karen Wonders, Habitat Dioramas: 

Illusions of Wilderness in Museums of Natural History, Uppsala University: Almqvist & Wiksell, 

1993. 
5
 Examples of this type of literature include: George Francis Dow, ‘Museums and the 

Preservation of Early Houses,’ The Metropolitan Museum of Art Bulletin 17, no. 11, Part 2: An 
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been concerned with exploring the origins of the main architectural elements or 

furnishings of a given room and how the elements of these rooms have been re-

presented and re-interpreted over time. 

 

Since World War II, these histories have been joined by a second body of 

research in which museum professionals began to look more broadly at the 

concept and conventions of the period room, as well as the general history and 

functions of such displays.  After 1960, museum professionals also began to 

address the challenges of curating period rooms, with writers increasingly 

reflecting on both past practices and the issue of authenticity.
6
  While the 

primary focus of this literature was initially the perceived disadvantages of the 

period room, museum professionals, such as Sarah Medlam and Julius Bryant, 

have recently attempted to balance the problems that have come to be associated 

with such displays with discussion about the positive role that they can play in 

the museum sector today.
7
 

 

                                                                                                                                    
American Wing for the Metropolitan Museum of Art, the Gift of Robert W. de Forest and Emily 

Johnston de Forest, (November 1922): 16-20.  Eda Diskant, ‘A Dutch Room of the Seventeenth 

Century in the Philadelphia Museum of Art’, Philadelphia Museum of Art Bulletin 80, no. 341, A 

17th Century Dutch Room, (Winter 1984): 1-24.  Amelia Peck and James Parker, eds., Period 

Rooms in the Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York: Metropolitan Museum of Art 

Publications, 2004. 
6
 See: A.E. Parr, ‘Habitat Group and Period Room’, Curator: The Museum Journal 1, no. 4 

(1963): 325-336.  Edward P. Alexander, ‘Artistic and Historical Period Rooms’, Curator: The 

Museum Journal 7, no. 4 (October 1964): 263-281.  Dianne H. Pilgrim, ‘Inherited From the Past: 

The American Period Room’, The American Art Journal 10, no. 1 (May 1978): 5-23.  Wendy 

Kaplan, ‘The Reinstallation of the Oak Hill Rooms’, M Bulletin (Museum of Fine Arts Boston) 

81, (1983): 46-59.  Julia Porter and Sally MacDonald, ‘Fabricating Interiors: Approaches to the 

History of Domestic Furnishings at the Geffrye Museum’, Journal of Design History 3, no. 2-3 

(1990): 175-182.  
7
 Sarah Medlam, ‘The Period Rooms’, in Christopher Wilk and Nick Humphrey, eds., Creating 

the British Galleries at the V&A: A Study in Museology, London: V&A Publications, 2004, pp. 

165-200.  Julius Bryant, ‘Curating the Georgian Interior: From Period Rooms to Marketplace?’, 

Journal of Design History 20, no. 4 (2007): 345-350.  Julius Bryant, ‘Museum Period Rooms for 

the Twenty-First Century: Salvaging Ambition,’ Museum Management and Curatorship 24, no. 1 

(2009): 73-84. 
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Within the last two decades significant research regarding the history of the 

period room has also been undertaken by scholars working outside of the 

museum sector.  In 1995 the French scholar Bruno Pons produced a detailed 

study of the reconstitution of decorative schemes from private French residences 

by museums in Britain, France and America in which he attempted to place such 

displays not only within the historical context of the history of period rooms but 

also the histories that they were designed to represent, specifically the history of 

French architecture and design.
8
  Further research regarding the use of 

architectural salvages in the production of period rooms in European and 

American museums was published in 2007 by architectural historian John Harris, 

who focused in particular on the representation of English interiors.
9
  

 

In recent years further literature regarding the period room has also been 

produced within the academic realm.  In America, Hillary Murtha at the 

University of Delaware, and Majorie Schwarter at John F. Kennedy University, 

California, have both recently offered fresh perspectives on the history of the 

period room and its function in museums today.
10

  In Britain, Trevor Keeble, 

Head of the School of Art and Design at Kingston University, London, and 

Jeremy Ansley, Professor of Design History at the Royal College of Art, were 

among the scholars who contributed to The Modern Period Room: The 

                                                 
8
 Bruno Pons, French Period Rooms, 1650-1800: Rebuilt in England, France and the Americas, 

France: Editions Faton, 1995. 
9
 John Harris, Moving Rooms, New Haven and London: Yale University Press for the Paul 

Mellon Centre for Studies in British Art, 2007. 
10

 Hillary Murtha, ‘The Reuben Bliss Bedchamber at the Brooklyn Museum of Art: A Case Study 

in the History of Museum Period Room Installations’, Winterthur Portfolio 40, no. 4 (Winter 

2005): 205-218.  Marjorie Schwarzer, ‘Literary Devices: Period Rooms as Fantasy and 

Archetype’, Curator: The Museum Journal 51, no. 4 (October 2008): 355-360. 
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Construction of the Exhibited Interior 1870 to 1950.
11

  This compilation of 

essays by scholars, architects and museum professionals published in 2006 

addressed the issues and conventions that surround period rooms that represent 

modern interiors. 

 

Another area of research into which this thesis fits is the growing pool of 

literature that addresses various aspects of the history of museums and their 

practices in the New Zealand context.  Among the general surveys that have been 

produced regarding museums and art galleries in New Zealand are a report by 

Sydney F. Markman and Henry Richards published in 1933 and a directory 

compiled by Keith W.
 
Thomson in 1981, both of which provide a brief overview 

of the development of local museums and their individual histories.
12

  This 

subject was further addressed in the 1980s by Susan Sheets-Pyenson, who 

included New Zealand museums in her study of the emergence of such 

institutions in colonial contexts in the nineteenth century.
13

 

 

In addition to these general histories, a number of publications have also 

addressed the history of individual institutions in New Zealand.  The earliest 

accounts were often produced in connection with important milestones.  Some of 

these histories simply appeared in annual reports, while others were published 

                                                 
11

 Trevor Keeble, Brenda Martin and Penny Sparke, eds., The Modern Period Room: The 

Construction of the Exhibited Interior 1870 to 1950, New York: Routledge, 2006. 
12

 Sydney F Markman, A Report on the Museums and Art Galleries of Australia and New 

Zealand, London: The Museums Association, 1933.  Keith W. Thomson, Art Galleries and 

Museums in New Zealand, Sydney and Wellington: A.H. & A.W. Reed, 1981. 
13

 Susan Sheets-Pyenson, Cathedrals of Science: The Development of Colonial Natural History 

Museums during the Late Nineteenth Century, Kingston and Montreal: McGill-Queen’s 

University Press, 1988. 
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separately in commemorative publications.
14

  More recently, however, scholars 

and museum professionals have begun to take a more in-depth look at the history 

of individual institutions, including Stuart Park, who has undertaken research 

into the early history of the Auckland Museum, and Seán Brosnahan, who 

produced a detailed history of the Otago Early Settlers Association and their 

museum to coincide with the centenary of the organisation in 1998.
15

   

 

In the twenty-first century the practices of New Zealand museums have 

increasingly been addressed.  Among the areas that have been examined by 

scholars in recent years are the collection and display of Māori artefacts and the 

display of natural history specimens.
16

  A growing body of literature has also 

come to surround the collection and display of non-indigenous collections in 

New Zealand museums.  In 2002 Australian scholar James Michael Gore looked 

at the representation of national identity in the national museums of Australia 

(Canberra) and New Zealand (Dominion Museum/Te Papa, Wellington).
17

  The 

                                                 
14
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2006’, Master of Arts in Museum and Heritage Studies, Victoria University of Wellington, 2008. 
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history of collecting and displaying objects representative of Pākehā history in 

museums has subsequently been addressed from multiple perspectives by Daniel 

Smith, Bronwyn Ann Wright, Bronwyn Labrum, Julia Waite and Rebecca 

Rice.
18

  Within this existing scholarship, however, the period room has received 

very little attention.  This thesis attempts to address this absence by exploring its 

history in New Zealand museums and how the use of this strategy of display has 

changed over time. 

 

 

What is a period room? 

 

At its broadest, the term ‘period room’ has been utilised to describe rooms or 

spaces decorated in such a way as to evoke a past era.  Such a definition 

encompasses historical interiors that have been recreated in a diverse range of 

contexts, including private residences, museums, historic buildings, film, 

television and magazines.  This essay is concerned solely with period rooms that 

have been created for the purposes of display in the context of a museum 

environment.  More specifically, it looks at those created in the context of 

purpose-built museum galleries as opposed to historic house museums.   

 

                                                 
18

 Daniel C.P. Smith, ‘City Revealed: The Process and Politics of Exhibition Development’, 

Master of Arts in Museum Studies, Massey University, Palmerston North, 2003.  Bronwyn A. 

Wright, ‘Exhibiting Pakeha Social History at the Auckland Museum’, Master of Arts in 

Museums and Cultural Heritage, University of Auckland, 2006.  Bronwyn Labrum, ‘Making 
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Simon J. Knell, Suzanne MacLeod and Sheila Watson, eds., Museum Revolutions: How Museums 

Change and Are Changed, London and New York: Routledge, 2007, pp. 149-159.  Julia Waite, 

‘Under Construction: National Identity and the Display of Colonial History at the National 

Museum of Singapore and the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa’, Master of Arts in 

Museum and Heritage Studies, Victoria University of Wellington, 2008.  Rebecca Rice, ‘The 

State Collections of Colonial New Zealand Art: Intertwined Histories of Collecting and Display’, 

Doctor of Philosophy in Art History, Victoria University of Wellington, 2010. 
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The general consensus in the scholarship that surrounds the period room is that 

the term refers to a room created in modern times that is decorated in such a way 

as to evoke a past era.  Supplementing this rather broad definition, scholars have 

identified a number of characteristics that further help to define what constitutes 

a period room.  The scholar Bruno Pons, for example, asserts that a period room 

must utilise at least some elements that date to the period that the room seeks to 

represent.
19

  Among the characteristics that have often been attributed to the 

period room is that it should make reference to a particular historical interior or 

to a specific type of historical interior and that an attempt be made to furnish it in 

accordance with the period that it is designed to represent.
20

  As several writers 

have asserted, these two characteristics work to distinguish the ‘period room’ 

from the ‘period setting’, with the latter simply acting to create an ambience that 

complements the particular period of the artefacts being shown.  

 

While all period rooms act as a representational device, it is important to observe 

that not all period rooms are created with the same goals in mind.  A period room 

may attempt to recreate a particular historical interior or be designed to be 

representative of a type of interior that was built in a particular place during a 

certain period.  In the case of the former, the aim may be to reconstitute a room 

utilising as many of its original parts as possible.  Equally, the room may contain 

no elements of the original decorative scheme being re-created.  Instead, 

genuinely old elements drawn from other sources may be used to re-create the 

look of the room or it may be replicated almost entirely with modern materials.  

Any combination of original features, genuinely old elements and modern 

                                                 
19

 Pons, 1995, p. 13. 
20
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materials are possible.  This is also true in the case of period rooms that are 

designed to illustrate a particular type of historic interior.  The approach that is 

taken in the construction of period rooms differs not only between different 

museums but also often within individual institutions, where various approaches 

can co-exist side-by-side within a single gallery. 

 

Period rooms can also differ from one another in terms of the narrative that they 

are designed to represent.  As Trevor Keeble has observed, the period room 

tradition can be divided into two main categories that each have their own 

conventions.
21

  The first of these categories, the so-called ‘social historical’ 

period room, tends to contain a range of everyday items, with emphasis being 

placed on the nature of the decorative ensemble as a once lived-in reality.  

Within these displays, historical artefacts and modern artifice are combined not 

only to give the visitor an impression of what interiors looked like in the past but 

also to hint at the human narratives that once played out in these spaces.  By 

contrast, ‘art historical’ period rooms are presented as exemplars of quality 

craftsmanship or good design.  These interiors, Keeble argues, are generally 

‘returned’ to the state in which they had first been installed and lack the signs of 

occupancy that are intrinsic to the ‘social historical’ period room.   

 

 

                                                 
21

 Keeble, 2006, p. 3. 
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The period room tradition – an international context 

 

Although period ambiences appeared in the homes of private collectors as early 

as 1700, it was not until the last three decades of the nineteenth century
 
that 

European museums began to install the first period rooms.  A seminal figure in 

the development the period room was Arter Hazelius (1833-1901), who was 

responsible for staging vignettes of local costume, objects and furnishings at the 

Nordiska Museet in Sweden as early as 1873.
22

  More recently, historian John 

Harris has argued that an equal, if not greater, role in the development of this 

strategy of display was played by the Dutch architect Pierre Cuypers, who was 

responsible for installing a number of seventeenth-century period rooms at the 

Historische Tentoostelling van Amsterdam in Holland in 1876 that were created 

partially out of panelling salvaged from old buildings.
23

  Following on from these 

early examples, a fashion for chronological sequences of period rooms soon 

developed in the Netherlands, Switzerland and Germany.
24

  When the Swiss 

National Museum in Zurich, Switzerland, was completed in 1898, for example, 

the museum contained over 13 ‘historical interiors’ of Swiss origin presented as 

part of a wider range of displays that celebrated the fine and decorative arts that 

the nation had produced between the sixteenth and the eighteenth centuries.
25

    

 

From the 1890s, the period room also began to be adopted as a strategy of 

display by museums in the United States of America.  In 1895, Charles Presby 

Wilcomb installed a ‘colonial kitchen’ and a ‘bedroom’ at the Golden Gate Park 
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23
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24
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25
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Museum in San Francisco.
26

   Further rooms followed at the Essex Institute in 

Salem, Massachusetts, where a kitchen (1750), a bedroom (1800) and a parlour 

(1800) were installed by George Francis Dow in 1907.
27

  Building on these 

humble beginnings, the tradition of the period room reached the peak of its 

popularity in the US in the 1920s.  A key moment in the history of the period 

room came in 1924 when the Metropolitan Museum of Art (hereafter the Met) in 

New York opened the American Wing.
28

  Used to display examples of American 

fine and decorative art, the new wing featured a chronological sequence of period 

rooms that charted the history of American design and ‘good taste’ between the 

seventeenth and early nineteenth centuries.  This suite of rooms, which 

constituted the first large and systematic collection of period rooms to be 

installed in the US, had a major impact not only on the other galleries at the Met, 

where further period rooms and several period reconstructions were installed in 

the years that followed, but also on other American museums, including the 

Museum of Fine Arts, Boston, and the Brooklyn Museum, New York, which 

soon opened their own suites of period rooms.
29

   

 

By the 1950s, however, the period room tradition had come under scrutiny from 

museum professionals who began to question the validity of such displays within 
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the museum context.  One of the recurring themes in the debates that surrounded 

the period room was the extent to which such exhibits could be regarded as 

‘authentic’.  As the century progressed, other aspects of the display strategy 

came under fire, including their spatial requirements, their longevity, their static 

nature, and the extent to which historical accuracy could be achieved.  Since the 

emergence of museum studies in the 1980s, the period room has also fitted into 

wider debates regarding the relative merits and disadvantages of realist display 

strategies, particularly in terms of the type of learning experience that they offer.  

Among the specific concerns that have been raised by scholars is the fact that 

such displays invite visitors to experience it as a ‘first-hand’ experience of, or 

direct encounter with, the geographical location or historical moment being 

recreated and as such implicitly invite the museum visitor to read the contents of 

the display as fact rather than a fiction based on the facts available.
30

 

 

Despite its fall from grace in the mid-to-late twentieth century, the period room 

remains in use as a strategy of display in museums around the world.  Several 

high profile institutions in Europe and the US have recently reaffirmed their 

commitment to displaying period rooms.  In the early 1990s the Geffrye Museum 

in London began the task of refurbishing its suite of period rooms, with the 

newly restored displays reopening in 2006.
31

  The Victoria and Albert Museum, 

also in London, has recently refurbished its English period rooms, with five 

rooms being re-installed and re-interpreted as part of the creation of the British 

                                                 
30
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Galleries, which opened in November 2001.
32

  Since 1990 similar developments 

have taken place in the US with the Museum of Fine Arts, Boston and the 

Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, undertaking major renovation projects 

in connection with their period rooms.   

 

 

This Thesis  

 

As stated at the start of this introduction, the aim of this thesis is to chart the 

history of the period room in New Zealand, focusing primarily on the use of this 

strategy of display by museums in Dunedin, Christchurch, and Wellington.  In 

looking at the history of the period room, the goal is not to promote the retention 

of existing period rooms or their future use.  Rather, this thesis is underpinned by 

the belief that an understanding of the history of how things have been displayed 

in museums is essential to a critical and thoughtful use of display strategies in the 

future.  By contributing to our understanding of how things were displayed in the 

past, it is hoped that this research will contribute to the collective understanding 

of current museum practice. 

 

Taking the two period rooms that were created for the New Zealand Centennial 

Exhibition in 1939 as its starting point, Chapter 1 considers the role that 

centennials, jubilees and other milestones celebrated around New Zealand in the 

1940s and 1950s played in the development of period rooms in this country, 

unpacking the factors that fuelled the popularity of this mode of display among 

                                                 
32
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exhibition organisers and museum professionals.  Building on chapter one, 

chapters two to four chart the history of the period room in the context of three 

metropolitan museums: the Otago Early Settlers Museum, the Canterbury 

Museum, and the Dominion Museum.  Each of these chapters looks in more 

detail at the context in which period rooms were installed in each of these 

institutions as well as the attitudes that informed the changes that were made to 

the physical appearance of each display over time, the contexts in which they 

were shown, and how they were interpreted. 

 

Like all research, the scope of this thesis was in many ways shaped by both the 

timeframe of the project and the availability of resources.  After initial research 

revealed the extent to which the period room had been employed as a strategy of 

display in New Zealand, the decision was made to focus on the history of period 

rooms within a more specific context – the metropolitan museum.  As a result, 

this thesis touches only briefly on the rich history of those period rooms that 

were created in the context of museums located outside the main centres or 

within the context of house museums and historic villages.  The focus on the 

metropolitan museum, however, is in many ways a fitting starting point for 

future research in this field as initial research strongly indicates that these 

museums played a key role in disseminating this form of display in the local 

context.   

 

Another criterion which has been used to focus my research concerns the content 

of the period rooms themselves.  At its broadest, the term ‘period room’ can be 

used to refer to any exhibit that recreates or evokes a room representative of a 
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particular historical style or period within the context of a museum environment.  

Using such a definition, the history of period rooms in New Zealand would 

embrace a wide range of exhibits, with period interiors from a diverse range of 

contexts, including immigrant sailing ships, domestic residences, banks, shops, 

schools and even museum galleries, having been recreated or evoked in 

museums across New Zealand since the 1950s.  Rather than attempting to cover 

such a diverse range of displays, this thesis focuses solely on period rooms that 

reconstitute or recreate a domestic interior, a category that is here understood to 

include both displays that represent a room from a residential dwelling and those 

that represent the private quarters aboard a sailing ship.   

 

While the decision to focus solely on the representation of domestic interiors was 

in part driven by the rich history of domestic period rooms that was uncovered as 

my research progressed, it also takes its lead from the scholarship that has been 

produced in recent years in connection with the growing disciplines of interior 

architecture and interior design.
33

  Addressing the nature of interior space from 

various perspectives, scholars have begun to address the ways in which people 

interact with domestic space and the role that it plays in the construction of 

identity.  The ideological baggage that accompanies our understanding of 

domestic space, I would argue, plays an important role in shaping a museum 

visitor’s encounter with representations of historical domestic interiors, such as 

period rooms.  Regardless of how unfamiliar a period room may be in terms of 

its design, furnishing, level of technology, or the activities undertaken by its 
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occupants, the concept of ‘home’ is familiar to the majority of visitors.  As a 

result, such displays invite a particular type of interaction that other types of 

interiors do not, facilitating immediate comparisons between the homes with 

which we as viewers are familiar and the spaces on display.   

 

 

Sources 

 

While the history of the period room in New Zealand has received scant attention 

in the existing scholarship, numerous sources exist with which to chart the use of 

this strategy of display in the local context.  The annual reports published by 

each of the metropolitan museums during the period under consideration proved 

a rich source of information regarding their activities, as did museum 

newsletters, commemorative publications, guide books, pamphlets, and 

promotional materials, which provided information regarding the appearance and 

content of individual displays, the context in which they were developed, and 

how their developers intended for them to be interpreted.  Another pool of 

resources that proved invaluable to my research were local newspaper reports 

which, in addition to supplementing the information supplied by the official 

museum publications, also provided valuable insight into the public reception of 

individual displays and the contexts in which they were understood over time.   

 

Further information still was yielded by the files of correspondence, planning 

documents, drawings, and inventories held by the metropolitan museums in their 

collections and archives.  Installation photographs in particular have been an 
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essential source of information for this thesis, providing an invaluable record of 

what a display looked like at a particular moment in time.  While these images 

can by no means be taken as simple reflections of reality, when combined with 

other sources they enable a richer and more complete picture of the displays to 

be formed, particularly those that no longer exist.
34

  

 

One of the major challenges that researchers face when dealing with the history 

of New Zealand museums is the extent to which individual museums have or 

have not preserved archival material relating to the development of their 

displays.  In relation to period rooms, the amount of archival material held varies 

greatly between institutions.  At one end of the spectrum, both Te Papa and the 

Canterbury Museum retain large and varied collections of material documenting 

their period rooms, while at the other, the Auckland Museum and the Otago 

Museum hold very little material regarding the development of such displays.  

Inevitable gaps in the historical record were also produced by the fact that many 

of the people who were involved in the production of period room displays in the 

1950s and 1960s worked for their respective institutions in an honorary capacity, 

meaning that much of the documentation and correspondence that they produced 

did not enter the official archive.   

 

Additional challenges were also posed by the redevelopment work that is 

currently being undertaken at the Otago Settlers Museum, which meant that 

                                                 
34

 As scholar Julia Noordegraaf has pointed out, installation photographs are selective accounts of 

reality that have their own conventions.  Most installation photographs, for example, are in black 

and white and show the galleries without visitors.  They also show only those parts of the display 

that fits the frame and were sometimes staged for photographing, with features such as lit candles 

or food being added to enhance the effect of the display.  See: Julia Noordegraaf, Strategies of 

Display: Museum Presentation in Nineteenth- and Twentieth-Century Visual Culture, Rotterdam: 

Museum Boijmans Van Beuningen and NAi Publishers, 2004, p. 20. 



 19 

access to its archival records were severely limited.  The major redevelopment of 

the National Library and the Alexander Turnbull Library also rendered some 

resources inaccessible as did the earthquakes in Christchurch, which closed the 

museum for several months following the February 2011 catastrophe. 

 

A source that was not explored as part of my research was oral history.  A small 

number of the museum professionals who worked on the installation of period 

rooms before 1980 are still alive at the time of writing.  Their recollections of the 

development, installation and reception of these displays would no doubt enrich 

the information that has been assembled here from published and archival 

material.  The same would be true of the museum professionals who were 

involved in the subsequent redevelopment and removal of many of the displays 

discussed in this thesis.  It is hoped that the research presented here will lay the 

foundation for further exploration of this field in the future.   
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Chapter 1:  The Centennial Exhibition and the 

emergence of a period room tradition in New Zealand  

 

In 1940 New Zealand celebrated its national centennial, commemorating both the 

signing of the Treaty of Waitangi and the start of organised European settlement.  

New Zealand’s commemoration of the centennial was a major event.  Around the 

country large ceremonies, re-enactments and pageants were held, memorials 

were built, lists of early settlers were drawn up, and local histories were written.  

The unofficial centrepiece of the centennial year, however, was the New Zealand 

Centennial Exhibition held in Wellington between November 1939 and May 

1940.  This chapter looks at two innovative displays that were created for this 

event, the ‘North Island Pioneer Hut (1840)’ and the ‘South Island Pioneer Room 

(1850-60)’: two of the earliest, if not the first, period rooms to be created in New 

Zealand.  Locating these two displays within the wider history of the collection 

and display of material associated with European settlement in New Zealand, this 

chapter considers the influential role that the national centennial and other local 

milestones played in the adoption of the period room as a strategy of display by 

local museums after 1940. 

 

Opened to the public on 8 November 1939, the New Zealand Centennial 

Exhibition was the first and longest-running event on the centennial programme.  

Located in the Wellington suburb of Rongotai, the exhibition site featured 

around seven acres of displays as well as numerous other attractions.  Like many 

of the events that were held in the centennial year, the exhibition was intended in 
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part as a tribute to the achievements of the pioneers, which were represented 

throughout the grounds via displays of historical material.
35

  At the same time, 

however, the event was also a celebration of the material progress that New 

Zealand had achieved since 1840.  Throughout the exhibition, modern methods 

of construction and lighting were in evidence, and modern goods and recent 

technological advancements proliferated among the displays.  Within this 

context, the monuments and displays devoted to the pioneers did not simply 

serve to recall the past.  As the historian Jock Philips has observed, the 

combination of the old and the new made visible an evolutionary chain of 

progress from the past to
 
the present, which highlighted the social, cultural and 

technological advancements made over the course of the nation’s first 100 years
 

as a member of the British Empire.
36

   

 

Celebrating the fact that New Zealand had been the first nation to grant women 

the vote, the Centennial Exhibition featured an entire court devoted solely to ‘the 

story of women’s work and its part in the national life of New Zealand.’
37

  

Located in the Tower Block, the Woman’s Section was comprised of three 

display areas and a theatre in which a programme of lectures and demonstrations 

were held.  Complementing the displays of goods produced by contemporary 

women that were located in the Women’s Fine Arts and Crafts Section and the 

Country Women’s Section, the Loans Section showcased antiques and other 
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‘articles of historic interest’, including historical documents, maps, pictures, 

textiles and a diverse range of ‘bygones’ from around New Zealand.
38

  Divided 

into two parts, the Loans Section consisted of a ‘General Loans Section’, in 

which material was laid out in display cases, and a suite of two period rooms, the 

‘North Island Pioneer Hut (1840)’ and the ‘South Island Pioneer Room (1850-

60)’, which were designed to evoke the appearance of two very different 

nineteenth-century domestic interiors.   

 

The idea that the exhibition should feature a section showcasing goods produced 

by, or of interest to, women was proposed by the Directors of the New Zealand 

Centennial Exhibition Company as early as June 1937.
39

  By September that 

same year, a committee of 17 members had been established to oversee the 

organisation of the Women’s Section.
40

  In the months that followed the 

Executive Committee chaired by Mrs Ailsa Craig Dalhousie Hislop (b.1896) 

came to be supported by a series of sub-committees that were put in place to 

direct the development of the individual areas of the exhibition and the various 

events that were to be held in connection with the displays.  The Loans Section 

was organised under the auspices of a Wellington-based sub-committee chaired 

by the Vice President of the Executive Committee, Lady Roberts, with the 

assistance of branch committees in New Plymouth, Christchurch and Dunedin, 

and a Whanganui representative, which both oversaw the acquisition of loan 
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material in their respective regions and contributed to the development of the 

displays.     

 

As few records regarding the development of the displays in the Women’s 

Section survive, it is difficult to pinpoint exactly when and how period rooms 

came to feature among the displays in the Loans Section.  The earliest reference 

to a period room in connection with the Women’s Section appears in an article 

that was published in the Evening Post in early February 1939.
41

  Outlining the 

organisers’ plans for the Women’s Section, the article reported that ‘a room such 

as might have been found in the early pioneer homesteads in this country’ was to 

form the centrepiece of the South Island displays in the Loans Section.  The 

origins of this exhibit, the article noted, could be traced back to the Christchurch-

based branch of the Loans Committee, which had been responsible for proposing 

the use of this method of display.  The idea had been enthusiastically received by 

the Dunedin-branch of the committee, which agreed to collaborate with the 

Cantabrians on the project.   

 

Although the absence of archival records makes it impossible to know what 

influence individuals subsequently had on the design of the South Island Pioneer 

Room, it is likely that a substantial contribution was made to the project by 

Heathcote George Helmore (1899-1965), who sat on the Christchurch-based 

branch of the Loans Committee in the role of Honorary Architect.
42

  While 
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decisions regarding the contents of the room are likely to have been collaborative 

in nature, both Helmore’s professional experience and his subsequent 

contribution to the development of the period room in New Zealand suggest that 

he wielded considerable influence over the layout and interior finishes. 

 

In contrast to the South Island Pioneer Room, the origins of the North Island 

Pioneer Hut remain ambiguous.  In February 1939 when the plans for the 

Women’s Court were announced in the Evening Post, it was intended that the 

South Island Pioneer Room would be the only exhibit of its type to feature 

among the displays.
43

  While the North Island was also to be represented by a 

collection of articles associated with early European settlement in New Zealand, 

it was stated that the organisers had elected not to employ the same strategy of 

display as their South Island counterparts.  Subsequent press reports offer little 

insight into the origins or subsequent development of the North Island Pioneer 

Hut, with the earliest known reference to the exhibit post-dating the start of 

construction.
44
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Although the origins of the North Island Pioneer Hut remain unclear, its design 

can be securely attributed to the Official Secretary of the Women’s Section, 

Doreen Monica Walsh (1895-1970).
45

  Although not a member of the Loans 

Committee, Walsh played a key role in the organisation of many of the displays 

in the Women’s Section.  Trained in journalism, Walsh was assisted in the 

process of developing the design of the Pioneer Hut by local architect W. Keith 

Cook.
46

  While it remains unknown to what extent Cook influenced the final 

design of the display, it seems likely, given his professional background, that he 

was responsible for providing the working drawings that were used to guide its 

construction. 

 

The process of installing the structure of the period rooms appears to have been 

well under way by early October 1939 when the first detailed descriptions of the 

displays appeared in the local press.
47

  Constructed in the form of a box that 

visitors viewed through the absent fourth wall, the rooms were assembled using a 

combination of architectural salvages and modern materials.  The bulk of the 

materials that were used in the construction of the North Island Pioneer Hut were 

sourced from Trentham, a large family homestead that had been built in the Hutt 

Valley during the early years of Wellington settlement, which was demolished in 
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1939.
48

  These elements were supplemented with other materials, both historic 

and modern, that were sourced from as far north as Kerikeri in the Bay of 

Islands.   

 

In contrast to the North Island Pioneer Hut, architectural salvages played only a 

minor role in the design of the South Island Pioneer Room.  Constructed largely 

out of modern materials, the only architectural elements of the room that are 

known to have been salvaged from a historical building were its two casement 

windows.  Located in the back wall of the display, these elements had originally 

formed part of a house that had been built on the banks of the Avon River in 

Christchurch for the physician and early photographer Dr. Alfred Charles Barker 

in the early 1850s.
49

  Parts of the fireplace were also historical artefacts in their 

own right, with the steel fender and firearms having been brought to Dunedin by 

Mr John Sidey aboard the Blundell in 1848.
50

 

 

With the structural elements of the two displays in place, representatives of the 

respective branches of the Loans Committee subsequently began the task of 

furnishing the two spaces.  In the North Island Pioneer Hut this process was 

carried out by Walsh with the assistance of the Chairwoman of the Wellington-
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based Loans Committee, Lady Roberts, and fellow committee member, Olive 

Rita Barron (b.1888).  The furniture and other exhibits in the South Island 

Pioneer Room were arranged by the Chairwoman of the Christchurch-based 

branch of the Loans Committee, May Gertrude Moore, who travelled to 

Wellington in the last week of October to oversee the completion of the room.
51

 

 

Unveiled to the public on 8 November 1939, the North Island Pioneer Hut and 

the South Island Pioneer Room formed one of the star attractions of the 

Women’s Section.  Located side-by-side within the Loans Section, the living 

conditions that each room represented were intended to be viewed in direct 

contrast to one another, with the narrative progressing from the Pioneer Hut to 

the Pioneer Room.
52

  Recreating the interior of a small single-room dwelling, the 

North Island Pioneer Hut was designed to illustrate the conditions under which 

the first settlers lived when they settled ‘somewhere in the North Island’ around 

1840 (Figs 1.1-3).
53

  Imitating methods of construction that were commonly used 

in the North Island during the early years of European settlement, the walls of the 

hut were framed with unshaped tree trunks and clad in vertically-laid slabs of 

native timber.  Locally available materials were also used in the construction of 

the roof, which was thatched with raupo, and the chimney, which was built of 

local riverstones.
54

  The modest interior also featured a single cast-iron window 
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and a door.  Located in the rear wall of the display, both of these elements looked 

out onto a large mural showing an immigrant sailing vessel anchored in a 

harbour.
55

  The floor, which was the only element of the display where historical 

building materials were simulated rather than recreated, was designed to evoke 

the appearance of compacted earth.    

 

Representing a single-room dwelling, the North Island Pioneer Hut showcased a 

diverse range of furniture, including a colonial oven, a sea-chest, a tall boy, and 

an antique wooden cradle.  All of the furniture was imported, with most of the 

pieces having arrived in New Zealand aboard immigrant ships in the 1840s.  The 

room also contained an assortment of other household items, including a range of 

cooking utensils, a china tea set and a spinning wheel, as well as a small number 

of ornaments and pictures.  Like the furniture, many of these objects were 

imported, with only a small number of items having been made locally. 

 

Designed to represent an early Victorian parlour ‘in the home of a more 

prosperous family who have been able to gather the amenities of life about 

them’, the decoration and furnishing of the South Island Pioneer Room differed 

dramatically from that of its earlier counterpart (Figs 1.4-5).
56

  While the Pioneer 

Hut represented a dwelling in which most household tasks and activities were 

undertaken within the same space, the Pioneer Room represented part of a larger 

timber dwelling in which the division of space enabled each of its rooms to serve 
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a more specialised function.  Reflecting the role that the parlour played as the 

public face of the household in the Victorian era, the South Island Pioneer Room 

was elaborately decorated.  In addition to being hung with boldly patterned 

wallpaper, the walls of the display were fitted with large timber skirting boards, a 

scotia, moulded architraves, and a carved timber mantelpiece. 

 

The higher standard of living that had been achieved by New Zealand’s wealthier 

families by the 1850s was also indicated by the selection of furnishings that were 

displayed in the South Island Pioneer Room.  Reflecting the function of the 

parlour as a site of leisure and entertainment, the furnishings in the Victorian 

parlour included musical instruments and games, as well as ample seating.  A 

large Aubusson carpet covered much of the room’s timber floor and chinz 

curtains framed each of the windows.  The room also contained a profusion of 

smaller artefacts, including many that served a purely ornamental function.  In 

keeping with the North Island Pioneer Hut much of this material was imported, 

with most of the pieces having arrived in New Zealand between 1840 and 1860. 

 

Consistent with the aim of representing ‘two periods in the early history of the 

Dominion’, the period rooms were carefully stage-managed to create the illusion 

of encountering the past.
57

  From the detail that was lavished on the architecture 

of the two spaces to the selection and arrangement of the furnishings, every 

aspect of the displays was designed to contribute to this effect.  In order to 

heighten the impression that the visitor had interrupted the scene in mid-action, 

both of the rooms were occupied by mannequins dressed in period costume that 
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were posed in such a way as to suggest that they had been frozen in the midst of 

an activity.   

 

Supplementing the displays themselves, information about the respective periods 

that the rooms represented was supplied in the form of a guide book.  This guide 

also contained a detailed inventory of the contents of the rooms, with each entry 

corresponding to a number that was affixed to the individual items within the two 

displays.  One aspect of the period rooms that was emphasized by the guidebook 

was the extent to which genuinely historical construction materials and 

furnishings had been used.
58

  The importance that was placed on the provenance 

of each individual item was made explicit by the inventory, which identified their 

date of arrival in New Zealand and any association that they had with local 

personalities or historical events.       

 

Echoing the official catalogue, ‘authenticity’ was a recurrent theme in the press 

that surrounded the two displays.  Terms such as ‘authentic’ and ‘genuine’ 

frequently appeared in descriptions of the two rooms and the historical 

associations of individual items within them were often highlighted.
59

  Another 

aspect of the period rooms to which the press frequently drew attention was the 

realistic atmosphere of the two displays.  A reporter for the Sydney Morning 

Herald, for example, described the Pioneer Hut as being so realistic ‘that one 

would not be surprised if the woman sitting at the table called out to the laughing 
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child looking through the window, or rose to rock the baby sleeping beside her in 

the cradle.’
60

     

 

 

‘…the nucleus of permanent collections in which posterity would delight’ 

 

Like all displays of material, the North Island Pioneer Hut (1840) and the South 

Island Pioneer Room (1850-60) were products of the time in which they were 

created.  When planning for the Women’s Section began in the late 1930s, 

material associated with the history of European settlement in New Zealand 

played only a minor role in the collections of most local museums.  Few 

museums actively acquired material associated with the colonial period (1840-

1907), and as a result the collections held by such institutions remained small in 

size.  The state of museum-based collections was reflected in the contents of the 

two period rooms, which were furnished almost entirely with material derived 

from the homes of private lenders.  Locating the Centennial Exhibition within its 

broader context, this chapter now turns to look at the history of museum-based 

‘colonial history’ collections in New Zealand and the role that the 1940 

Centennial and other local milestones played in fuelling the rapid growth of these 

collections in the 1940s and 1950s. 

 

While a small amount of material associated with the history of European 

settlement in New Zealand entered museum collections before 1900, such 

artefacts were accorded little, if any, role within these institutions well into the 
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twentieth century.  As Australian scholar James Michael Gore has argued, this 

trait can in part be attributed to the nineteenth century origins of many of these 

institutions.
61

  The first major museum to be established in New Zealand was the 

Auckland Museum, which opened to the public in 1852.  Other centres followed 

suit, with museums subsequently being established in Wellington (1865), 

Christchurch (1867), Dunedin (1868), Invercargill (1875) and Whanganui 

(1894).  All of these institutions shared the common goal of advancing local 

knowledge about New Zealand’s natural resources. As such, specimens and 

artefacts representative of the natural sciences constituted the core focus of their 

collecting activities in their early years. 

 

Another key factor that Gore identifies as having contributed towards the relative 

absence of colonial history material from most New Zealand museums prior to 

1950 was the general absence, or limited sense, of a national and historical 

consciousness that existed in New Zealand well into the twentieth century.
62

  

Rather than looking to its own past to define itself, New Zealand as a nation 

instead fostered a sense of national identity that was based on being European 

(particularly British) and white.  This identity, Gore argues, was perpetrated by 

museums in their display galleries where Māori taonga were displayed as 

ethnographic artefacts rather than as representative of the country’s human 

history, and Pākehā historical collections remained largely absent from the 

displays altogether.
63

  As long as the United Kingdom remained the nation’s 

primary cultural reference point, museums had little incentive to devote their 

                                                 
61

 James M. Gore, ‘Representations of History and Nation in Museums in Australia and Aotearoa 

New Zealand: The National Museum of Australia and the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa 

Tongarewa’, Doctor of Philosophy in History, University of Melbourne, 2002, p. 87. 
62

 Gore, 2002, p. 20. 
63

 Gore, 2002, p. 82. 



 33 

limited resources to the acquisition or display of material representative of New 

Zealand’s social history. 

 

Unsurprisingly then, the earliest efforts to preserve material associated with the 

colonial period did not occur within the walls of New Zealand’s established 

museums.  As the historian Gavin McLean has observed, an interest in the 

preservation of material associated with European settlement was demonstrated 

at a community level as early as the 1890s when significant local milestones, 

such as the 50
th

 anniversary of the start of organised European settlement in 

1840, promoted a more sustained re-examination of the local past.
64

  Spurred on 

by these events, historical societies and Early Settlers Associations were founded 

in communities around New Zealand, including Dunedin (1898), Auckland 

(1899), Wellington (circa 1912) and Christchurch (1923).  In addition to drawing 

attention to the history of their local area by means of written histories and 

commemorative events, these groups often took a specific interest in preserving 

the physical traces of the past, resulting in the formation of collections of 

material relating to local historical figures and events.   

 

Founded in 1898 to commemorate the first 50 years of planned European 

settlement in Otago, the Otago Early Settlers Association (OESA) was one of the 

earliest organisations to actively collect and display material associated with the 

colonial period.  Attempting to create a tangible record of the early history of the 

Otago province, the OESA acquired historical documents, photographs, books 

and other paper-based records that contained information about the settlement of 
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Otago, later expanding the scope of the collection to include artefacts that had 

historical links to that same period.
65

  In September 1901 the OESA secured an 

office space in the Agricultural Building, Crawford Street, where it arranged its 

collection into displays for the first time.  Open daily for public inspection 

between 9am and 12.30pm, these displays not only marked the beginnings of the 

Otago Early Settlers Museum (OESM), but are thought to have constituted New 

Zealand’s first social history museum.
66

 

 

The first major imitator of the Otago Early Settlers Museum was the Old 

Colonists Museum (OCM), which opened in Auckland in March 1916.  Founded 

by the Auckland City Council, the OCM was housed alongside the Public 

Library and Art Gallery in their shared Kitchener Street premises.
67

  Laid out in 

two large upstairs rooms, the collection consisted primarily of historical 

documents, photographs, pictures, early maps, and artefacts associated with life 

in the Auckland Province in its early years.  While the bulk of the collection was 

acquired by means of public donation, a number of historical documents, 

pictures, and other paper-based items were transferred to the new museum from 

the Library, the Art Gallery and the Auckland Museum, which had all previously 

collected material on a small scale.
68

  The OCM subsequently remained the focal 

point of such collecting in Auckland until 1956, when the ever-increasing storage 
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requirements of the adjacent Library and Art Gallery forced the museum to 

close.
69

 

 

It was also during the first two decades of the twentieth century that some of 

New Zealand’s established museums began to take an interest in the colonial 

period.  One of the first museums to actively acquire material representative of 

the history of colonial settlement in its region was the Canterbury Museum, 

where an ‘Early Colonists collection’ was established in 1909.
70

  In 1916 the 

Dominion Museum in Wellington followed suit, establishing the National 

Historical Collection.
71

  Both projects, however, focused almost exclusively on 

the acquisition of paper-based records, and as a result few three-dimensional 

artefacts were accessioned.  Both endeavours were also short-lived.  In 

Canterbury, interest in the ‘Early Colonists’ collection’ peaked around 1911 

before falling away, while in Wellington, the National Historical Collection 

lasted little more than four years, with the bulk of the material being transferred 

to the Alexander Turnbull Library in 1920.
72

  Consequently, ‘historical 

collections’ played only a minor role in museum collections in the decades that 

followed, with the OCM and the OESM remaining the only major repositories of 

colonial artefacts well into the 1940s.
73
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Reflecting the state of museum-based colonial history collections in New 

Zealand in 1939, the organisers of the Women’s Section relied predominantly on 

private individuals to supply the artefacts that were required to furnish the North 

Island Pioneer Hut and the South Island Pioneer Room.  In contrast to the ample 

support provided by private citizens, only four museums contributed material for 

use in the displays.  Of these four institutions, the OESM made the most 

substantial contribution, providing a gentleman’s umbrella, a parasol, some 

samplers, a slush lamp, a soda water bottle and a number of items of clothing for 

use in the South Island Pioneer Room.
74

  A small number of artefacts were also 

supplied by the OCM and the Hawke’s Bay Museum and Art Gallery, Napier, 

while the Canterbury Museum supplied three paper-based documents.  The 

Dominion Museum, whose proximity to the event would have made it an 

economical source of material, made no contribution to the displays.   

 

In the 1940s and 1950s attitudes towards permanent collections of historical 

material in New Zealand began to change.  The impetus for this change was 

largely driven by the centennials, jubilees and milestones marked by 

communities around New Zealand between the late 1930s and 1950s, which 

generated a variety of events and projects, such as the identification of significant 

sites or re-enactments of local ‘firsts’.
75

  In raising awareness of the local past, 

McLean argues, these milestones contributed to a more widespread 
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understanding of the nation’s past as being unique and not merely a continuation 

of that of Britain.
76

  That is not to say that Britain suddenly ceased to play a role 

in defining New Zealand’s national identity.  On the contrary, the ‘mother 

country’ continued to play a large part in the definition of New Zealand 

nationalism for many years after the 1940 Centennial which, as the historian Jock 

Phillips has observed, signified ‘not just the signing of the treaty with Maori, nor 

a century of settlement and government, but also a hundred years of membership 

in the British Empire.’
77

   

 

The ‘discovery’ that New Zealand had a history of its own was accompanied by 

a greater awareness of the physical traces of that past and an interest in their 

preservation.  At the time of the 1940 Centennial, the National Centennial 

Committee requested that its regional committees compile lists of historic places, 

objects and sites in their districts.  Calls were also made for local communities to 

host exhibitions of historical material.  In a memo that was distributed in July 

1939 to the provincial committees responsible for organising events in 

connection with the centenary celebrations, the link between this undertaking and 

the establishment of permanent collections was made explicit.  As the memo 

states: 

 

It is known that in many countries overseas there are permanent 

collections, which are on display in cottages or houses of the period when 

the furniture, etc., was in use.  One can well imagine the interest that 

would be taken by the younger folk in the inspection of out-of-date 

furniture, medical instruments, costumes, tools and implements which 

were used by their ancestors, and of early pictures, documents, etc.… The 

articles to be displayed would be those of common use, the ideal 
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collection being those which would represent exhibits of historic interest 

and the worldly possessions of a pioneer family in the Province or town 

where they lived.  One doubts whether a complete collection could be got 

together at this date, but at any rate the effort entailed would assuredly be 

worth while, and with later discoveries, might conceivably form the 

nucleus of permanent collections in which posterity would delight.
78

 

 

While the 1940 Centennial failed to generate many exhibitions of the type that 

was envisioned by the Department of Internal Affairs in 1939, it foreshadowed 

both the establishment of New Zealand’s first house museums and the prominent 

role that exhibitions of historical material came to play in the programmes of 

events that were organised to mark the local milestones celebrated by various 

communities around the country in the decades that followed. 

 

Forming one of the highlights of the centennial programme, the New Zealand 

Centennial Exhibition generated its own calls for the establishment of permanent 

collections of colonial history material.  As early as March 1940, the Evening 

Post received an anonymous letter to the Editor that called for the North Island 

Pioneer Hut to be preserved for posterity.
79

  Further letters followed, including 

one that not only advocated the preservation of ‘those articles closely associated 

with the homes and lives of the peoples of earlier generations’ but suggested that 

this project could be expanded ‘bearing in mind that the commonplace articles of 

today are the historical relics of tomorrow.’
80

  Although appeals were made in 

the press for the Dominion Museum to accession the Pioneer Hut, no action was 
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taken.
81

  Following the closure of the Centennial Exhibition in May 1940, the 

structure of the Pioneer Hut was instead re-erected in Jubilee Park, a section of 

around 13 acres of natural bush in the Lower Hutt suburb of Normandale, and 

furnished with ‘antiques from early New Zealand’ under the leadership of the 

Chairwoman of the Women’s Section, Lady Roberts, and the Wellington Early 

Settlers Association.
82

   

 

In addition to fuelling the creation of a more permanent memorial to the homes 

of early settlers, the Loans Section also provided a model for the exhibitions of 

historical material that were held in connection with other local milestones.  Like 

the Loans Section, the majority of these exhibitions were both loan-based and 

temporary, with the majority of material being sourced from private homes.  

Despite their transitory nature, however, these exhibitions played an important 

role in fostering the development of permanent museum-based collections in 

their respective regions.  In particular, the large attendances that such exhibitions 

attracted and the positive reception that they received in the press helped to 

demonstrate to local museums that a strong interest in New Zealand’s ‘colonial 

history’ existed within their community, which in turn encouraged the creation of 

more permanent collections and displays. 
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‘…education through the sense of sight’: the rise of the period room after 

1940 

 

In contrast to the document-rich collections that had been formed by New 

Zealand museums in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, the 

collections that were put together in the wake of local centennials, jubilees and 

other milestones were dominated by artefacts associated with the pioneers and 

early settlers.  The cult of the ‘pioneer relic’ and the ‘settler relic’ that emerged 

over the course of the 1940s and 1950s posed new challenges in terms of display.  

The following section looks more closely at the display of historical material in 

New Zealand prior to 1940 and the role that reconstructions would play in the 

display of this material in the wake of the New Zealand Centennial Exhibition. 

 

Echoing the role that international fairs and expositions had played in the 

development and dissemination of new techniques of display abroad, the 

Centennial Exhibition acted as a testing ground for the widespread application of 

the latest display strategies and techniques.  Drawing on skill sets that had begun 

to be fostered within the museum sector in the late 1930s, the exhibition featured 

a number of large-scale reconstructions, including a scale-model of New Zealand 

that occupied around 64,000 square feet and a life-size representation of 

Waitomo Caves complete with carefully modelled stalagmites and stalactites, a 

subterranean river, glow-worms and atmospheric effects.
83
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Seen by around 2.6 million people over the course of the six months that it was 

open, the Centennial Exhibition had a major impact on the exhibitions that were 

held to mark local milestones in the years that followed.  As many of these 

exhibitions centred on showing artefacts associated with early settlers, period 

rooms were commonly featured among the displays.  One of the earliest 

exhibitions known to have featured period rooms was the Nelson Pioneer 

Exhibition, an exhibition of colonial artefacts that was held at the historic 

Bishop’s Schoolroom in Nelson in 1947, in which an array of domestic artefacts 

was arranged into four bays to evoke room settings.
84

  In the years that followed 

further period rooms were created in connection with a number of local 

centennials, including those in Dunedin (1948), Christchurch (1950), Invercargill 

(1956), and Hawke’s Bay (1958). 

 

While many of the displays that were created for these events were in place for 

only a short period, local milestones also provided the catalyst for the installation 

of the first permanent period room displays within the context of a New Zealand 

museum.  In 1948 Otago celebrated the first 100 years of planned European 

settlement in the region.  A key event on the centennial programme was a large-

scale historical exhibition staged in Dunedin at the OESM in 1948.  Laid out in a 

series of colourful tableaux, the Otago Centennial Exhibition featured a suite of 

three period rooms that were designed to represent the interior of a domestic 

dwelling in the region around 1860.  Furnished with material from the museum’s 

collection, the rooms were retained following the closure of the exhibition in 

June 1948, becoming the first permanent period room displays in New Zealand. 
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Two years later, the centenary of the Canterbury Province provided the catalyst 

for the installation of the first period rooms at the Canterbury Museum in 

Christchurch.  Opened on 24 August 1950, the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition 

featured a suite of eight period rooms furnished predominantly with material lent 

by local families.  Following the closure of the exhibition, three of these rooms 

were retained as part of the museum’s displays until 1955 when the museum 

building was closed to undergo extensive redevelopment.  Building on the 

success of the centennial exhibition, the museum subsequently installed an 

entirely new suite of permanent displays devoted to the ‘Early Colonists’ theme, 

including a suite of six period rooms that opened in 1959. 

 

In the two decades that followed, museums in New Zealand’s other metropolitan 

centres installed permanent period room displays.  At the same time that the 

Canterbury Museum was planning its suite of colonial period rooms, the 

Dominion Museum was engaged in planning a pair of rooms to house a 

collection of English furniture that it had received from the estate of local 

collector Ella Grace Elgar in 1946.  Opened in 1951, these rooms were the first 

period rooms to be created in New Zealand that were representative of a history 

of design rather than of colonial settlement.  In the late 1950s the Otago Museum 

began to discuss the installation of period rooms in connection with their own 

collection of decorative and applied arts, culminating in 1961 with the opening of 

a period room representing an eighteenth-century dining room.
85
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Following the model offered by the Canterbury Museum, both the Auckland 

Museum and the Dominion Museum later installed galleries devoted to the theme 

of early European settlement.  Created in collaboration with local department 

store Milne & Choyce, Centennial Street opened at the Auckland Museum in 

1967.
86

  The new suite of displays, which took the form of a reconstructed 

nineteenth-century streetscape, included a weatherboard cottage containing two 

period rooms.
87

  A similar approach was taken at the Dominion Museum, where 

a three-roomed weatherboard cottage was reconstructed as part of the installation 

of the Colonial History Gallery between 1967 and 1969.   

 

It was not only the metropolitan museums that embraced the period room as a 

strategy of display after 1950.  One of the first regional museums to employ 

period rooms for the display of colonial artefacts was the Southland Museum in 

Invercargill, which installed rooms representing the kitchen, parlour and 

bedroom of a pioneer cottage in its Pioneer Hall around 1956.
88

  In the 1960s and 

1970s similar displays were installed in museums across the country, including 

the Rotorua Museum and the Wanganui Public Museum, which installed 
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‘colonial cottage’ displays in the late 1960s and the early 1970s respectively.
89

  

The number of period rooms that could be found in New Zealand museums by 

the mid 1970s is indicated by comments made by the American travel writer 

John McDermott in 1976, who noted in his guide to New Zealand that 

‘reproducing colonial cottages seems to be a patriotic duty of New Zealand 

museums.’
90

   

 

The popularity that period rooms enjoyed within the context of local museums 

from the late 1940s reflected wider changes that had begun to occur in the 

museum sector towards the end of the previous decade.  While public education 

had been a core function of local museums since the foundation of the first 

collections in the mid-to-late nineteenth century, renewed emphasis was placed 

on this role following the inauguration of the Schools Service in 1938, a 

programme which sought to forge closer links between museums and their local 

schools.
91

  Funded by the Carnegie Corporation, New York, the scheme resulted 

in the appointment of full-time education officers at the four major metropolitan 

museums (Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch and Dunedin) and the instigation 
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of a programme of regular class visits for school-aged children.  Bringing the 

needs of the child learner to the fore, the Schools Service encouraged museums 

to reassess the manner in which they displayed their collections.  Specifically, 

the programme gave momentum to the installation of displays that were capable 

of reconciling clear, easily understood messages with visual appeal.  One form of 

display that came to be seen as a powerful tool for achieving these aims was the 

reconstruction, with habitat diorama, diorama and period environments all being 

adopted by the metropolitan museums on a widespread scale from the late 1940s.  

 

Against this backdrop, period rooms offered a practical solution to the problem 

of displaying newly acquired collections of colonial history material, which were 

both object-rich and incredibly diverse in scope.  Making use of the spatial codes 

that underpin the layout of the traditional New Zealand home, the period room 

enabled a large number of artefacts to be displayed while at the same time 

locating them within a system that was immediately comprehensible to a non-

specialist audience.  This system, which conveyed information through the use of 

visual connections, was particularly useful in instances where the type of artefact 

being shown was no longer in use.  The basic function of a colonial oven, for 

example, was indicated not only by placing it within a kitchen setting, but also 

by placing it in proximity with more familiar artefacts, such as pots and pans, 

which helped to establish a visual link between it and the task of preparing food.   
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Chapter 2:  Otago Early Settlers Museum 

 

In 1948 Otago celebrated the first 100 years of planned European settlement in 

the region.  A key event on the centennial programme was a large-scale historical 

exhibition that was held in Dunedin at the Otago Early Settlers Museum (OESM) 

between 23 February and 12 June 1948.  The Otago Centennial Exhibition, 

which supplemented the museum’s existing displays, traced the history of 

European settlement in Otago from the time of first contact between local Māori 

and Europeans to the 1940s.  A prominent feature of the exhibition was the 

Pioneer Cottage, a suite of three period rooms that were designed to represent the 

interior of a domestic dwelling in the region around 1860.  Following the closure 

of the exhibition in June 1948, the Pioneer Cottage was retained as part of the 

museum’s permanent displays and subsequently remained in place for over four 

decades.  This chapter traces the physical history of this display from its 

inception to its removal, and reflects on the evolving attitudes towards the 

display of ‘colonial history’, education in museums, and conservation to which it 

responded over time. 

 

In March 1898 Otago commemorated the 50
th

 anniversary of the arrival of the 

first immigration ship, the John Wickliffe, at Port Chalmers on 23 March 1848.  

During the celebrations, a public meeting was held in Dunedin to discuss the idea 

of establishing a local branch of the New Zealand Natives Association (NZNA).  

The idea of joining the NZNA, however, was soon abandoned, with the group 

instead electing to form an entirely new organisation, the Otago Early Settlers 
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Association (OESA), where membership was made up of those early settlers who 

had arrived in Dunedin prior to 31 December 1861 and their descendants over 21 

years.
92

   

 

In its early years a key role of the OESA was to organise events at which its 

members could gather and reminisce about the past.  At the same time, the 

Association also set about creating a more tangible record of the early history of 

the Otago province.  In addition to recording anecdotes and reminiscences about 

the past, the organisation’s newly appointed Executive Committee also began to 

actively acquire a range of historical documents that contained information about 

early European settlement in the region.
93

  While paper-based documents, such 

as manuscripts, photographs, books, newspapers and maps, remained the sole 

focus of the Association’s collecting activities in its early years, it was not long 

before the scope of the collection was expanded to encompass artefacts, 

beginning with Captain William Cargill’s Kilmarnock bonnet, which entered the 

collection in July 1902.
94

  Numerous other artefacts soon followed, including a 

table made by local craftsman John Hill in 1948. 

 

In September 1901 the Association secured an office space in the Agricultural 

Building on Crawford Street.
95

  In addition to providing the organisation with a 

venue in which to host its meetings, the space also provided the OESA with the 

opportunity to arrange its collection into displays for the first time.  Open daily 
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for public inspection between 9am and 12.30pm, these displays marked the 

beginnings of what would later become known as the Otago Early Settlers 

Museum.  When the lease expired 12 months later, the OESA relocated to an 

office in the nearby Stock Exchange Building.
96

  Following the move at least part 

of the collection was again organised into displays, with the same opening hours 

being maintained. 

 

From these humble beginnings, the OESM grew significantly in the two decades 

that followed.  In 1905 the OESA and the Trustees of the Dunedin Public Art 

Gallery successfully petitioned the New Zealand Government to supply a piece 

of surplus railway land on which the two organisations could construct their 

respective premises.
97

  Officially opened on 23 March 1908 to coincide with the 

60
th

 anniversary of the arrival of the John Wickliffe in Port Chalmers, the 

OESA’s new building featured two purpose-built gallery spaces in which to 

display its growing collection.
98

  By 1919, the growth of the collection had been 

such that a new gallery, the Donald Reid Memorial Wing, was erected at the 

north end of the complex, opening in November 1922.
99

  In the late 1920s, the 

floor area of the museum grew once again when the neighbouring building came 

up for sale following the relocation of the Dunedin Public Art Gallery to new 

premises in Logan Park.
100

  This purchase not only provided the OESA with a 

second hall in which to host events but effectively doubled the size of the 
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museum, allowing for a comprehensive re-organisation of the displays across 

four rooms.   

 

While modifications were repeatedly made to the layout of the collection during 

the 1910s and 1920s, the strategies of display that were employed changed very 

little over the course of this same period.  Between 1908 and the late 1940s, the 

walls in each of the galleries were hung with row upon row of paintings and 

photographs of the province’s early settlers.  Although the ongoing growth of the 

collection made it difficult to maintain a clear taxonomic system, many of these 

portraits were arranged in chronological order based on the date of arrival of the 

ship aboard which the sitter had immigrated.
101

  Against the backdrop of these 

illustrated passenger lists, further paintings and photographs were accommodated 

on free-standing screens while furniture, machinery and other large collection 

items were displayed in rows alongside a variety of tightly packed display 

cabinets. 

 

 

Otago Centennial Exhibition, 1948 

 

In 1948 Otago celebrated the first 100 years of planned European settlement in 

the region.  As part of the programme of events that was held to mark this 

significant milestone, the Association hosted a large-scale temporary exhibition 

in connection with the OESM.  Opened on 23 February 1948, the Otago 

Centennial Exhibition represented a dramatic break from the strategies of display 
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that had historically been used by the Association to present its collection.  

Mounted in two large halls at the rear of the museum building, the exhibition 

showcased historical artefacts against the backdrop of a series of large, colourful 

tableaux that were designed to bring the history of the province vividly to life.  

Complementing these displays, the exhibition also featured a suite of three 

period rooms that were designed to represent the interior of a domestic dwelling 

in the region around 1860.   

 

Following the organisational model offered by the New Zealand Centennial 

Exhibition of 1939, the official programme of events held in connection with the 

centenary of the Otago province was co-ordinated by the Otago Centennial 

Association (OCA), a committee made up of representatives from the Dunedin 

City Council and several other local organisations.
102

  In August 1945 

representatives of this organisation met with the Executive Committee of the 

OESA to discuss their provisional plans for the centennial celebrations.
103

  

Around September the following year the OCA formally approached the OESA 

with a request that their contribution to the official centennial programme take 

the form of an exhibition of historical material.  The idea was put to the 

Executive Committee, which resolved that a sub-committee should be formed to 

investigate the idea further.
104

  

 

As part of the process of assessing the feasibility of the project, the Association 

approached the OCA’s Honorary Architect, Henry McDowell-Smith (1888?-
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1965), to produce a draft layout of the exhibition.  Presented to the newly 

appointed Exhibition Sub-Committee on 13 November 1946, these plans 

received a positive reception.
105

  A model and rough plans of the exhibition 

layout were consequently shown to the Executive Committee the following 

month.
106

  The committee was so impressed by the architect’s preliminary 

designs that they agreed not only to go ahead with the exhibition, but also to 

explore the possibility of retaining the displays as a permanent feature of the 

museum.  In March 1947 the Executive Committee voted unanimously in favour 

of the idea, resolving that the exhibition would be carried out in ‘a permanent 

manner’ with the intention that the halls would be used in future for the purpose 

of ‘displaying our exhibits to better advantage.’
107

   

 

As none of the plans that McDowell-Smith produced in relation to the exhibition 

appear to have survived, it is difficult to ascertain when period rooms came to 

feature as part of the exhibition layout.  The earliest known reference to the use 

of this strategy of display dates to January 1947 when the Exhibition Sub-

Committee discussed the idea of modifying two small rooms off the Pioneer Hall 

to house ‘a cottage of 3 rooms.’
108

  Further details about the display were 

released two months later when the Otago Daily Times reported that the 

exhibition was to feature ‘three rooms of an early settler’s home furnished in the 

fashion of the period.’
109
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A possible catalyst for the inclusion of period rooms in the Otago Centennial 

Exhibition was a project that had been launched by the OESA in September 1945 

at the suggestion of Crosby Morris, a long-serving member of the Executive 

Committee.  At a meeting that was held that month, Morris reported that he had 

been approached with the suggestion that ‘we might have in our Museum rooms 

furnished as typical early day homes.’
110

  Throwing his support behind the 

venture, Morris recommended that the Association begin to acquire the 

furnishings necessary to create such rooms.  The matter was referred to the 

Museum Committee, which decided unanimously in favour of the proposal, 

resolving in March 1946 that the President of the Association should be 

encouraged to launch an appeal for donations of ‘early day furniture’ at the 

Anniversary Functions that were to be held later that month.
111

  While it is not 

possible to state with any certainty that these plans fed directly into the design of 

the Otago Centennial Exhibition, it is likely that they helped to secure a place for 

period rooms within the exhibition layout at an early stage of its development.   

  

At the end of August 1947, the Early Settlers Hall and the Pioneer Hall were 

closed to the public to enable work to begin on the task of installing the 

exhibits.
112

  Consisting of a painted façade and three rooms, the Pioneer Cottage 

was installed by members of the OESA in collaboration with a team of 

contractors, including commercial artists Colin Wheeler and John W. Brock, who 

were responsible for painting all of the large-scale murals that featured in the 

exhibition.  Photographs of the interior of the cottage that were published in the 
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Otago Daily Times on 19 February 1948 show that both the Parlour and Kitchen 

were largely complete by this time (figs 2.1-2).
113

  Among the ‘finishing touches’ 

that were yet to be added were the wire screens, which were installed across the 

front of the two rooms in the days that followed.   

 

Opened on 23 February 1948, the Otago Centennial Exhibition was designed to 

take visitors on a journey through the history of European settlement in the 

Otago region (fig 2.3).  Consisting of a chronological sequence of reconstructed 

environments, the exhibition commenced at the south end of the Pioneer Hall 

with a pair of tableaux representing a whare-runanga and a whaling station scene 

that were designed to evoke life in the Otago region prior to the start of organised 

settlement.
114

  Continuing along the east wall of the gallery, the exhibition 

continued with a diorama of the first immigration ships, the John Wickliffe and 

the Phillip Laing, entering Otago Harbour in 1948, followed by a pit-saw scene, 

the Pioneer Cottage, and a display of gold mining equipment that was set against 

the backdrop of a mural depicting Gabriel’s Gully at the height of the gold-rush 

in 1861.  The sequence of displays continued in the adjacent Early Settlers Hall, 

where vehicles and farming equipment were staged in connection with a series of 

murals representing rural Otago landscapes.  Completing the historical narrative, 

a model of Dunedin in 1940 and aerial views of the province were also displayed 

in this hall. 
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Located at the south end of the Pioneer Hall, the exterior of the Pioneer Cottage 

formed part of one of the large murals that Wheeler and Brock painted onto the 

walls of the gallery.  Designed to represent a domestic dwelling in the region 

around 1860, the mural depicted a small stone cottage with a thatched roof and a 

brick chimney located against the backdrop of a man-made bush clearing (fig 

2.4).  Attempting to create the illusion that the scene formed a continuation of the 

space occupied by the visitor, perspective was used to create the illusion of three-

dimensionality when the display was approached from the south end of the 

gallery.  While the front façade of the cottage was aligned with the gallery wall, 

the building was rendered so that the south façade was visible.  Perspective was 

also applied to the thatched roof, which diminished in height as it approached the 

north end of the gallery, and to the sash window at the centre of the façade.  In 

order to enhance the illusion, three-dimensional elements were also integrated 

into the scene, including a saddle and a harness, which were affixed to the front 

wall.   

 

Entered and exited by means of real doors that were located at either end of the 

exhibit’s painted façade, the interior of the Pioneer Cottage consisted of a suite 

of three period rooms that were viewed from a corridor that ran the width of the 

display.  Furnished as a bedroom, a parlour and a kitchen respectively, each of 

these rooms was designed to provide a detailed architectural backdrop against 

which to understand the collection items that they were used to display (figs 2.5-

7).  In terms of its layout, the Pioneer Cottage attempted to recreate the floor plan 

of an early stone cottage.  The need to accommodate a storage area immediately 

behind the display, however, meant that concessions had to be made in both the 
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Bedroom and the Kitchen, where the traditional rectangular floor plan was 

sacrificed in order to maximise the depth of the displays without cutting off 

access to the space behind. 

 

Practical considerations also impacted on the design of the cottage in other ways.  

As a result of both the Association’s modest display budget and the type of 

building that the Pioneer Cottage was designed to represent, very few historically 

appropriate building materials were used in the construction of the display.  In 

place of using real sash windows, for example, the windows in the Pioneer 

Cottage were created by recessing sash bars into the newly installed partition 

wall at the rear of the display.  Many of the interior finishes were also evoked 

rather than recreated, with paint being used to simulate materials such as thatch 

and stone.   

 

Against this backdrop, each of the rooms was furnished with a diverse range of 

household items, including furniture, ornaments, textiles, tools and utensils.  

While the majority of the objects on display were drawn from the collection of 

the OESM, the Association were unable to supply or acquire a nineteenth-

century double bed for use in the Bedroom.  As a result, one was created 

specifically for the display by the local furniture supplier Scoullar and Chisholm, 

which modified an old single bed that was in the firm’s possession at the time to 

make it large enough to display one of the quilts from the museum’s 

collection.
115

  Once the rooms had been furnished, each of the spaces was 
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carefully stage-managed to create the illusion of occupancy.  In the Kitchen, for 

example, the table was set for a meal, while in the Parlour the open fireplace 

contained the remains of a fire.   

 

 

1948-1972 

 

Having been viewed by over 24,000 paying visitors over four months, the Otago 

Centennial Exhibition closed to the public on 12 June 1948.
116

  In the months 

that followed, the decision to retain the displays in the Early Settlers Hall and the 

Pioneer Hall had a significant impact on the OESM.  Firstly, the transformation 

of the two halls into museum galleries dramatically increased the amount of 

space that was available for the display of the museum’s ever-growing 

collection.
117

  In the wake of the centennial exhibition, the museum authorities 

took the opportunity to integrate further displays into the layout of both the Early 

Settlers Hall and the Pioneer Hall.  Among the displays that were added to the 

Pioneer Hall, for example, were a series of showcases that had formerly been on 

display in the Main Gallery and a collection of paintings, photographs, and 

prints.
118

  As a result of this process, the Association was able to integrate new 

material into the adjacent galleries while at the same time helping to relieve some 

of the problems that had previously been caused by overcrowding.   
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The retention of the centennial displays also had long-term consequences for the 

display galleries.  Prior to the Otago Centennial Exhibition, both the Early 

Settlers Hall and the Pioneer Hall served as venues for meetings and events.  In 

deciding to retain the centennial displays, the Association not only sacrificed the 

use of the halls for their own events, but also the public hire of the halls, which 

had long been the organisation’s main source of revenue.  Aware that the 

decision would have major financial implications, the OESA established an 

investment fund using the proceeds of a fundraising appeal that was held in 

connection with the centennial.
119

  Despite this, however, the Association 

struggled financially in the decades that followed, as low returns on their 

investments and a steady decline in membership left it heavily reliant on 

bequests to cover the museum’s operating expenses.
120

 

 

The Association’s financial difficulties were reflected in the appearance of the 

museum’s display galleries, which changed very little between 1949 and the 

early 1970s.  While new acquisitions continued to be integrated into the display 

halls, financial constraints severely limited the Association’s ability to expand or 

substantially modify the displays.  As a result, the Otago Centennial Exhibition 

had a minimal impact on the appearance of the existing museum galleries, where 

artefacts continued to be displayed against the backdrop of the Association’s 

portrait collection.  Of the new displays that were added to the museum after 

1948, most replicated the style of the earlier galleries.  The only exception to this 

rule was a display representing the interior of a blacksmith’s shop, which was 
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installed in the Early Settlers Hall in 1956.
121

  This exhibit was the only display 

created during the 1950s and 1960s that employed the realist techniques that had 

characterised the centennial displays. 

 

The state of the Association’s finances between 1949 and 1972 also impacted on 

the Pioneer Cottage.  One of the few sources of information regarding the 

appearance of the exterior after 1948 is an account of the display that was written 

in 1997 by Margaret M. Pryde, a former Secretary of the OESA who was 

responsible for the day-to-day management of the museum between April 1943 

and 1972.
122

  Describing the layout of the OESM as it was at the time that she 

left the museum in December 1972, the manuscript indicates that few changes 

had been made to the area in front of the cottage since it was installed, with many 

of the items that she describes corresponding to those visible in photographs 

taken between 1948 and 1949.   

 

The interior of the exhibit also appears to have remained largely unchanged.  In 

1969 timber-framed viewing windows were installed across the front of the three 

period rooms to replace the wire security screen that had been installed in 

1948.
123

  The architecture of the three rooms themselves, however, does not 

appear to have been altered as part of this process.  The contents of the three 

rooms also remained relatively constant, with new material simply being added 

over time (figs 2.8-11).
124

  By 1972, a second table and several ornaments, for 
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example, had been added to the Parlour setting, while in the Kitchen the number 

of cooking utensils continued to grow in both number and variety. 

 

In 1949 the OESA published a short history of the Association and a guide to the 

museum.  Providing only a basic outline of the contents of the different galleries, 

this guide offered little insight into the contents of the Pioneer Cottage, noting 

simply that it represented a ‘model pioneer’s cottage’ with ‘three typical rooms 

furnished as was usual in a pioneer’s home a century ago.’
125

  Labelling within 

the displays was also kept to a minimum.  From a photograph that was taken of 

the Parlour in 1948, it is known that the display was originally accompanied by 

at least one interpretation panel when it first opened.  As the panel faces away 

from the camera, however, its content remains unknown.  Further interpretive 

text appears to have been added to the display in the years that followed.  

Numbered labels that are visible in a photograph that was taken of the Kitchen 

around 1950 indicate that supplementary information about the name or function 

of some of the objects in this area had been added to the display by this time. 

 

 

Changes to the Pioneer Cottage, 1972-1990 

 

In contrast to the preceding two decades, the 1970s and 1980s were a period of 

great change at the OESM.  Between 1901 and the late 1970s the museum was 

                                                                                                                                    
description of this room, which corresponds closely to a photograph that is thought to have been 

taken of the display shortly after it was installed.  Pryde’s notes provide the first and only record 

of the objects that were located along the Parlour wall of the room, which included a Scotch chest 

with a crocheted white cotton runner.  See: Margaret Pryde, ‘Notes for Mr S. G. Brosnahan’, 19 

August 1997, OSM: ‘To Fame Undying’ Research Material, 1997-1998. 
125

 Skinner and Martin, 1949, p. 36. 



 60 

overseen by a special sub-committee of the OESA that made key decisions 

regarding its development.  Responsibility for the day-to-day management of the 

museum, however, traditionally fell to the Secretary of the Association, who 

oversaw the acquisition of material for the collection and the arrangement of the 

displays.
126

  This organisational model was followed until 1977, when Seddon 

Bennington was appointed as the museum’s first Director.
127

  Within a year of 

his appointment, Bennington was joined by a small team of temporary staff, who 

were encouraged to attend industry-specific conferences and workshops to 

develop their skills.  By 1980, this initiative had resulted in the appointment of 

four permanent staff members, including Angela Burns, who became the 

museum’s first Curator in April that year.
128

  Further professional staff members, 

including a second Curator, were added in the years that followed. 

 

The appointment of permanent museum staff and their increasing involvement 

with the wider museum community played a major role in fostering change at the 

OESM in the late 1970s and 1980s.  Among those changes that had the greatest 

impact on the appearance of the display galleries was the development of a 

programme of temporary exhibitions, which would see new displays being added 

to the museum on a regular basis for the first time in its history.  New demands 

were also placed on the galleries by an increasing emphasis on the use of the 
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museum as an educational resource for school-aged children, a role that the 

museum’s staff attempted to enhance in the early 1980s by instigating a 

programme of classes that enabled children to participate in hands-on activities 

within the museum environment.
129

  Further changes to the galleries were 

introduced from the mid 1980s when the museum authorities resolved to 

abandon the museum’s traditional focus on early European settlement in the 

region in favour of addressing the wider social history of Otago up to the present 

day.
130

   

 

Against this backdrop, the Pioneer Cottage underwent its own series of 

transformations in the 1980s.  On 16 October 1982 the OESA published a series 

of articles in the Otago Daily Times to promote the value of the museum to the 

community.  An element of the museum that was highlighted by this two-page 

advertising feature was the ‘recently restored’ Pioneer Cottage.
131

  Although the 

article does not directly address the changes that were made as part of the 

restoration process, it is clear that modifications had been made to the contents 

and arrangement of the Kitchen by this time.  A key driver of change appears to 

have been the museum’s education programme, which began to use the Kitchen 

to host hands-on bread-making classes for small groups of school-aged children 

as early as May 1982.
132

  These classes not only brought visitors into the Kitchen 

for the first time, but enabled them to interact with some of the articles that it 

contained.  This interaction, although transitory, had a significant impact on the 

                                                 
129

 ‘Programmes for Young at Museum’, Otago Daily Times, 16 October 1982, p. 17. 
130

 Brosnahan, 1998, p. 79. 
131

 ‘Cottage Shows Early Family Life’, Otago Daily Times, 16 October 1982, p. 16. 
132

 ‘Programmes for Young at Museum’, Otago Daily Times, 16 October 1982, p. 17.  Untitled, 

Otago Daily Times, 29 May 1985, p. 20. 



 62 

appearance of the display, as the kitchenware that the children used during their 

classes became a permanent feature of the room (fig 2.12). 

 

In 1985 an extensive renovation project was launched to refresh the look of the 

Pioneer Cottage.  As part of this process, the mural that had been used to 

represent the exterior of the cottage was replaced in May 1985.
133

  Attempting to 

enhance the illusionism of the scene, the new façade was constructed entirely 

from historically appropriate building materials, including schist for the walls 

and thatch on the roof.  Complementing the changes that had been made to the 

exterior of the display, historically appropriate building materials were also 

integrated into the design of the period rooms, including timber beams, which 

were added to the cottage ceilings, and a pair of schist fireplace surrounds that 

were constructed in the Kitchen and the Parlour (figs 2.13-14).
134

  Changes were 

also made to the contents and arrangement of the rooms, with several details 

being added to further enhance the illusion of reality.  In the Parlour, for 

example, sheet music was arranged on top of the harmonium while nearby a pair 

of reading glasses, a pipe and a book were carefully arranged on one of the tables 

as if momentarily abandoned by their owner.   

 

Complementing the changes that were made to enhance the apparent realism of 

the display, an effort was also made to make the exhibit more instructive.  In 

order to achieve this aim, text and images were increasingly used to supplement 

and enhance the narratives that it was designed to convey.  A report on the state 
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of the museum’s collections and displays that was written by the museum’s 

Curator, Angela Burns, in March 1985 records that a wall display featuring 

photographs of pioneer homes and some information about the colonial 

housewife and her daily chores had been installed in the area in front of the 

cottage by this time and that there were plans to draw up a key to help visitors 

identify some of the items that were displayed in the Kitchen.
135

   

 

In the 1980s the museum also began to publish the first commentaries on the 

display.  In 1982 the museum prepared a detailed account of the Pioneer Cottage 

for an advertising feature that was published in the Otago Daily Times.
136

  In 

contrast to the descriptive account that had appeared in the 1949 guide to the 

museum, this article provided information about the type of building that the 

display represented, the furnishings that it contained, and the activities that 

would have taken place there in the 1860s.
137

  Short profiles of the Kitchen and 

Parlour were also prepared five years later, appearing in an updated guide to the 

museum that was published in 1987.
138

  Although less detailed than the article, 

these profiles emphasised similar aspects of the display, focusing in particular on 

the types of activities that would have been undertaken in such spaces in the 

nineteenth century. 

 

In addition to the physical changes that were made to the Pioneer Cottage in the 

1980s, the wider context in which it was viewed also evolved and changed.  As a 
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result of the broadening scope of the museum’s collection after 1984, displays 

representing twentieth-century domestic interiors were installed for the first time 

at the museum.  Opened on 4
 
November 1988, the temporary exhibition Shoe 

String Years, for example, featured a suite of three ‘rooms’ representing a 

kitchen, a laundry and a bathroom that were designed to illustrate the mix of 

pride and poverty that characterised New Zealand homes during the Depression 

in the 1930s.
139

  Six years later, another suite of twentieth-century interiors were 

temporarily installed in preparation for the opening of New Zealand! New 

Zealand!: In Praise of Kiwiana, a touring exhibition exploring New Zealand’s 

popular culture of the 1950s and 1960s.  Held at the OESM between 9 December 

1994 and 12
 
March 1995, this exhibition included a pair of displays representing 

the kitchen and the living room of a ‘typical’ New Zealand home in the 1960s.
140

 

 

 

Redevelopment, 1990-2000 

 

Dramatic changes continued to occur at the OESM in the 1990s.  On 1 April 

1991 the OESM became a department of the Dunedin City Council (DCC).
141

  In 

keeping with an agreement that had been reached between the OESA and the 

DCC the previous year, responsibility for managing the museum subsequently 

passed to a newly appointed Board of Trustees that was made up of 

representatives of both parties.  At the same time, responsibility for funding the 
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museum’s operating expenses and future maintenance passed to the council, with 

money being raised as part of rates.  The OESA remained the nominal owner of 

the museum until late 1994 when the Association officially donated the land, the 

museum building, and the collection to the people of Dunedin.
142

  That year, the 

museum was also re-branded, dropping the word ‘Early’ from its name to 

become the ‘Otago Settlers Museum’ (OSM) in an attempt to reflect the changes 

that had been made to the scope of its collections and displays since the mid-

1980s. 

 

In addition to the administrative changes that were made at the OESM in the 

early 1990s, the decade was also a period of great change for the public galleries.  

In 1992 the Board of Trustees launched a fundraising campaign in preparation 

for a multi-million dollar redevelopment of the entire museum complex.
143

  The 

project, which more than doubled the size of the museum building, included the 

purchase and refurbishment of the adjacent NZR Bus Station Depot as well as 

the construction of a new reception area and a large purpose-built textile storage 

facility.
144

  Long deferred repair work was also undertaken in the museum’s 

existing display galleries, which were progressively closed for strengthening and 

refurbishment between 1993 and 1999.  As part of this process, almost all of the 

displays that had been created at the museum prior to 1990 were de-installed, 

including those in the former Early Settlers Hall (the Transport Gallery) and the 
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Pioneer Hall, which were closed for redevelopment in 1993 and 1994 

respectively.
145

 

 

A combination of the old and the new, the Pioneer Hall reopened as the Hall of 

History on 31 July 1994.  Entered by means of the new reception area that had 

been built at the south end of the old museum complex, the Hall of History 

featured a new long-term exhibition, Kai Tahu Whanui ki Otago, which told the 

story of Otago Māori in the 150 years after the sale of the Otago block to the 

New Zealand Company in 1844.  Complementing this exhibition, the north end 

of the gallery was occupied by a series of displays exploring the history of 

Chinese and European settlement in Otago.  Of the displays that had been 

installed in preparation for the Otago Centennial Exhibition 46 years earlier, only 

the Pioneer Cottage was retained, with the remaining tableaux in both the former 

Pioneer Hall and the Early Settlers Hall being removed as part of the 

redevelopment process. 

 

Although no record appears to have been made of the Pioneer Cottage at the time 

that the Hall of History opened in 1994, a series of photographs that were taken 

of the Parlour and the Kitchen later that decade show that the appearance of the 

display changed very little between 1987 when the guide to the museum was 

published and the late 1990s.
146

  While some minor modifications were made to 

the contents and arrangement of the rooms, all of the major elements remained in 

place throughout this period.  A noteworthy change that may have been made to 

the display after 1987 was the addition of a pair of mannequins, one representing 
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an adult female wearing a silk crinoline dress and paisley shawl and the other a 

male child, that first appear in photographs of the Parlour in the late 1990s.  The 

exact year that these figures were added, however, remains unclear.  Outside the 

period rooms, additional interpretation also appears to have been added, 

including a small panel located in the Parlour window and a larger panel on the 

wall opposite, which contained both text and images.   

 

The retention of the Pioneer Cottage in 1994, however, appears to have been 

only a temporary measure.  In the history of the OESA that was published in 

1998 to mark the Association’s centennial, author and Curator Seán Brosnahan 

noted that plans were being made to replace the Pioneer Cottage with ‘a more 

diverse presentation of domestic interiors from the 1840s-1950s at some time in 

1999.’
147

  In due course, the museum authorities officially announced their plans 

to close the display in April the following year.  In the statement that was 

released to the press, the museum acknowledged that the cottage display 

remained popular and would be sadly missed by some visitors.
148

  The primary 

reason that was given for the closure of the exhibit was the deteriorating 

condition of some of the objects that were used to furnish the period rooms, with 

the museum’s Director, Pricilla Pitts (Director 1998-2007), noting that many of 

the timber furnishings urgently required conservation.  The museum’s Collection 

Manager, John Timmins, later expanded on this issue, stating that, in the absence 

of climate control systems, the environment within the display no longer met 

current museum standards, leaving collection items vulnerable to further 
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deterioration.
149

  As a result of these concerns, the Pioneer Cottage closed to the 

public in May 1999 and was immediately dismantled.   

 

 

From Reconstruction to Immersion – Across the Ocean Waves 

 

While the idea of reinstating the Pioneer Cottage was discussed at the time of its 

removal in 1999, these plans were later abandoned in favour of using the area to 

install Across the Ocean Waves, a new long-term exhibition exploring the theme 

of migration that opened to the public on 4 September 2004.
150

  Entered by 

means of a door located in the east wall of the Hall of History, the exhibition 

begins with an open area designed to accommodate school groups.  The displays 

in this area, which include several cases and a video presentation, serve as an 

introduction to a full-scale reconstruction of the steerage quarters of a nineteenth-

century immigrant ship that forms the centrepiece of the exhibition (figs 2.15-

18).  Developed by the design firm Story Inc in collaboration with the museum’s 

curatorial team, the Steerage Quarters is designed to convey something of the 

conditions in which married couples and families lived during their voyage from 

Europe to Otago in the 1840s and 1850s.
151

  In addition to recreating the cramped 
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spatial conditions endured by early European settlers, the display attempts to 

evoke the atmosphere of such spaces by means of the lighting scheme, which 

includes a lantern that swings to simulate the rocking motion of a ship, and a 

soundscape featuring noises such as the creaking of the ship against the waves 

and footsteps on the unseen deck above.
152

 

 

While the Steerage Quarters shares many similarities with the Pioneer Cottage, 

the display differs from the earlier period rooms in several key ways.  In contrast 

to the Pioneer Cottage, the Steerage Quarters does not serve as a means to 

showcase artefacts from the museum’s collection.  Furnished entirely with props 

and modern replicas, every aspect of the Steerage Quarters is designed to enable 

visitors not only to enter the display, but to engage with it, whether that be by 

climbing into the bunks, sitting at the table, or by picking up the various objects 

and utensils that it contains.  While this emphasis on immersion and interactivity 

echoes the hands-on model of museum education that had been applied to the 

Pioneer Cottage Kitchen in the 1980s, it also reflects a fundamental shift 

regarding the function of recreated environments at the museum.  Rather than 

serving as backdrop to a collection of artefacts, the display is instead designed to 

evoke a historical experience, enabling visitors to visualise the conditions 

endured by the region’s earliest European settlers on their voyage to New 

Zealand. 
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In order to flesh out the visitors understanding of what it was like to occupy the 

space represented by the Steerage Quarters, a range of media is also integrated 

into the exhibition.  While the Pioneer Cottage had formed part of a larger 

sequence of displays, the period rooms themselves had largely been designed to 

be viewed in isolation.  By contrast, Across the Ocean Waves conveys 

information using a number of different display strategies.  Supplementing the 

replica of the cabin, the exhibition features a series of other displays that address 

a range of themes by means of collection artefacts, images and text.  Further 

information is supplied by means of a series of short dramatised scenes that are 

played on screens in the gallery.  Based on diary entries, these scenes add to the 

information conveyed by the Steerage Quarters by representing several aspects 

of life aboard an immigrant vessel that can not be conveyed by means of a 

recreated environment or by the physical objects that it contains. 
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Chapter 3:   Canterbury Museum 

 

Located in central Christchurch, the Canterbury Museum has a long and rich 

history of using reconstruction as a strategy of display.  The strong history of 

such displays continues today with a number of the galleries featuring re-created 

environments.  This chapter charts the history of period room displays at the 

Canterbury Museum from the installation of the first rooms at the time of the 

Canterbury Centennial in 1950 through to the present day, looking at the 

circumstances in which these displays were installed and how the tradition has 

evolved over time. 

 

Founded under the leadership of geologist Dr. Julius von Haast, the Canterbury 

Museum opened to the public on 3 December 1867.
153

  The museum was housed 

in three rooms on the first floor of the Canterbury Provincial Government 

Buildings until 1869, when a separate building was erected in the Christchurch 

Botanic Gardens near Antigua Street (now Rolleston Avenue) to house its 

rapidly growing collection.  Opened on 1 October 1870, the building initially 

consisted of a single gallery with a mezzanine floor above, but soon grew, with a 

new two-storey wing being added to the south end of the building in 1872.  In 

June 1874 control of the museum passed from the Provincial Council to the 

Board of Governors of Canterbury College (now the University of Canterbury).  

                                                 
153

 For general information regarding the history of the Canterbury Museum see: Julius von 

Haast, ‘Haast - On the Early History of the Canterbury Museum,’ Transactions and Proceedings 

of the New Zealand Institute 14, (1881): 503-516.  Canterbury Museum, Guide to the Collections 

in the Canterbury Museum, Canterbury, New Zealand, Christchurch: T.E. Fraser, 1906 (3
rd

 

edition), pp. 2-3.  Canterbury Museum, Canterbury Museum: A Short Guide, Christchurch: 

Canterbury Museum, 1946, pp. 3-6.  Keith W. Thomson, Art Galleries and Museums in New 

Zealand, Sydney and Wellington: A.H. & A.W. Reed, 1981, pp. 76-77. 



 72 

Over the course of the next two decades, the museum continued to grow, with 

further additions being made to the building in 1876 and 1882.  Faced with a 

decline in available funds after 1890, the museum building subsequently 

remained largely unaltered until the 1950s, when the necessary capital was raised 

to construct a substantial new wing as a memorial to the centenary of the 

Canterbury Province.
154

  The Hundredth Anniversary Wing (now the Roger Duff 

Wing) was the last section of the current museum building to be built, opening in 

1977. 

 

When the Canterbury Museum opened in 1867, geological, botanical and 

zoological specimens made up the bulk of the material that was on display.
155

  

By 1870, the collection had grown in scope, with a small number of ethnographic 

artefacts forming part of the new displays.
156

  While the natural sciences and 

ethnology remained the primary focus of the museum’s collecting activities 

throughout the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, the collection 

nevertheless expanded during this period to accommodate a small selection of 

paper-based records and artefacts associated with the early years of European 

settlement in New Zealand. 

 

By the time that the third edition of the museum’s guide to the collections was 

published in 1906, photographs of Canterbury pioneers and early settlers were 

displayed in the vestibule behind the main entrance to the museum alongside two 
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iron cannons that had been used in the early years of settlement.
157

  Further items 

were found in Case 29 of the Maori Room where a small eclectic mix of ‘Pakeha 

relics’ were displayed, including the remnants of a coffin, a copper plate, and 

several guns.
158

  These items, which were all of Pākehā manufacture, were 

associated either with European contact with local Māori or with the pioneers 

who had arrived in New Zealand prior to the official settlement of the region.   

 

In 1909 the Canterbury Museum began to actively acquire materials associated 

with European settlement in New Zealand.  That year, a committee was 

established to oversee the creation of a new section dedicated to the preservation 

of ‘mementoes and records’ relating to the history of Canterbury, with emphasis 

being placed on European settlement in the region.
159

  The committee met with 

the Board of Governors in July 1909 and a sub-committee was appointed to 

organise a public appeal for material.  The press reports that surrounded the 

newly established ‘Early Colonists Collection’ record that photographs, 

correspondence, early newspapers, and maps made up the bulk of the material 

that was subsequently accessioned, with only a small number of artefacts 

entering the collection in the years that followed.
160

   

 

At an early stage in the development process, discussions began about the 

creation of displays devoted to the museum’s new collection.  In July 1909 the 

museum’s Assistant Curator, Mr R. Speight, reported to the Board of Governors 
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and the Early Colonists Committee that it was his intention that part of the 

statuary room would be reserved for such material.
161

  Finding space in the 

museum’s already crowded galleries for a permanent display, however, proved 

impossible in the years that followed.  In place of a permanent display, ‘small 

articles of interest’ were instead exhibited from time to time in the recent 

acquisition case.
162

  At least two such displays were created, with the press 

reporting that items from the Early Colonist Collection were in place in this area 

of the museum in April, May and August that year.
163

 

 

Despite the initial enthusiasm that surrounded the acquisition of material for the 

Early Colonists Collection, interest in the project waned after 1911.  After an 

unsuccessful attempt was made to revive interest in the project around 1913, the 

colonial history collection received little attention until after 1937.
164

  That year, 

the Board of Directors appointed Robert Alexander Falla (1901-1979: Director 

1937-1948) as the Director of the Canterbury Museum.  During Falla’s tenure as 

Director, attitudes towards colonial history began to change, with ‘the European 

settlement of New Zealand’ being listed as a branch of the collection alongside 

natural history and ethnology for the first time.
165

  As a result, colonial history 

began to be accorded a greater presence within the collection, with items 

classified as ‘early colonial’ or ‘historical’ frequently appearing in the yearly list 

of accessions that were published in the museum’s annual reports after 1941. 
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As the collection began to grow, so too did its presence within the public 

galleries.  Following Falla’s appointment in 1937, attempts were made to 

modernise many of the museum’s displays.  One of the many changes that were 

introduced to the galleries as part of this process was the establishment of a suite 

of displays devoted to the Early Colonists theme.  In place by 1946, the new 

Early Colonists Section was located alongside displays of European antiquities 

on the first floor of the 1872 wing.  In addition to showcasing a selection of 

photographs and historical records, the section also featured a range of artefacts 

representative of the ‘domestic life and early industries of the province.’
166

  

Among those items that were used to represent the domestic realm, a prominent 

role was given to a selection of household furniture and fittings, which were 

‘displayed as much as possible in groupings such as the furnishing of a pioneer’s 

room.’
167

   

 

 

Canterbury Colonists Exhibition, 1950-1951 

 

In 1950 the people of Canterbury celebrated the centenary of the province.  As 

part of the programme of events that was held to mark this occasion, the 

Canterbury Museum organised its first large-scale exhibition of material 

associated with European settlement in the Canterbury region.  Located in the 

former Hall of Ethnology, the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition constituted not 

only the museum’s first real attempt to construct a visual history of the early 

colonial period, but also a turning point in terms of its approach to display.  
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While habitat groups and dioramas had featured among the displays for over five 

decades, the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition represented the first wide-scale 

adoption of reconstruction as a strategy of display.
168

  Opened in August 1950, 

the exhibition was laid out in the form of a chronological sequence of eight 

period rooms that sought to evoke the types of domestic spaces in which early 

Cantabrians had lived. 

 

As the documentation surrounding the planning of the Canterbury Colonists 

Exhibition is extremely fragmentary, much remains unknown about the origins 

of the event.  A letter that the museum’s newly appointed Director, Roger 

Sheppard Duff (1912-1978: Director 1948-1978) wrote to Margaret Pryde at the 

Otago Early Settlers Museum in late October 1948 indicates that planning for the 

exhibition was certainly under way by this time.
169

  Due to the intended scale of 

the project, the Early Colonists Exhibition Committee was formed to assist the 

Director in the task of planning the event.  Established as early as December 

1948, this committee was made up of a small number of representatives of the 

local community, including Heathcote Helmore (Chairman), Phyllis Boyle, 

Aubrey Cox, and Rose Reynolds.
170

  Further assistance was later offered by the 

Women’s Kitchen Committee, which oversaw the acquisition of material for use 

in one of the displays. 
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One member of the development team who is known to have made a particularly 

substantial contribution to the project was the Chairman of the Early Colonists 

Exhibition Committee, Heathcote George Helmore (1899-1965).  As noted in 

Chapter One, Helmore was a registered architect who took an active interest in 

the cultural life of the Canterbury region.
171

  One of the many organisations with 

which he was involved in the 1940s was the Friends of the Canterbury Museum, 

an organisation that had been formed in July 1944 to support the future 

development of the museum.
172

  At the time of the Canterbury Centennial, 

Helmore was also a member of the Canterbury Centennial Association (CCA), 

the organisation responsible for overseeing the centennial programme.  As a 

member of the Executive Committee and as Chairman of the Arts and Cultural 

Committee, Helmore was actively involved in organising a number of pageants 

and exhibitions on behalf of the CCA.
173

  In his role as Chairman of the Early 

Colonists Exhibition Committee, Helmore was responsible not only for 

designing the layout of the exhibition and the decoration of the period rooms, but 

was also instrumental in the process of soliciting material on loan from local 

families for use in the displays.
174

   

 

Another figure who can be identified as having played a significant role in the 

planning of the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition was Rosa (Rose) Josephine 

Reynolds (1907-1994).
175

  Born in Christchurch in 1907, Reynolds brought to the 
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exhibition committee both an enthusiasm for local history and an extensive 

knowledge of historical textiles.  Reynolds’ association with the Canterbury 

Museum began around 1948, when she was asked by the Canterbury Pilgrims 

and Early Settlers Association to care for their small collection of period 

costumes.  At Reynolds’ request, the then Director of the Canterbury Museum, 

Robert Falla, agreed not only to make space available at the museum to store the 

collection, but also to supply Reynolds with a display case in which to exhibit 

some of the garments and accessories.  Her first display, which was located in 

the museum’s foyer, presented a single mannequin dressed in a gown ‘as worn 

by an early settler.’
176

  Further displays followed, including an additional four 

display cases showcasing Victorian needlework.  By 1949, her work with the 

collection had resulted in her appointment as the museum’s Honorary Custodian 

of Period Costume.
177

  In this role, Reynolds not only assisted with the planning 

of the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition, but also undertook the task of cleaning 

and cataloguing the museum’s existing collection of colonial history material.
178

   

 

In addition to the work undertaken by Helmore and Reynolds, a substantial 

contribution was also made to the development of the exhibition by 

Wellingtonian Stanley Northcote-Bade (1906-1997).
179

  Providing advice and 

                                                                                                                                    
at the Royal School of Needlework.  Returning to Christchurch, she put the keen interest in 

historical textiles that her studies had fostered to use, becoming involved with local amateur 

theatre groups, for which she researched and produced replicas of historical garments.   
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practical assistance throughout the planning process, Northcote-Bade brought to 

the development team not only knowledge regarding the history of New Zealand 

furniture, but also experience in managing large-scale loan exhibitions.  Little 

more than a year before planning for the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition began 

in 1948, Northcote-Bade had been responsible for organising the Nelson Pioneer 

Exhibition, a major exhibition of early colonial artefacts that was held in the 

Bishop’s Schoolroom, Nelson.
180

  His experience in organising this event was of 

particular interest to the Canterbury Museum, not only because it had involved 

working extensively with the local community to secure relevant material, but 

also because Northcote-Bade had been responsible for compiling the suite of four 

period rooms that had featured among the displays.   

 

Northcote-Bade’s involvement with the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition appears 

to have begun in late 1948, when Duff met with him in Wellington to discuss the 

project.
181

  At Duff’s request, Northcote-Bade travelled to Christchurch in March 

the following year to speak to both the Early Colonists Exhibition Committee 
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material associated with European settlement but also fostering the display of such material at the 

museum after 1940 (See Chapter 4).   
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and the Friends of the Canterbury Museum about his experience.
182

  Within 

months of his visit, Duff began to explore the possibility of having Northcote-

Bade temporarily seconded to the Department of Internal Affairs to enable him 

to assist the Canterbury Museum in a fulltime capacity in the lead-up to the 

exhibition.
183

  The request was granted and Northcote-Bade subsequently 

travelled to Christchurch to work for the museum in the capacity of ‘Organiser’ 

between 18 June and 30 July 1950.
184

  In this role, Northcote-Bade assisted the 

exhibition committee in the task of tracking down and collecting family 

heirlooms as well as supervising the installation of the displays.
185

 

 

Like the origins of the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition itself, little is known 

about how or when period rooms came to feature in the museum’s plans for the 

event.  As the previous two chapters have shown, the exhibition organisers 

certainly had a number of local precedents to draw on by 1948.  In addition to the 

South Island Pioneer Hut, which Helmore had assisted to create for the New 

Zealand Centennial Exhibition in 1939, and the rooms designed for the Nelson 

Pioneer Exhibition by Northcote-Bade, the museum was also able to draw 

inspiration from the Otago Early Settlers Museum where period rooms had been 

installed earlier that year.  Aware of the work that had been undertaken at this 

institution, Duff approached the Secretary of the Otago Early Settlers 

Association, Margaret Pryde, as early as October 1948 for information about 
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these displays.
186

  While it is unknown to what extent the design of these displays 

influenced the contents of the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition, it is likely that 

the popular success enjoyed by these earlier displays helped to garner support for 

the widespread use of period rooms at an early stage in the development process. 

 

While the plans and drawings that Helmore created in connection with the 

exhibition do not appear to have survived, correspondence and contemporary 

press reports shed some light on how the contents of the exhibition and its layout 

developed over time.  The earliest known reference to the layout of the 

exhibition appears in a letter that Duff wrote to Northcote-Bade in December 

1948.
187

  Providing Northcote-Bade with a brief overview of the proposed 

project, the Director stated that ‘period interiors’ were to be arranged along one 

side of the gallery while miscellaneous examples of furniture, clothing, domestic 

utensils and other relics were to be displayed in cases along the other.  By March 

the following year more detailed plans had begun to emerge about the contents of 

the displays.  Speaking to the Friends of the Canterbury Museum that month, 

Duff stated that the exhibition would feature: 

 

…about four furnished rooms from what might be called a gentleman’s 

residence of 1850 to 1860, the rooms of a more humble cottage of the 

same period, and probably a cabin or stateroom from one of the early 

immigrant ships.  As an island exhibit it is hoped to reconstruct the hut 

occupied by Dr. A.C. Barker, one of the first settlers in Christchurch.
188
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With the exception of the ‘gentleman’s residence’, which was eventually reduced 

to two rooms, the series of displays described by Duff at this time all formed part 

of the final exhibition layout.   

 

Despite the fact that the themes of many of the displays were in place by March 

1949, ideas regarding the contents of the exhibition continued to be developed in 

the months that followed.  In May 1949 Duff wrote to A.D.I. Manson in 

Westland to enquire whether he would be willing to lend his collection of pre-

1950 furniture to the museum to enable it to furnish a period room representative 

of the decade 1840-50.
189

  Later that year, enquiries also began to be made in 

regards to the availability of Victorian clothing and furnishings in the hopes of 

extending the historic period covered by the exhibition through to 1900.
190

  

While the 1840s room envisioned by Duff did not form part of the displays, a 

room in the Victorian style was eventually incorporated into the exhibition layout 

to complete the chronological series. 

 

Once a theme had been assigned to each of the period rooms, the task of 

designing their décor was carried out by members of the Early Colonists 

Exhibition Committee.  As noted above, Helmore was responsible for designing 

the structure of each of the period rooms, including both the layout of 

architectural elements and the selection of finishes.  The task of selecting the 

contents of each room, however, is likely to have been more collaborative in 

nature.  As the museum’s collection of domestic furnishings and clothing from 

the period 1850-1900 remained relatively small in the late 1940s, most of the 
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material that was to form part of the displays had to be solicited on loan from the 

wider community.  Working with local families, the Early Colonists Exhibition 

Committee and their many supporters undertook the task of compiling lists of 

what material could be made available for use in the displays.  This process 

continued until around June or July 1950 when a decision was made regarding 

the material that would be shown in each of the displays.
191

   

 

Long before the contents of the individual displays had been finalised, work 

commenced on preparing the gallery space in which the exhibition was to be 

held.  In November 1949 the Ethnology Hall was closed to the public and the 

museum’s staff began the task of relocating both the collections and the existing 

display cases into temporary storage.
192

  Once the gallery had been cleared, the 

structure of the period rooms and their internal finishes were installed by a team 

of builders and decorators.  While most of the materials that were used in the 

construction of the rooms were modern, a small number of architectural elements 

from early local buildings were incorporated into the displays, including a set of 

cast-iron window casements from a house in Lyttelton once occupied by the 

founder of the Canterbury settlement, John Robert Godley (1841-1861).
193

   

 

Once the selection of furnishings had been finalised, Northcote-Bade and the 

Early Colonists Exhibition Committee began the task of collecting all of the 
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material that they had managed to secure for use in the displays.  With the 

architectural shell of each of the period rooms already in place, the rooms were 

then furnished by the development team under the direction of Helmore.
194

  

Further assistance was offered by members of the Friends of the Canterbury 

Museum and the Canterbury Pilgrims and Early Settlers Association, who 

offered their support during the process of preparing the displays. 

 

After around two years of planning, the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition was 

officially opened on 24 August 1950.  Attempting to construct a visual history of 

European settlement in the Canterbury region between 1840 and 1900, the 

exhibition opened with a large-scale diorama of the first four ships sent to 

Canterbury under the auspices of the Canterbury Association (the Charlotte 

Jane, Randolph, Sir George Seymour and Cressy), which were shown anchored 

in Lyttelton Harbour on New Year’s Day in 1851.
195

  The voyage theme 

continued with a large-scale mural representing the route taken by the Randolph 

and the Sir George Seymour from England to New Zealand, which was located 

on the entrance wall above.  The remainder of the hall was used to display a 

diverse range of items representative of the period 1840-1900, with the bulk of 

this material being shown in a sequence of eight fully-furnished period rooms 

(fig 3.1). 

 

Following the diorama of the ‘first four’ ships, the sequence of period rooms 

began in the south-west corner of the gallery with a reconstruction of the 

stateroom occupied by James Edward FitzGerald aboard the Charlotte Jane 
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during its voyage to Canterbury in 1850 (fig 3.2).
196

  Moving through the 

exhibition, visitors then encountered ‘Lyttelton Cottage (1850-60)’, a pair of 

rooms that were designed to represent the interior of a small cob cottage in the 

1850s, and ‘Christchurch House (1850-60)’, a suite of two rooms representing 

the parlour and the bedroom from a larger timber dwelling of the same period 

(figs 3.3-6).
197

  A replica of Studding Sail Hall, a V-hut erected by Dr. Alfred 

Charles Barker in Canterbury in 1850, completed the suite of displays devoted to 

the first decade of settlement (figs 3.7-9).
198

  The final period room in the 

chronological sequence, the ‘Victorian Room (1890s)’, was located along the 

back wall of the gallery (fig 3.10).  Complementing the earlier displays, this 

exhibit showcased material of a slightly later period in the context of a Victorian 

parlour. 

 

In terms of their structure, the majority of the period rooms that were created for 

the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition closely followed the model offered by the 

South Island Pioneer Room of 1939.  Located along the west and north walls of 

                                                 
196

 James Edward FitzGerald (1818-1896) was the Secretary of the Canterbury Association, the 

inaugural editor of Canterbury’s first newspaper, the Lyttelton Times, and later the first 

Superintendent of the province of Canterbury (1853-1857).  See: W. David McIntyre, 

‘FitzGerald, James Edward – Biography’, from the Dictionary of New Zealand Biography, Te 

Ara – the Encyclopaedia of New Zealand, updated 1 September 2010, URL: 

http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/biographies/1f9/1. 
197

 In contrast to the settlements established in the North Island in the 1840s, the Canterbury 

Plains were not a plentiful source of timber for building construction.  As a result, many of the 

structures that were built in the early years were constructed from cob, a mixture of clay, water, 

grasses and animal manure that was compressed into blocks.  The cob mixture was made on site 

and forked onto a foundation made of stone or brick.  The mixture was then compressed to form 

a short layer of blocks.  The process could take several months as each layer was left to dry 

before the subsequent layer was added.  Once the walls were complete, the door and window 

openings were cut and the exterior and interior surfaces of the cob were plastered to make them 

waterproof.  See: Jeremy Salmond (1986), Old New Zealand Houses 1800-1940, Auckland: 

Reed, 2005, pp. 38-41. 
198

 Dr. Alfred Charles Barker (1819-1873) was a surgeon who arrived aboard the Charlotte Jane 

with his wife, Sarah, and their children in 1850.  Interested in photography, he actively recorded 

early Canterbury and local personalities between the 1850s and the 1870s.  See: John B. Turner, 

‘Barker, Alfred Charles – Biography’, from the Dictionary of New Zealand Biography, Te Ara – 

the Encyclopaedia of New Zealand, updated 1 September 2010, URL: 

http://www.teara.govt.nz/en/biographies/1b4/1. 



 86 

the hall, the FitzGerald Cabin, Lyttelton Cottage, Christchurch House, and the 

Victorian Room were all constructed in the form of a three-sided box that visitors 

viewed through the absent fourth wall.  In addition to the construction of 

partition walls to form the back and sides of the individual rooms, false ceilings 

were also installed to ensure that the spaces were approximate in dimension to 

those typically found within domestic residences of the period.  The floor of the 

gallery, which was clad in timber floorboards, was retained in each of the rooms, 

disguised only by the large carpets that were displayed in the Christchurch House 

rooms and the Victorian Room.   

 

In contrast to those period rooms that focused solely on the task of representing 

an interior space, Studding Sail Hall sought to represent both the interior and 

exterior of the building upon which it was based.  V-huts, which took their name 

from the steeply pitched roof that formed two sides of the structure, were 

commonly erected by settlers in the region during the first few months of 

settlement to provide accommodation while more permanent dwellings were 

constructed.
199

  Larger and more elaborate than many of its contemporaries, the 

roof of Studding Sail Hall was clad in the discarded studding-sail from the 

Charlotte Jane while the walls at either end of the structure were clad in pieces 

of timber of various shapes and sizes.  Inside, the building was subdivided into 

two areas using packing cases to create two separate rooms.  The replica 

recreated all of these features, with the two rooms being viewed through a 

doorway and an unglazed window that were located in the end walls of the 

structure. 

                                                 
199

 Canterbury Museum, 1950, p. 8. 



 87 

 

As Duff stated in the guidebook that was published to accompany the Canterbury 

Colonists Exhibition, a core function of the displays was to present artefacts of 

the colonial era in their ‘living habitat.’
200

  Attempting to create the illusion of 

encountering objects in their ‘natural’ environment, the organisers lavished 

attention on all aspects of the individual displays.  Following the model offered 

by the period rooms that had been created for the Centennial Exhibition a decade 

earlier, the architectural fabric of each of the period rooms included a variety of 

architectural elements.  The fabric of the Lyttelton Cottage Kitchen, for example, 

incorporated a window, a door and a large fireplace containing a colonial oven.  

Throughout the exhibition an attempt was also made to represent a range of 

historical wall finishes.  In both Christchurch House and the Victorian Room 

patterned wall paper was hung on each of the walls while in Lyttelton Cottage a 

whitewash finish was used to simulate the appearance of cob walls.   

 

For those rooms that were located around the perimeter of the gallery, the 

inclusion of windows posed a particular challenge to the organisers.  In order to 

ensure that these features did not work against the realism of the scene, painted 

murals were commissioned for use in each of the rooms.
201

  In the FitzGerald 

Cabin a mural seascape painted by prominent local artist, Russell Clark, was 

installed behind the three sloping windows that dominated the rear wall of 

display.  A further five scenes were created for the exhibition by Louise Grey.  

Serving an important narrative function, the murals used in the Lyttelton Cottage 

Bedroom and Kitchen presented views of Lyttelton Harbour and Diamond 
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Harbour respectively while those in Christchurch House represented scenes of 

early Christchurch around 1850.  The scene in the Victorian Room also served to 

locate the contents of the display geographically, presenting a view of the 

Southern Alps.   

 

Against the backdrop of these architectural settings, the museum assembled a 

diverse array of domestic artefacts from all over the Canterbury region.  In 

addition to showcasing a range of furniture, the rooms were furnished with an 

assortment of household items, including textiles, light fixtures, pictures, 

ornaments, tools and utensils.  The sheer volume and diversity of the artefacts 

that were on display along with the manner in which they were arranged added to 

the illusionism of the displays, helping to recreate the appearance of a lived-in 

interior.  In contrast to the architecture of the rooms, however, the furnishing of 

the individual displays was characterised by a resolute emphasis on authenticity, 

with only a small number of modern replicas being used.
202

 

 

In terms of their design, the period rooms that were created for the Canterbury 

Colonists Exhibition can be divided into two categories.  Like the period rooms 

that had been created for the Otago Early Settlers Museum in 1948, most of the 

period rooms that featured in the exhibition did not recreate an interior that had 

actually existed in Canterbury during the period being represented.  Instead, the 

role of these displays was to create a composite picture of a particular type of 

interior.  The rooms that made up Lyttelton Cottage, for example, were designed 

to represent a cob cottage of the 1850s, a type of structure that had been built by 
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the majority of settlers in the months following their arrival.  Complementing 

Lyttelton Cottage, Christchurch House provided visitors with a glimpse of the 

types of spaces that were found in larger timber residences of the same period 

while the final room in the sequence, the Victorian Room, represented a parlour 

of the 1890s decorated in the Victorian style.  Within each of these rooms, the 

décor and furnishings served to evoke not one but multiple historical realities, 

distilling out those features shared by many historical interiors and compressing 

them into one scene.   

 

In contrast to these five exhibits, both the FitzGerald Cabin and Studding Sail 

Hall sought to recreate as closely as possible two identifiable historical interiors 

as they appeared in the early 1850s.  In order to achieve this goal, Helmore drew 

heavily on a number of archival records in the process of designing these two 

displays.  One source that strongly influenced the design of the FitzGerald Cabin 

was a watercolour sketch painted by FitzGerald during the ship’s voyage through 

the South Atlantic (fig 3.11).
203

  In addition to informing both the architectural 

design of the room and its finishes, this sketch also guided the contents of the 

display, with many of the artefacts that it contained acting as direct surrogates for 

those visible in the drawing.  The double extension couch that was used in the 

display, for example, was not only of an equivalent age and type to that used by 

FitzGerald, but was located in the same position within the room as its 

counterpart in FitzGerald’s drawing. 
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Like the FitzGerald Cabin, the design of Studding Sail Hall was heavily based on 

contemporary accounts of the original building.  Among the sources that 

Helmore is known to have drawn on in the process of designing the display are 

three sketches that Dr. Barker produced of Studding Sail Hall during the period 

that he and his family occupied the structure in the early 1850s (figs 3.12-13).
204

  

While the earliest of these sketches provided Helmore with a partial record of the 

exterior of the building, the two other drawings documented the appearance of 

the living area.  These drawings informed both the contents of this area of the 

display and its arrangement, with articles associated with the Barker family being 

used to recreate as closely as possible the appearance of the space as Barker had 

recorded it in the sketch dated 28 February 1851.   

 

Regardless of whether the display represented a specific or generic historical 

interior, each room was carefully stage-managed to heighten the illusionism of 

the scene.  This illusion of reality relied not only on the detailing of the 

architecture and the contents of the rooms, but also on a number of effects that 

were used to imply occupancy.  In almost all of the rooms mannequins were used 

to stand in for the early Cantabrians who would have inhabited such spaces.  

Considered by the organisers to be an integral feature of the period rooms, the 

models were not simply placed within the displays, but were instead posed in 

such a way as to suggest that they had been frozen in the midst of activity.
205

  In 

Studding Sail Hall, for example, mannequins representing Dr. Barker’s wife, 
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Sarah, and her companion, Laetitia Bowen, could be found sewing, while the 

young A.L. Barker played at their feet.  In some rooms other props were also 

employed.  In Lyttelton Cottage, for example, the remains of a fire could be seen 

on the top of the colonial oven, while elsewhere in the room a leg of meat, dried 

flowers and some onions were suspended from the ceiling.  The realistic effect 

sought by the organisers appears to have been a success, with the illusion of 

reality repeatedly being praised in the press that surrounded the exhibition.
206

   

 

When the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition opened in August 1950, the period 

rooms were accompanied by a short brochure the size of a folded A4 page that 

included a brief introduction to the Early Canterbury Hall and its main 

features.
207

  By November 1950 further information about the displays was 

available in the form of a guidebook.
208

  Introducing the displays in 

chronological order, the guidebook commented on the design of the individual 

displays and their contents, encouraging visitors to make comparisons between 

the different living conditions that they each represented.  Supplementing the 

text, an inventory of the items that were displayed in each of the rooms was also 

supplied.  These lists not only identified the owners of the historic artefacts that 

were on display, but recorded each object’s date of arrival in New Zealand 

(where known) and any association that it had with local personalities or 

historical events.       
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The catalogue, however, provides only a partial glimpse of the exhibition.  In 

April 1951 the museum took the opportunity to make a number of small changes 

to the period rooms.
209

  Individual pieces of furniture and other artefacts were 

removed from some of the rooms at this time, while in other areas new material 

was incorporated into the displays.  In Christchurch House and the Victorian 

Room striking changes were also made to the human dramas played out by the 

mannequins (figs 3.14-16).  In the Christchurch House Bedroom, for example, a 

second figure was added while in the Christchurch House Drawing Room and 

the Victorian Room the mannequin groups were modified to enhance the 

narrative effect of the display.  In order to accommodate the occupants’ new 

activities, minor alterations were also made to the layouts of these three rooms.  

Following these changes, the displays appear to have remained largely unaltered 

until the closure of the exhibition on 31 May 1951. 

 

 

The Hall of Folk Culture, 1951-1955 

 

Capturing the imagination of the local public, the Early Colonists Exhibition was 

reportedly seen by over 77,000 paying visitors during the nine months that it was 

open.
210

  The event also received a positive reception from the museum 

authorities, with the President of the Canterbury Museum Trust Board, James L. 

Hay, describing the event as being ‘without doubt the most successful exhibition 
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in the museum’s history.’
211

  Deeming the exhibition to be a great achievement, 

Helmore and Duff approached the British journal Country Life to run an article 

about the displays, a request that resulted in a two-page spread in the magazine in 

August 1951.
212

  In his letter to the Editor, Duff explicitly linked the popularity 

of the exhibition with the display techniques that had been used, remarking that 

the exhibition’s success reflected ‘the interest created by the first large-scale 

introduction in New Zealand of the period room as a method of reconstructing 

our Colonial past.’
213

   

 

While most of the artefacts that had been used to stage the Canterbury Colonists 

Exhibition were returned to their owners following its closure in May 1951, the 

event had a lasting impact on the Canterbury Museum.  In addition to the influx 

of donations of ‘Early Colonist’ material that the museum received in preparation 

for the opening of the exhibition, its development helped to fuel plans for the 

creation of more permanent displays.
214

  Looking back on the Canterbury 

Colonists Exhibition in 1959, Duff noted that he had frequently discussed the 

idea of developing a permanent ‘Colonial Display’ with Helmore, Reynolds and 

other enthusiasts in the build-up to the Canterbury centennial.
215

  At the time, 

however, the creation of permanent displays was prevented by the fact that the 

museum had insufficient space to accommodate new material without 

eliminating existing themes from the galleries.      
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The museum’s interest in colonial history, however, came at a fortuitous time.  

As early as 1946, a proposal had been put forward by the museum authorities 

that the museum building should be enlarged and remodelled as a permanent 

memorial to the Canterbury centennial.
216

  Legislation regarding the future 

maintenance and development of the museum was subsequently drawn up, with 

the local authorities taking over financial responsibility for the institution in 

September 1947.
217

  Shortly after the new management structure came into effect 

in April 1948, a public meeting was held to further discuss the development of 

the museum.
218

  The idea received a positive public response, and in March the 

following year the proposal was officially endorsed by the Christchurch City 

Council.  Against this background, the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition came to 

be seen by the museum authorities both as a preview of the Early Colonists 

gallery that they planned to install following the construction of this substantial 

new wing and of the types of display strategies that they hoped would be 

employed throughout the museum as a result of the widespread redevelopment of 

the public galleries.
219

 

 

Due to the ambitious scale of the project, it was soon realised that planning for 

these major changes to the museum building would continue well into the 1950s.  

In the months following the opening of the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition, 
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attention thus turned to the question of how the museum could best make use the 

former Ethnology Hall after its closure in 1951.  Rather than reinstall the 

displays that had been removed in preparation for the exhibition, the museum 

authorities resolved to use the hall to create a more permanent preview of the 

types of displays that they hoped to install as part of the upcoming 

redevelopment.
220

  As early as April 1951, the decision had been made to retain 

the FitzGerald Cabin and Lyttelton Cottage as part of a new suite of displays.  

The Early Colonists Exhibition Committee and the Women’s Kitchen Committee 

thus began the task of securing, either on extended loan or via donation, the 

material necessary to furnish the displays, which were to remain in place until 

such time as work on the redevelopment could begin.
221

 

 

Following the closure of the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition in May 1951, work 

immediately commenced on the task of returning display items to their respective 

owners and de-installing the unwanted displays, including the framework of both 

Studding Sail Hall and the Victorian Room, which were completely dismantled 

at this time.  Renamed the ‘Hall of Folk Culture’, the gallery was subsequently 

divided into two parts by a large curved screen that ran diagonally down the 

length of the hall.  Under the leadership of Reynolds, a new Early Colonial 

Section was developed for the space located to the south-west of this wall, while 

to the north-east, a new suite of displays devoted to South Seas material was 

installed by the museum’s display staff.   
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Officially opened on 4 April 1952, the displays that made up the Early Colonial 

Section began at the south end of the gallery with the diorama of Lyttelton 

Harbour, the mural of the voyage out, and a display of scrimshaw that had all 

been installed in 1950 in preparation for the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition.
222

  

The displays continued along the west wall of the gallery with the FitzGerald 

Cabin, the Lyttelton Cottage Bedroom and the Lyttelton Cottage Kitchen.  These 

were followed by two new displays, one containing evening dresses of the 1870s 

and the other day dresses of the same period, which Reynolds developed in the 

former Christchurch House Bedroom and Drawing Room.  Along the opposite 

wall, the section concluded with a display of English fashion plates covering the 

period 1790-1910 and a diorama of Ferrymead railway station in 1863.    

 

Although no photographic record appears to have been made of either the 

FitzGerald Cabin or the Lyttelton Cottage rooms after June 1951, contemporary 

press reports and other written sources provide some clues as to the appearance 

of these three displays following the opening of the Early Colonists Section.  

While few, if any, changes were made to the fixed décor of the rooms, some 

modifications were made to the manner in which they were furnished.  From a 

series of partial inventories that were made to accompany each of the displays, it 

is clear that the museum managed to retain much of the furniture that had 

previously been shown in the three rooms.
223

  Where this was not the case, new 

material was brought in to complete the ensemble.  Some rearrangement of the 

furniture also took place, with several pieces being relocated from one display to 
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another.  The single extension couch, for example, was moved from the cabin to 

the Lyttelton Cottage Bedroom, while the spinning wheel and sea chest from this 

room were relocated to the Kitchen.    

 

While little information regarding the other types of artefacts that were displayed 

in the each of the rooms survives, these too appear to have been a mix of the old 

and the new.  Among those items that are known to have been retained are a 

Dutch wall clock and a baby’s bath that remained on display in the Lyttelton 

Cottage Kitchen and Bedroom respectively while new items included a white 

porcelain vanity set, which was relocated from the Christchurch House Bedroom 

to Lyttelton Cottage.
224

  Four mannequins dressed in reproduction costume of the 

1950s were also added to the Lyttelton Cottage displays, with one male and one 

female figure being shown the Kitchen and a boy and a girl being shown in the 

Bedroom. 

 

Complementing the three refurbished period rooms, the two new displays of 

‘period costumes’ that were developed for the Early Colonists Section 

showcased mannequin groups alongside a selection of furniture and various 

objets d’art from the museum’s collection and those of private lenders.  While 

velvet curtains were installed in the former Christchurch House Bedroom to 

provide a more neutral backdrop for the articles that were displayed there, the 

former Christchurch House Drawing Room was refurnished in the manner of a 

Victorian drawing room.  From a partial inventory that was created in connection 

with the display it is known that the scene was composed of a range of furniture, 
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including a square topped piano, a couch, and a bookcase, as well as a diverse 

selection of ornaments and pictures.
225

  Against this backdrop, two female 

figures were shown engaged in conversation on the couch, while across the room 

a young woman sat playing the piano.  A fourth figure is described as having 

been seated ‘engrossed with a stereoscope’.
226

      

 

With the exception of the Fitzgerald Cabin, which appears to have remained 

largely unchanged between the opening of the Early Colonists Section in 1952 

and its closure in 1955, the displays in this area continued to grow and evolve 

over the course of this same period.
227

  Within a year of the section being 

opened, the Victorian Parlour scene was redeveloped to accommodate a display 

of wedding dresses, with measures being taken to conceal the remaining décor of 

the room at this time.
228

  By 1953 concerns had been raised regarding the 

deterioration of articles in the Lyttelton Cottage rooms and the decision was 

made to glaze the front of the two displays.
229

  In preparation for the installation 

of the new wall, both the Bedroom and the Kitchen were at least partially de-

installed, with some of the items being lent to the local firm A.J. Whites in 

October that year for the purpose of setting up a period room in their main 

window.
230

  While the content of the Kitchen was subsequently reinstated, 

Reynolds took the opportunity to completely refurnish the former Lyttelton 
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Cottage Bedroom.
231

  Re-presented as a ‘Sitting-Room in a Cob House of the 

Fifties’, the new display contained a number of the pieces that had been removed 

from the Victorian Parlour scene earlier that year as well as a number of more 

recent acquisitions.  Not missing an opportunity to showcase more of the textile 

collection, Reynolds also incorporated five female figures dressed in period 

costume into the new scene. 

 

Throughout the early 1950s work also continued on raising funds for the 

Centennial Memorial Wing.  As part of the fundraising effort, the museum 

authorities organised ‘Museum Week’, a week-long festival of events that was 

held in March 1953.  In addition to hosting a series of lectures and film 

screenings, the museum worked with local businesses to stage a series of 

temporary displays in shop windows around central Christchurch.
232

  Designed to 

highlight the breadth of material that the museum would be able to display once 

the expansion and refurbishment of the building was complete, each of the 

displays featured material from a different area of the museum’s collection.   

 

Following the model offered by the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition, the Early 

Colonists Collection was represented by an ‘Early Colonists room’, a display of 

living room furniture and household effects created on the premises of Calder 

MacKay on Worchester Street.  Specialising in the sale of furniture and 

furnishings, Calder MacKay was able to supply the museum with a large display 
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window complete with an existing decorative scheme that included floral wall 

paper and a large fireplace.
233

  Against this backdrop, the museum showcased a 

diverse array of furnishings representative of those found in Canterbury living 

rooms in the 1850s, including a Mahogany folding table previously owned by 

Dr. Barker and a single extension couch donated to the museum by the 

Cholmondeley family, which had both previously featured in the Canterbury 

Colonists Exhibition (fig 3.17).
234

  Like the former, the room even featured a 

costumed mannequin.  However, while the display shared many characteristics 

with its earlier counterparts, it also differed in important ways.  In contrast to the 

rooms that had been created for the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition, less 

emphasis was placed on recreating the layout of the type of space that was being 

represented or on creating the illusion of viewing a real interior.  Written 

interpretation also featured prominently within the displays, with labels being 

used to identify the provenance of all the larger pieces of furniture.   

 

With the help of fundraising events such as Museum Week, the Canterbury 

Museum was soon well on the way to raising the funds necessary to cover the 

cost of constructing the Centennial Memorial Wing.  In preparation for the 

widespread redevelopment of the building, the museum was closed to the public 

on 9 September 1955.
235

  By April 1956, building contractors were on site and 

construction of the new wing commenced.  At the same time, work began on the 

task of progressively de-installing, renovating and redeveloping each of the 

museum’s existing display galleries.  The Early Colonists Section remained in 

                                                 
233

 For information about Calder MacKay see: Wises New Zealand Post Office Directory, 1950-

51, p. 988. 
234

 A label that was located at the front of the display identified the material as having been ‘in 

use in a living room during the first ten years of the Canterbury settlement.’  See: fig 3.17. 
235

 CMAR, 1956, p. 5. 



 101 

place until July 1958 when attention turned to the Hall of Folk Culture.
236

  The 

majority of the hall was cleared at this time, including those areas occupied by 

Lyttelton Cottage and the former Christchurch House rooms.   

 

 

Canterbury Colonists Galleries 

 

On 10 November 1958 the Canterbury Museum was officially reopened to the 

public.  Due to the ambitious scale of the project, the redevelopment of the 

display galleries was only partially complete at the time of opening.  Of the nine 

galleries that were reopened, six were still in the process of redevelopment while 

the remainder of the museum building remained closed pending the installation 

of new displays.
237

  Among the areas of the building that remained closed were 

the Canterbury Colonists Galleries, a new suite of displays devoted to the Early 

Colonists theme.  Work on these displays, however, subsequently progressed 

quickly, with the completed galleries being officially opened on 16 December 

1959.  Located in the original 1870 wing of the museum building and part of the 

adjacent 1872 wing, the new galleries consisted of an L-shaped replica 

streetscape, two suites of period rooms, and a period costume gallery that were 

designed to immerse visitors in the history of early Canterbury and bring that 

past vividly to life. 

 

As noted earlier in this chapter, the idea of developing a suite of permanent 

displays on the Early Colonists theme appears to date to the mid 1940s when the 
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museum authorities began to discuss the future development of the museum 

building.
238

  Further momentum was gained in the build-up to the opening of the 

Canterbury Colonists Exhibition in 1950, when Duff began to discuss the 

creation of such displays with Helmore, Reynolds and other interested parties.
239

  

In the wake of this event, Reynolds remained on as the museum’s Honorary 

Custodian of Period Costume, with the role soon expanding to include all 

colonial exhibits.  In this capacity, Reynolds worked tirelessly both to maintain 

the Early Colonists Section in the Hall of Folk Culture and to prepare for the 

creation of the proposed new displays.  The correspondence, notebooks and 

drawings that she produced between 1951 and 1959 certainly attest to the fact 

that she was involved in all aspects of the planning process, from the 

development of the collection and the design of the new displays, to the process 

of securing the external funding necessary to finance the cost of installing them.   

 

One of the first challenges that Reynolds faced in designing the Canterbury 

Colonists Galleries was finding a suitable location for the displays within the 

museum building.  In the early stages of the planning process, a space in the new 

Centennial Memorial Wing was allocated for the purposes of installing an ‘Early 

Colonist Hall’.  This plan, however, was later abandoned after it was realised that 

the lofty ceilings in this area of the building were not suited to the types of 

displays that were envisioned for this section.  After numerous discussions on the 

matter, the 1870 wing, which consisted of a single gallery with a mezzanine floor 

above, and the two galleries on the ground floor of the adjacent 1872 wing were 
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selected.  These areas of the museum, Reynolds wrote, were an ideal location for 

the new Early Colonists section because they had both ‘an intimate charm’ and 

‘the right architecture’, having been constructed in the period that was being 

represented.
240

  It was also noted that the use of three different gallery spaces as 

opposed to a single large space had practical benefits, reducing the cost of 

installation by reducing the amount of framework that was required for the 

displays. 

 

Once the location of the new Early Colonists section had been finalised, the task 

of designing the displays commenced.  One of the earliest records regarding the 

arrangement of the galleries comes in the form of a letter that Reynolds wrote to 

Helmore in 1957.
241

  Among the displays that Reynolds envisioned for the 

galleries at this time were two replica streetscapes, one representing the 1860s 

and the other the 1890s, ‘a large room of the Georgian period’, ‘a cob cottage’ 

and a period room on an unspecified theme.  In addition to these elements, 

Reynolds hoped that the mezzanine gallery in the 1870 wing could be floored 

over to accommodate a further three period rooms and that a fourth room could 

be accommodated on the ground floor at the north end of the 1870s wing.  As 

plans for the galleries progressed, however, the layout of the displays changed 

dramatically.  By the time that Reynolds came to prepare detailed working 

drawings later that same year, the idea of including a streetscape representing the 
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1890s had been discarded and the number of period rooms had been reduced, 

with new displays being developed to take their place.
242

   

 

While the inclusion of period rooms in the design for the new Canterbury 

Colonists Galleries was no doubt influenced by the work that had been done at 

the Canterbury Museum itself since the late 1940s, the introduction of a recreated 

historical streetscape was strongly influenced by ‘Kirkgate’, a re-created 

Victorian streetscape that formed the centrepiece of the York Castle Museum in 

York, England.
243

  Designed by the museum’s founder, Dr. John L. Kirk, in the 

late 1930s, Kirkgate showcased everyday objects from the past against the 

backdrop of historic shop fronts and interiors that had been salvaged from 

buildings across Britain.  Light and sound effects were also used to enhance the 

Victorian atmosphere of the display environment.
244

  While it is unclear whether 

Reynolds had the opportunity to view these displays first-hand, both Duff and 

Helmore are known to have visited the museum.  Helmore was particularly 

impressed by the displays, writing to Duff that Kirkgate was ‘quite the best thing 

of its kind that I have seen on my travels’ and that the museum should ‘try and 

do something like it on a small scale.’
245

   

 

As few details regarding the process of designing the Canterbury Colonists 

Galleries survive, little is known about how the design of the period rooms 

developed over time.  Of the six rooms that came to feature in the final layout of 
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the galleries, Reynolds was responsible for designing the décor of the three-room 

Cob House and the Victorian Room.  The remaining displays, which became 

known as the Georgian Room and the Stuart Room respectively, were designed 

by Helmore.
246

  While the earliest known descriptions of the Cob House and the 

Victorian Room post-date the start of construction, a detailed description of 

Helmore’s plans for the Georgian and Stuart rooms appear in a letter that 

Reynolds wrote to a contact in England in early November 1957.
247

  The letter, 

which provides a number of details regarding the interior finishes and the 

contents of both of the Georgian and Stuart rooms, indicates that many aspects of 

these displays had been finalised by this time. 

 

In August 1957 the museum received an estimate for the cost of constructing the 

Canterbury Colonists Galleries from local builder, L.E. Kilburn.
248

  As the cost 

of the project greatly exceeded the income of the museum, Reynolds worked 

with the local business community to secure sponsors for each of the major 

displays, including each of the storefronts that were to make up the streetscape.  

A commercial sponsor was also found for the Georgian Room, with the cost of 

installation being partially funded by the local auctioneering firm, H.G. 
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Livingstone.
249

  By contrast, funding for the remaining period rooms were sought 

from the wider community.  The cost of installing the Cob House was met by 

means of a £600 donation from the Canterbury Pilgrims and Early Settlers 

Association, while an appeal to the descendants of Dr. A.C. Barker resulted in a 

donation of £130 towards the cost of installing the Victorian Room.
250

  The 

remaining costs, including that of installing the Stuart Room, were met by the 

Canterbury Museum Trust Board.   

 

By early 1958 L.E. Kilburn was on site and work commenced on the task of 

constructing the framework of the displays.
251

  Following the reopening of the 

museum in November 1958, members of the museum’s display staff were also 

on hand to assist with the installation process.  The museum’s Preparator, 

Raymond J. Jacobs (1906-1974, Preparator 1940-1972), played a particularly 

active role in the installation of the period rooms, where he was involved in 

simulating the appearance of cob on the walls of the Cob House, painting the 

Victorian Room, and preparing backdrops for the windows in the pre-colonial 

rooms.
252

  Additional assistance was offered by numerous firms and individuals, 

who contributed in various ways to the decoration of the Victorian and Georgian 

Rooms.
253

  In addition to overseeing both the construction of the displays and the 
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arrangement of the collection material, Reynolds created around 70 wigs for the 

mannequins that were to occupy the galleries.
254

   

 

By the end of July 1958, the framework of the pre-colonial period rooms was in 

place and the process of decorating the three rooms commenced.
255

  By early 

November that year, the framework of the Cob House was also complete, with 

Reynolds able to report that the display was being painted and that the task of 

setting up the furnishings and figures would soon begin.
256

  In July 1959 

Reynolds hosted representatives of the Press on a private tour of the partially 

completed galleries.  Photographs of the Cob House Kitchen and Bedroom that 

accompanied this article show that the process of furnishing these two rooms was 

almost complete by this time.
257

  By contrast, work continued in the Victorian 

and pre-colonial period rooms, with the article reporting that the furniture in 

these areas was yet to be arranged.   

 

Officially opened on Wednesday 16 December 1959, the opening of the 

Canterbury Colonist Galleries was timed to coincide with the anniversary of the 

arrival of the Canterbury Association’s first four ships at Port Cooper (now 

Lyttelton Harbour) in December 1850.
258

  Following the route prescribed by 

Reynolds in the guidebook that accompanied the displays, a visit to the galleries 

commenced on the ground floor of the 1872 wing with ‘Wakefield Square’, a 

series of four replica store-fronts representative of early Canterbury firms that 
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were used to showcase artefacts from the museum’s collection.  Turning the 

corner into the 1870 wing, the displays continued along ‘Christchurch Street’ 

with a further eight shop-fronts and a three-roomed cob house, while along the 

east side of the hall ‘Captain Thomas Street’ led out of the gallery to the Hall of 

Transport (figs 3.18-19).  In order to further evoke the atmosphere of a mid 

nineteenth-century streetscape, the floor of the two galleries were finished in 

such a way as to resemble a gravel roadway and historical light fixtures were 

used to illuminate the displays.   

 

Having looked at Christchurch Street, visitors were encouraged to ascend the 

stairs to the mezzanine floor to view the Period Costume Gallery, where 

mannequin groups dressed in nineteenth-century outfits and accessories were 

staged against the backdrop of a series of tableaux scenes.  One of the displays, 

for example, featured two women and a small boy in clothing from the 1870s 

admiring birds in an aviary, while elsewhere in the gallery two female 

mannequins dressed in gowns of the Empire period were shown against the 

backdrop of a painted English garden scene.  Returning downstairs, visitors 

completed their tour with a visit to the Period Room Gallery.  Located in the 

former Fossil Room on the ground floor of the 1872 wing, the displays in this 

area included a suite of three period rooms representative of the Victorian, 

Georgian and Stuart periods, as well as two wall cases devoted to the display of 

period furniture, objets d’art and armour. 

 

Like the period rooms that had been created for the Canterbury Colonists 

Exhibition nine years earlier, those installed in the Canterbury Colonists 
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Galleries were designed to both showcase material from the museum’s collection 

and to illustrate the conditions in which earlier generations lived.  Consisting of a 

kitchen, a sitting room and a bedroom, the Cob House was designed to represent 

the interior of small cob cottage of the 1850s (figs 3.20-21).
259

  Supplementing 

this display, the Period Room Gallery presented a Canterbury drawing room of 

the 1860s alongside representations of two interiors that pre-dated the 

colonisation of New Zealand (figs 3.22-24).
260

  The first of these displays, the 

Georgian Room, showed a drawing room of the first half of the Eighteenth 

Century, while the last display in the sequence, the Stuart Room, represented a 

small chamber in a manor house of the Seventeenth Century.  Like many of their 

predecessors, there is no evidence to suggest that any of these displays were 

based on a single, identifiable historical interior, with each of the rooms instead 

being designed to create a composite picture a specific type of interior in a 

particular period. 

 

While all of the period rooms in the Canterbury Colonists Galleries shared a 

common underlying function, two different approaches were taken in terms of 

their structure.  In contrast to the period rooms that had previously been installed 

at the Canterbury Museum, the Cob House did not operate as a stand-alone 

exhibit.  Located along Christchurch Street, the display formed part of a wider 

immersive environment that was designed to evoke the atmosphere of an early 

Canterbury streetscape.  In keeping with this aim, Reynolds attempted to 

integrate the display into the wider setting by installing a façade along the front 

edge of the display, with three small viewing windows being used to provide 
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visual access to the interior.  In order to evoke the architecture of a building, the 

wall surface was scored to simulate the look of weathered cob and a series of 

diamond-paned windows that had been salvaged from the former Lyttelton 

residence of John Robert Godley were installed.
261

  By contrast, no attempt was 

made in the Period Room Gallery to integrate the displays into a wider setting, 

with the interiors of the Victorian, Georgian and Stuart rooms each being viewed 

through a large plate-glass window. 

 

Like their predecessors, the interiors of the period rooms in the Canterbury 

Colonists Galleries were designed to provide a detailed architectural backdrop 

against which to understand their contents.  In addition to the windows that 

featured along the front of the Cob House, the cottage interior featured numerous 

architectural details, including windows, doors, and exposed timber rafters.  In 

several cases these elements were used to suggest the presence of unseen spaces.  

A panel door that was located in the back wall of the Kitchen, for example, was 

described by Reynolds as leading to a servant’s bedroom and a porch at the back 

of the house, while the narrow, twisting staircase in the Living Room was used to 

indicate the presence of attic bedrooms above.
262

  In the Period Room Gallery 

architectural elements were also integrated into the design of each of the rooms.  

The Victorian Room, for example, featured a large French window, moulded 

skirting boards and a large cast iron fireplace, while in the Stuart Room a large 

brick fireplace formed the centrepiece of the west wall. 
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Complementing the architectural details that were incorporated into the design of 

each of the rooms, an attempt was also made to recreate or evoke historical wall 

finishes.  In the Cob House, tongue-and-groove boards were used in the 

construction of the wall between the kitchen and the living room, while 

elsewhere in the cottage the walls were painted to evoke the appearance of cob.  

Further wall treatments were illustrated in the Period Room Gallery.  In the 

Victorian Room the walls were hung with boldly patterned wallpaper, while in 

the adjacent Georgian Room, pale green coloured brocade was installed above 

the line of the timber dado.  The décor in the adjacent Stuart Room was entirely 

different again, with the walls in this area being lined with stained timber 

panelling, plaster and brick. 

 

In order to ensure that every detail within the frame of the individual displays 

contributed to the illusion of reality, painted murals were again used behind the 

windows in many of the rooms.  In the Cob House, the windows in the back wall 

of the display looked out onto two scenes of early Christchurch painted nine 

years earlier for use in Christchurch House.
263

  In the Period Room Gallery, two 

new scenes were created by Jacobs for the displays.  Located beyond the French 

window in the Victorian Room, the first of these scenes represented Dr. Barker’s 

garden on Worchester Street, while in the Stuart Room the window looked out 

onto a park with grazing deer.
264

   

 

                                                 
263

 Canterbury Museum, 1960, p. 50. 
264

 The scene of Dr. Barker’s garden includes a large gum tree, which frequently appeared in 

photographs that the surgeon took of local personalities at his home.  Canterbury Museum, 1960, 

p. 5.   



 112 

Designed to illustrate how early Cantarbrians lived, the Cob House and the 

Victorian Room were both furnished with an array of furniture, ornaments, 

pictures, utensils and textiles from the museum’s Early Colonists collection.  

While some of this material had previously been displayed either in the 

Canterbury Colonists Exhibition or in the Hall of Folk Culture, most of the 

artefacts that were used in these four period rooms were accessioned in 

preparation for the opening of the new galleries.  In each of these rooms, the 

furnishings were arranged in such a manner as to evoke the appearance of a 

lived-in residence.  This effect was enhanced by the use of props, including an 

artificial leg of meat in the Cob House Kitchen and the remnants of a fire in each 

of the fireplaces.  Each of the rooms was also occupied by a group of 

mannequins that were used to both showcase costumes and accessories and to 

‘bring an air of life’ to each of the scenes.
265

 

 

By contrast, a more art-historical approach was taken in both the Georgian and 

Stuart rooms, where furnishings from the museum’s collection of European 

decorative and applied arts were shown alongside several pieces from the 

collection of the Victoria and Albert Museum in London and Helmore’s private 

collection.
266

  In addition to being more sparsely furnished than their ‘colonial’ 

counterparts, the Georgian and Stuart rooms contained few of the commonplace 

and everyday items that characterised the furnishing of the other rooms.  

Narrative incidents nevertheless continued to be introduced to the displays via 

the use of mannequins.  In the Stuart Room a mother sat in front of the fireplace, 

cautioning her husband not to wake the baby in the cradle beside her while in the 
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Georgian Room one of the female mannequins was shown entertaining a pet 

monkey. 

 

Supplementing the contents of the period rooms, the Period Furniture Case 

showcased a range of furniture and porcelain representative of a number of 

different periods alongside two mannequins in pre-colonial clothing (fig 3.25).  

Located opposite the Victorian and pre-colonial rooms, this display did not 

attempt to recreate a domestic interior in its entirety.  Like the period rooms, 

however, the design of the display was informed by a strong desire to show 

collection items in their historical context.  Attempting to evoke the décor of 

some of Canterbury’s more elaborately decorated homesteads, the walls of the 

case were lined with silk brocade from the former drawing room of Holly Lea, a 

historic residence located on nearby Manchester Street that had been built in 

1899.
267

  The décor of a room was further evoked by means of a skirting board 

that ran around the bottom edge of the case.  Offering an alternative to the full-

scale period room, it is notable that the use of this display strategy would be 

further developed at the Canterbury Museum for the display of European 

furniture in the years that followed. 

 

At the time that the Canterbury Colonists Galleries opened in 1959, signage was 

kept to a minimum.  In Wakefield Square and Christchurch Street, for example, 

signage was limited to the sign writing that appeared on the façades of the 

individual shops, while in the Period Room Gallery each of the displays was 

accompanied by a single label identifying the period represented.  Information 
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about the displays was instead supplied in the form of an illustrated guidebook 

that was issued by the museum in March 1960.
268

  Written by Reynolds, the 

guidebook provided a brief outline regarding the history of Canterbury and the 

establishment of Christchurch, as well as an introduction to each of the displays 

and an inventory of their contents.  In regards to the period rooms, Reynolds’ 

interpretation of the displays consistently highlighted the relationship between 

the décor that was shown and the history that it represented.  In the text that 

accompanied the Cob House, for example, Reynolds outlined the process of 

constructing a cob cottage and commented on the technology that would have 

been available to the residents of such buildings in the 1850s.  Melding fact with 

fiction, Reynolds also drew attention to the narratives being played out by the 

mannequins, using the text to both identify individual characters and relate their 

activities to the period being represented. 

 

 

Beyond the Canterbury Colonists Galleries, 1958-1980 

 

Following the removal of the Early Colonists Section in 1957, work began on the 

task of refurbishing the former Hall of Folk Culture.  Renamed the Hall of 

Transport and Shipping, the gallery was one of six that was reinstalled with a 

combination of old and new displays in preparation for the reopening of the 

museum in November 1958.  Building on the former Early Colonists Section, the 

displays in this gallery addressed a number of themes relating to early European 

settlement in the Canterbury region, including the voyage out, whaling and 
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shipping, and land transport.
269

  Among the existing displays that were retained 

as part of the refurbishment process were the diorama of the first four ships in 

Lyttelton Harbour and the former FitzGerald Cabin.  Although no record of 

cabin’s appearance survives from this period, notes regarding the redevelopment 

project indicate that several changes were made to the display at this time, 

including the installation of a plate-glass viewing window at the front of the 

display and the addition of an access door.
270

  A fire detector was also installed 

within the cabin as part of the wider upgrade of the services in the hall.   

 

In 1965 the task of redeveloping the displays in the Hall of Transport and 

Shipping resumed.
271

  Renamed the Hall of Colonial Settlement, the area was 

designed to serve as an introduction to the Canterbury Colonists Galleries.  Upon 

its completion in 1980, the gallery covered a range of themes regarding life in 

early Canterbury, including whaling, gold mining, and the arrival of the first four 

ships.
272

  Complementing the style of display that had been used in the adjacent 

galleries, reconstructions played a major role in the new hall.  Between 1967 and 

1971 a reconstruction of an early banking chamber on the Hokitika goldfields in 

the 1860s and dioramas representing an Akaroa blockhouse and a gold mining 

scene at Ross were installed.
273

  The last of the displays to be installed in this 

gallery, a replica streetscape representing a rural Canterbury township in the 

early years of settlement, opened in late March 1980.  Designed by Reynolds 
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prior to her retirement in 1977, the streetscape consisted of a Blacksmith’s forge, 

a one-teacher school, a butchery, an accommodation house, and a simulated dirt 

road complete with a Cobb and Co. coach pulled by two model horses.
274

 

 

In preparation for the installation of these displays, the former FitzGerald Cabin 

was relocated to another site within the gallery around 1965 and refurbished.
275

  

A photograph that was taken in the late 1960s or early 1970s shows that several 

changes were made to the interior of the cabin as a result of its relocation, 

including the installation of a new mural seascape (fig 3.26).  While the cabin 

retained much of the furniture that it had been used to display since the opening 

of the Early Colonists Section in 1952, modifications were also made around this 

time to the manner in which the cabin was furnished.  No longer attempting to 

recreate the layout of FitzGerald’s cabin, the arrangement of the display was 

adapted to accommodate new pieces of furniture as well as a large number of 

other domestic artefacts.
276

  Significant changes were also made in terms of the 

lighting of the room, with a period light fitting being incorporated into the 

lighting scheme for the first time in its history. 

 

In the 1960s and 1970s attention also turned to spaces beyond the walls of the 

museum building.  Over the course of these two decades, members of staff were 

called on by a number of smaller local museums to assist in the planning and 

installation of displays.  As part of this process the Museum assisted in the 

creation of a number of period rooms, including those that were installed at 
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Akaroa Museum in 1964 and Rangiora Museum in 1976.
277

  In the early 1970s 

the museum also collaborated with the Christchurch City Council on the 

transformation of the city’s oldest surviving residential dwelling into a house 

museum, supplying 70 domestic artefacts from its collection to furnish the 

recently restored structure.
278

     

 

 

Removal and Redevelopment 

 

Following the opening of the Canterbury Colonists Galleries in 1959 it appears 

that few changes were made to the period rooms in this gallery.  While 

adjustments were no doubt made to the displays as part of their ongoing 

maintenance, these changes are likely to have been relatively minor.  The 

detailed summaries of the museum’s activities that were published in its annual 

reports certainly indicate that the attention of its staff lay elsewhere throughout 

the 1960s and early 1970s, with no reference being made to the period rooms.  

This assertion is further supported by a photograph of the Georgian Room that 

appeared on the cover of the museum’s annual report for the period 1971-1972, 

which records that while some alterations had been made to the attire and 
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arrangement of the mannequin group, the layout of the furnishings in this room 

remained largely unchanged (fig 3.27).   

 

In 1969 the Canterbury Museum entered its hundredth year of operation.  To 

celebrate this important milestone, a substantial new wing was constructed 

between 1973 and 1977.  As part of the development of the Hundredth 

Anniversary Wing, several of the existing public galleries were closed in April 

1974.
279

  The Period Room Gallery, which was to become one of the main 

thoroughfares between the new and existing galleries, was among the affected 

areas.  Following its closure, Reynolds and the museum’s newly appointed 

Assistant Curator of Colonial Collections, Jennifer Quérée, took the opportunity 

to substantially redevelop the displays in this area.  While the Victorian Room 

was retained as part of the new suite of displays, both the Georgian and Stuart 

rooms were de-installed at this time.
280

  A temporary exhibition entitled Two 

Centuries of Curtains and Covers was installed in the space formerly occupied by 

Georgian Room, while the former Stuart Room was remodelled as an early 

nineteenth-century photographer’s studio.  The contents of cases opposite the 

period rooms were also redeveloped, with a selection of Victorian chairs being 

installed in preparation for the opening of the Hundredth Anniversary Wing in 

March 1977. 

 

While the reasons for removing the pre-colonial rooms from the Period Room 

Gallery went unrecorded, the decision was no doubt informed by developments 

that had occurred at the museum since the opening of the Canterbury Colonists 
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Galleries in 1959.  When the Canterbury Museum reopened in 1958, furniture 

played an extremely minor role in the museum’s Hall of European Fine Arts, 

with only a single open platform being allocated for the display of such 

material.
281

  This remained the case until 1965 when the hall was redesigned by 

Helmore with the assistance of Ralph Riccalton.  Reopened in late April 1967, 

the refurbished hall showcased groups of furniture, textiles, and objets d’art 

against the backdrop of wallpapered bays that were designed to evoke rather than 

recreate domestic décor (fig 3.28).
282

  The installation of these displays not only 

provided the museum with a space in which to exhibit a broader selection of 

period furniture, but also allowed such material to be located squarely within the 

history of design as opposed to the history of European settlement in New 

Zealand.  The existence of these displays was no doubt taken into account by the 

museum’s staff when the opportunity to redevelop the Period Room Gallery 

arose in the 1970s.   

 

In October 1984 the Canterbury Museum Trust Board received a report from the 

Christchurch City Council on the condition of the museum building.
283

  In 

response to the report’s findings, an ambitious project was launched to 

strengthen and renovate the nineteenth-century wings.  From 1986 the displays in 

these areas were progressively de-installed to allow extensive work to be 
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undertaken on the structure of the building.
284

  The first of the period rooms to be 

removed was the Cabin aboard the Charlotte Jane, which was de-installed as part 

of the process of clearing the Canterbury Colonists Hall (the former Hall of 

Colonial Settlement) between 1989 and 1990.
285

  The Cob House and the 

Victorian Room followed two years later, with the displays in the 1870 and 1872 

wings being cleared between November 1992 and January 1993.
286

  When a 

modified version of Christchurch Street was installed later that decade, none of 

the period rooms were reinstated as part of the new displays (figs 3.29-30).
287

   

 

Following the removal of the period rooms, furniture and domestic artefacts 

associated with the colonial period were instead shown in the Mountfort Gallery 

of Decorative Arts and Costume, an entirely new suite of displays that opened in 

the 1870 wing on 17 September 1997.
288

  Covering over three centuries of design 

history, the displays in the Mountfort Gallery included two pairs of purpose-built 

showcases devoted to the display of furniture and objets d’art of the periods 

1600-1830s and 1830s-1930s respectively (figs 3.31-32).  In addition to locating 

furniture from the Early Colonists Collection squarely within the history of 

design rather than the history of European settlement, the Mountfort Gallery also 

marked a radical departure from the Canterbury Colonists Galleries in terms of 
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the strategies of display that it employed.  In direct contrast to the Canterbury 

Colonists Galleries, the designers of the Mountfort Gallery made no attempt to 

tailor the design of the individual displays to the period or style represented by 

their respective contents.  Attempting to display the pieces of furniture and other 

objects d’art as uniformly as possible, the design of the entire suite of displays 

was instead guided by the nineteenth-century architecture of the gallery space, 

which was restored as part of the refurbishment process. 

 

While the substantial redevelopment of the museum’s nineteenth-century display 

galleries resulted in the removal of all of the period rooms that had been created 

at the Canterbury Museum in the 1950s and 1960s, the process directly resulted 

in the installation of an entirely new kind of period environment.  Opened on 14 

April 1989, the Victorian Museum was designed to evoke the atmosphere of the 

Canterbury Museum itself in its early years.  Curated by Jennifer Quérée, the 

new displays showcased a selection of specimens and artefacts representative of 

those exhibited at the museum in the nineteenth century using the taxonomies 

and display techniques that had been used during this period (fig 3.33).
289

  A 

small room representing the office of the museum’s founder and first Director, 

Julius von Haast, also formed part of the displays (fig 3.34).  Located in the 1876 

wing, an appropriate period ambience for both the ‘gallery’ and the ‘office’ was 

provided by the former library, which was restored as closely as possible to its 

nineteenth-century appearance.  Further ambience was provided by the lighting, 

with modern replicas of the old gas lamps that were originally used to illuminate 

the museum being used in the room.   
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Recent Developments 

 

Since 2000, two new period rooms have been installed at the Canterbury 

Museum.  The first of these displays, a partial replica of Studding Sail Hall, 

opened at the museum in October 2000 (figs 3.35-38).  Representing part of the 

V-hut erected by Dr. Alfred Charles Barker in Canterbury in 1850, this exhibit 

was developed by the museum’s display staff in preparation for Heritage Week, a 

festival held in Christchurch 13-20 October 2000 to raise awareness of the city’s 

built heritage.
290

  After the festival ended, the exhibit was retained, becoming a 

permanent feature of the long-term exhibition Ngā Taonga Tuku Iho o Ngā 

Tūpuna/Treasures Left to Us by Our Ancestors, which showcases material 

associated with Māori and European settlement in the Canterbury region.   

 

On 4 July 2008, the Canterbury Museum opened Fred and Myrtle’s Paua Shell 

House, a partial replica of the former home of Fred and Myrtle Flutey at 258 

Marine Parade, Bluff (figs 3.39-41).  Occupied by the Fluteys’ for over 40 years, 

the villa became a local icon and visitor attraction in the mid-1960s when Fred 

and Myrtle began to open their home to the public.  The star attraction of the 

house was the living room, where hundreds of New Zealand paua shells were 

affixed to the wall surfaces.  The house remained open to the public until 2000, 

when Myrtle Flutey passed away.  The partial replica of the Fluteys’ home was 

installed in 2008 after the Fluteys’ collection was lent on short-term loan to the 
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Canterbury Museum by the couple’s grandson, Ross Bowen.
291

  Attempting to 

evoke the experience of visiting the original house at Bluff, the exhibit consists 

of a full-scale replica of the front façade of the house, the entrance hall and two 

front rooms as well as the front section of the property, including a driveway and 

a lawn.  Inside, the hallway and living room were furnished to recreate the 

former appearance of those at Bluff. 

 

While the partial replicas of Studding Sail Hall and the Flutey’s home continue 

the Canterbury Museum’s long history of employing period rooms as a strategy 

of display, the two exhibits differ in key ways from their earlier counterparts.  In 

direct contrast to the period rooms that were de-installed between 1989 and 1993, 

both of these displays were based on specific and well-documented historical 

interiors.  In contrast to the former replica of Studding Sail Hall, which had 

attempted to recreate the entire structure, its twenty-first century equivalent 

recreated only those areas of the hut that had been documented by Dr. Barker in 

his drawings.  In the case of the Flutey’s house, the curators relied even more 

heavily on historical documentation, making use not only of the original 

architectural plans of the building and an extensive photographic record its 

interior, but also information gathered from the house itself before the collection 

was de-installed.
292

   

 

In addition to the ever-increasing role that historical documentation has played, it 

is notable that greater emphasis has also been placed on the authenticity of the 

fabric of the displays.  Of all of the period rooms that the museum could have 
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attempted to recreate, Studding Sail Hall was one of only two for which the 

museum held a number of the original furnishings.  Taking the quest for 

authenticity one step further, the Paua Shell House was not only the first period 

room in the museum’s history to be furnished with artefacts drawn from a single 

source, but also to incorporate material salvaged from the two rooms being 

represented into the fabric of the display.
293

  These details were not lost in the 

press that surrounded the later of the two displays, where museum 

representatives repeatedly highlighted the museum’s efforts to make both the 

fabric of the display and the experience that it offered as ‘authentic’ as 

possible.
294

 

 

Replacing the guidebook model that had previously been used in connection with 

both the Canterbury Colonists Exhibition and the Canterbury Colonists Galleries, 

the curators of Studding Sail Hall and the Paua Shell House attempted to enrich 

the narratives told by the object-based elements of the individual rooms by 

integrating both text and images into the design of the displays.  In contrast to its 

earlier counterpart, the partial replica of Studding Sail Hall that was built in 2000 

is displayed alongside an extended label that provides further information about 

the settlement of the Canterbury region, the Barker family and life in Studding 

Sail Hall, as well as a diagram identifying some of the articles that are displayed 

in the hut and a large photomural of a series of V-huts.  Likewise, the Paua Shell 

House is presented alongside a number of different sources of information that 
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aim to enrich the experience of viewing the rooms, including a text-based 

information panel, a series of historical photographs of Fred and Myrtle and their 

home at Bluff, and a short video presentation.   

 

While Studding Sail Hall continues the museum’s longstanding tradition of 

having visitors view the interior of the structure from an external position, the 

Paua Shell House was designed to enable visitors not only to enter the house, but 

to walk around the two rooms with no ropes or barriers being used to separate 

visitors from the collection.  While on the surface this design feature would seem 

to distinguish the Paua Shell House from its earlier counterparts, it is in many 

ways a continuation of the quest for realism that underpinned the design of all of 

the museum’s earlier period rooms.  Where Helmore and Reynolds had relied on 

stagecraft to create the illusion of viewing a real historical interior, the decision 

to let visitors enter the Paua Shell House takes this aim one step further, 

heightening the sense of immediacy by recreating not only the appearance of the 

rooms in minute detail but also how they would have been viewed at their 

original location. 
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Chapter 4: Dominion Museum  

 

 

Making their debut in the early 1950s, period rooms formed part of the displays 

at the Dominion Museum in Wellington for over forty years.  In contrast to both 

the Otago Early Settlers Museum and the Canterbury Museum, the first period 

rooms to be installed at the Dominion Museum were not designed to represent 

New Zealand’s colonial past.  The ‘Elgar Rooms’, which opened in 1951, 

consisted of a suite of two rooms that were designed to showcase a collection of 

English period furnishings that the museum received from the estate of Ella 

Grace Elgar in 1946.  Further period rooms, both temporary and permanent, were 

created in connection with the museum in the decades that followed, culminating 

in the creation of the Colonial Cottage in 1969.  This chapter traces the history of 

these displays, looking at the circumstances in which they were installed and 

how these exhibits evolved over time. 

 

Located on the grounds behind Parliament in the Wellington suburb of 

Thorndon, the Colonial Museum opened to the public in December 1865.
295

  In 

1907 New Zealand officially became a self-governing dominion of the British 

Empire.  In keeping with the nation’s change of status, the museum also changed 

its name, becoming the Dominion Museum.  In 1930 the Government passed the 

National Art Gallery and Dominion Museum Act, which resulted in a new 
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building being erected on Mount Cook to house both the museum’s collection 

and the newly established National Art Gallery.  Designed by Gummer & Ford, 

the building was formally opened on 1 August 1936.  The Dominion Museum 

was later renamed the National Museum in 1972, before merging with the 

National Art Gallery in 1992 to form the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa 

Tongarewa (Te Papa).  Te Papa remained on site at Mount Cook until 1994 when 

the museum was relocated to its current premises on the Wellington waterfront, 

which opened in 1998.   

 

Throughout the Nineteenth Century, the collection of the Colonial Museum 

consisted primarily of natural history specimens and ethnological artefacts.  

Although some objects associated with European settlement found their way into 

the collection prior to the turn of the century, such material was not officially 

recognised as a subset of the collection until the early Twentieth Century, when a 

separate accession register was established for ‘General History’ records.
296

  A 

separate ‘Technology’ register was also later established to encompass furniture, 

machinery, and other implements of Pākehā manufacture.
297

 

 

Following the lead of the Canterbury Museum, an interest in actively acquiring 

materials associated with European settlement in New Zealand developed at the 

Dominion Museum in the 1910s.  In the annual report of 1915, the museum’s 
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Director, James Allan Thomson (1881-1928, Director 1914-1928), argued for the 

establishment of a definite museum policy, listing ‘New Zealand History’ as one 

of the major fields that should be developed at the museum.
298

  By 1916 the 

National Historical Collection had been established and Thomson launched an 

appeal for donations of historical documents, paintings, drawings and various 

other paper-based records relating to the early history of New Zealand.
299

  Work 

on the project continued for several years, with Thomson reporting in January 

1918 that the museum continued to approach relatives of early settlers for 

donations of material.
300

   

 

The National Historical Collection, however, was relatively short-lived.  In 1918 

the Wellington-based collector Alexander Horsburgh Turnbull (1868-1918) died, 

bequeathing some 55,000 volumes of books, pamphlets, periodicals and 

newspapers, and thousands of maps, manuscripts, paintings, drawings and prints 

to the State.
301

  The collection was kept together, forming the nucleus of the 

Alexander Turnbull Library (ATL), a national reference and research facility that 

opened in Turnbull’s former home in Bowen Street in June 1920.  In the months 

that followed, the paintings, historical documents and other paper-based 

materials that had been acquired for the National Historical Collection were 

transferred from the Dominion Museum to the ATL.
302

  The museum retained all 

of the artefacts that had been accessioned on the General History register, but 
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these remained small in number for over two decades, with little discussion 

surrounding the collection again until the late 1940s. 

 

Reflecting the marginal status of the General History and Technology collections 

at the Dominion Museum at this time, displays devoted to the theme of early 

European settlement in New Zealand did not feature in the public galleries until 

after the museum relocated to Mount Cook in the mid-1930s.  Substantially 

larger than its predecessor, the new building provided the museum’s Director, 

Walter Reginald Brook Oliver (1883-1957, Director 1928-1947), and his team 

with the opportunity to develop displays on a range of themes that the old 

galleries had been unable to accommodate, including a small area devoted to 

New Zealand history.
303

  Among the items that are known to have featured in this 

section are a series of enlarged photographs of various New Zealand ports, a 

communion cup and case once owned by the explorer Captain James Cook, and a 

model of his ship, the Endeavour. 

 

While the move to Mount Cook enabled the Dominion Museum to cover a more 

diverse range of themes in its public galleries, little, if any, of the museum’s 

small collection of period furniture was showcased in the new exhibition halls.  

Letters that Oliver wrote in response to offers of furniture indicate that there was 

indeed a strong resistance to the display of such items at the museum in the 

1930s and early 1940s, with the Director stating in 1941 that the management 

committee were of the opinion that it was not desirable to display articles of 

furniture ‘as the galleries in the Museum are arranged to cover only ethnological, 
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biological, and similar specimens.’
304

  The amount of space required to display 

furniture was also considered problematic, as was the large size of the galleries, 

which Oliver noted in 1937 made them unsuitable ‘for arranging Period 

rooms.’
305

   

 

Although official policy continued to marginalise furniture and other domestic 

artefacts of Pākehā manufacture well into the 1960s, an interest in this area of the 

collection gradually emerged at the Dominion Museum in the 1940s and 1950s.  

An influential figure in this process was Stanley Northcote-Bade (1906-1997), a 

local amateur historian who was approached by the museum authorities around 

1936 to advise them on matters relating to the decorative arts.
306

  Around 1944, 

Northcote-Bade presented the museum authorities with a proposal advocating for 

the establishment of a collection of decorative and applied art objects at the 

museum.
307

  In this proposal, Northcote-Bade not only encouraged the museum 

to establish an ‘Early Colonial’ section featuring locally-made artefacts 

associated with the early years of European settlement in New Zealand, but also 

actively promoted the display of such material.  Although his proposal did not 

find immediate success, he continued to advocate for the museum’s nascent 

‘colonial history’ collection, contributing greatly to its growth and public 

visibility after 1950. 
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In addition to supporting the development of the museum’s collection of 

domestic furniture and artefacts, Northcote-Bade was also a strong advocate for 

the use of period rooms.  In the proposal that he submitted to the museum 

authorities in the mid-1940s, Northcote-Bade devoted an entire section to 

outlining the types of exhibition spaces that would be required by the museum in 

order to display pieces of furniture representative of different periods to their 

best advantage.  In regards to the display of early colonial furniture, he not only 

advocated that the dimensions of the display spaces should be modelled on 

extant examples of early colonial rooms, but that an early colonial room itself 

might be re-established in the museum ‘after the style of the existing Maori 

meeting house.’
308

   

 

 

The Elgar Rooms 

 

In 1939 World War II broke out in Europe.  As the war gained momentum in the 

Pacific, the museum building was requisitioned for defence purposes, becoming 

the headquarters of the Royal New Zealand Air Force.
309

  Officially closed to the 

public on 8 June 1942, the museum’s display galleries were cleared to make way 

for the building’s new tenants.  After the military vacated the building in August 

1946, the display galleries sat vacant for two years.  During the closure period, 

Oliver retired after 18 years of service as the museum’s Director and was 

succeeded by Dr. Robert Alexander Falla (1901-1979, Director 1947-1966).  

Taking up the post in 1947, Falla’s first major task was to regain full use of the 
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museum building.  Progress towards this goal was finally made in July 1948 

when the Ministry of Works began the task of restoring and redecorating the 

interior.
310

  By March the following year, the museum had regained use of the 

entire building, enabling Falla and his team to begin installing displays in 

preparation for the re-opening of the museum on 29 September 1949.
311

 

 

The refurbishment, which enabled the museum authorities to apply contemporary 

ideas regarding museum display on a widespread scale, heralded a new era in 

terms of the use of realist display strategies at the museum.  In the natural history 

galleries, the timber stands on which New Zealand birds had previously been 

mounted were replaced by artificial branches that employed new techniques in 

modelling flowers and foliage to imitate each bird’s individual habitat.
312

  

Further displays that employed realist techniques were added to the galleries in 

the years that followed, including a series of three habitat dioramas in 1951 and a 

reconstruction of a Māori moa-hunters’ camp in Takahe Valley, Fiordland, 

which went on display in 1953.
313

   

 

It was also during the wartime closure that the Dominion Museum began 

planning its first suite of period rooms.  Opened in 1951, the ‘Elgar Rooms’ 

showcased a range of antique English furniture alongside a small selection of 

objets d’art sourced from England, China and Japan.  In contrast to both the 
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Otago Early Settlers Museum and the Canterbury Museum where local 

centennials gave momentum to the installation of the first period rooms, the 

catalyst for the creation of the Elgar Rooms was local collector, Ella Grace Elgar 

(née Pharazyn, 1869-1945), who single-handedly provided the museum with the 

collection necessary to furnish such a display.  

 

The daughter of Charles Pharazyn Junior, Ella Elgar was born into one of the 

Wairarapa’s wealthiest colonial families.
314

  Her grandfather, Charles Pharazyn, 

had been one of the country’s earliest sheep farmers, a tradition carried on by his 

sons, including Ella’s father.  In 1890 she married Charles Elgar, a sheep farmer 

who managed large tracts of land for the Pharazyn family, and the couple settled 

on Charles’ 1,134 acre Wairarapa estate, Fernside, where they prospered, 

particularly during World War I (1914-18) when the price of wool remained 

high.  The couple had one child, Enid Awa Elgar (1890-1916), who died of 

tuberculosis in 1916.  Frequent travellers, the Elgars made regular trips to 

Europe, China and Japan, where they actively acquired antique furnishings for 

the large nineteenth-century homestead on their estate.  In November 1923 

tragedy struck when the lavishly furnished homestead was destroyed by fire.
315

  

In the aftermath of the disaster, the couple commissioned Christchurch-based 

architectural firm Helmore & Cotterill to design a magnificent new homestead 

for the site, which the Elgars set about furnishing with antique furniture and 

objets d’art that they collected while travelling aboard.  The collection continued 
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to grow rapidly until 1930 when Charles died suddenly, age 75.
316

  Ella 

subsequently remained at Fernside until 1943, when she moved to Christchurch.  

The collection, however, remained in situ until after her death in August 1945.  

 

In her will, Ella bequeathed part of the substantial collection of antique 

furnishings that she and her husband had collected to the National Art Gallery in 

Wellington.
317

  The National Art Gallery, however, declined the bequest, citing 

‘exigencies of space’ as the reason for their decision.
318

  Rather than see the 

collection dispersed, the Secretary of the National Art Gallery, F.H. Bass, wrote 

to the Director of the Dominion Museum, W.R.B. Oliver, in December 1945 to 

suggest that the museum authorities consider accepting the bequest.  Oliver and 

Northcote-Bade subsequently travelled to Fernside on 19 January 1946 to view 

the material and, based on their recommendations, the museum authorities 

agreed that the bequest should be accepted.
319

  The remainder of the collection 

was dispersed by means of an auction held in April that year.
320

   

 

Under the terms of the bequest, the museum was required to erect two period 

rooms, ‘a Queen Anne and Stuart Room’ and ‘a Georgian Room’, in which to 

display the collection.
321

  These rooms, Elgar stipulated, were to consist of three 

walls and a false ceiling, with the fourth wall being removed so as to allow the 
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public to view the interior without entering it, and each room was to feature 

windows, a fireplace, and a door.  In order to ensure that her vision for the 

displays was carried out, Elgar not only made provision in her will for £500 to be 

made available to cover the cost of installing the two displays, but requested that 

the installation process be carried out under the supervision of Heathcote George 

Helmore, who had assisted her to prepare the terms of the bequest.
322

 

 

As noted in Chapter 1, Helmore was a Christchurch-based architect that was 

heavily involved in pioneering the use of the period room as a strategy of display 

in New Zealand.  In addition to having prior experience designing such displays, 

Helmore had a longstanding acquaintance with Elgars, for whom he had 

designed Fernside in 1924.  While Helmore’s exact contribution to the terms laid 

out in Elgar’s will remains unknown, it is notable that the detailed specifications 

regarding the design of the displays that it provides closely followed the model 

offered by the South Island Pioneer Room, which Helmore had designed for the 

New Zealand Centennial Exhibition in 1939.  Given that Helmore was himself a 

collector of antique English furniture, it is possible that he not only advised Elgar 

on what form the display should take, but also helped to select the contents of the 

bequest, which included not only a range of furniture, but also period light 

fittings and floor coverings. 

 

In keeping with Elgar’s wishes, the Dominion Museum engaged Helmore to 

design the two period rooms.  The design process appears to have begun around 

May 1949, when the museum authorities supplied Helmore with a plan of the 
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space that had been provisionally allocated to the project and a list of the 

furniture that was to be displayed.  After visiting the museum later that month, 

Helmore supplied Falla with a sketch plan of the proposed layout of the rooms.  

While the sketch plan itself does not appear to have survived, the letter that 

accompanied it records that the displays were to occupy the equivalent of three 

bays, with two bays comprising a ‘walnut section’ and one a ‘mahogany 

section’.
323

  Within days of receiving the plan, Falla wrote to Helmore to report 

that an alternative space had become available along the western side of the 

south-east hall, where the two period rooms were to be installed alongside 

displays of ‘other furniture and articles of historical or decorative interest’ that 

the museum’s staff were in the process of developing.
324

  The description of the 

area that Falla provided in this letter suggests that it was roughly approximate in 

size to the original site and required no major alterations to the overall design. 

 

In July 1949 Helmore’s sketch plans for the Elgar Rooms were presented to the 

Board of Trustees of the National Art Gallery and Dominion Museum and the 

Finance Committee, which both agreed that the project should proceed.
325

  A 

second sketch plan of the rooms was consequently supplied by Helmore later that 

month.
326

  Like its earlier counterpart, the current whereabouts of the plan is 

unknown.  From the letter that accompanied it, however, it is clear that the 

design of the display was still a work in progress, with Helmore indicating that 

he would send instructions regarding the plasterwork and timber mouldings in 

the near future. 
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The following month, Falla obtained quotes regarding the cost of installing the 

displays from the local builder, J. McArley, who was to install the timber 

framing and panelling in each of the rooms, and from the Carrara Ceiling 

Company, which had been engaged to install the fibrous plaster ceilings and 

cornices.
327

  The estimated cost, which totalled £548, was an immediate cause for 

concern for the museum authorities as it exceeded the £500 that had been 

bequeathed for the purposes of constructing the display even before other 

significant costs, including Helmore’s own fees, had been taken into account.  

While additional funding was subsequently made available by the museum’s 

Board of Trustees, an attempt was made to reduce the cost of the displays by 

omitting an elaborate fireplace that had featured in Helmore’s original design for 

the larger of the two rooms.
328

 

 

Following the start of construction in January 1951, Falla wrote to Helmore to 

request information regarding the surface finishes that were going to be used in 

each of the rooms.
329

  In his reply, the architect stated that he envisioned that the 

timber panelling in the Queen Anne Room would be painted ‘in that particular 

green which was used so much at that period with the mouldings picked out in 

gilt’ while in the Georgian Room he hoped to procure wallpaper to hang between 

the chair rail and the cornice, which were both to be painted.
330

  The curtains, 
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which were the last design element in each of the rooms to be selected, were later 

ordered by the museum authorities in August 1951.
331

   

 

While work progressed on the design of the period rooms, the Elgar collection 

was provisionally arranged across three bays in preparation for the reopening of 

the museum in September 1949.
332

  While few records of these displays survive, 

an article that appeared in the New Zealand Free Lance that month records that 

the first two bays contained items representative of William and Mary period and 

the early eighteenth century, while the third bay was used to display furnishings 

representative of the late eighteenth century.
333

  While the exact contents and 

arrangement of the displays remains unclear, the illustrations that accompanied 

the article show that the furnishings were arranged around the perimeter of the 

bays, with no attempt being made to evoke a domestic environment (fig 4.1). 

 

The original installation of the Elgar furniture remained in place for around 14 

months.  Once the three bays had been cleared, the carpenters commenced the 

task of installing the framework of the period rooms on 8 January 1951.
334

  By 

the end of the month, the fabric of the rooms was in place and craftsmen from the 
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Carrara Ceiling Company were on site to install the plaster work.
335

  Once this 

task was complete, painters were brought in to paint the walls and mouldings.  At 

the request of Helmore, this task was carried out by the Wellington firm Bartlett, 

which had been responsible for painting the interior of Fernside over 20 years 

earlier.
336

  By May, sufficient progress had been made that Helmore was able to 

begin the task of installing the Elgar furniture with the assistance of Northcote-

Bade.
337

  The following month, the public was given their first glimpse of the 

display when the screens behind which the construction of the rooms had taken 

place were dismantled.
338

  By this time, the only elements that were yet to be 

installed were the curtains, two of the carpets, the chandeliers, and oil paintings, 

which were all gradually installed in the months that followed. 

 

On 12 September 1951 the first images of the ‘recently completed’ Elgar Rooms 

were published in the New Zealand Free Lance (figs 4.2-3).
339

  The Queen Anne 

Room occupied the equivalent of two bays, while the Georgian Room was 

located in a single bay to the right.
340

  Following the model offered by the period 

rooms that had been created for the New Zealand Centennial Exhibition in 1939, 

the Elgar Rooms each consisted of three walls and a ceiling, with visitors 

viewing the interior of the display through the absent fourth wall.  The only 
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structural element of the display that was not custom-built at the time of 

installation was the floor, with no attempt being made to replicate timber 

floorboards. 

 

Within this framework, Helmore lavished attention on the architectural detailing 

and decoration of the rooms.  In order to enhance the impression of encountering 

the interior of a residential dwelling, two windows and a doorframe were 

incorporated into the design of the display.
341

  The windows, which were glazed 

with opalescent glass, were located in the rear wall of each of the rooms, while 

the door was located in the left wall of the Queen Anne Room.  Historical wall 

finishes were also replicated throughout the two rooms.  In the Queen Anne 

Room, the walls were lined with moulded timber panelling and capped with a 

large plaster cornice.  Adding to the opulence of the room, the entire wall surface 

was painted green using a stipple technique to create depth of colour, and the 

mouldings were picked out in gilt.  By contrast, the walls in the Georgian Room 

were fitted with a low timber dado, and then plastered above the line of the chair 

rail.  Like the Queen Anne Room, the walls of the Georgian Room were then 

painted, with a rich pearl colour being used on the walls to complement the 

colour of the cornice and the dado, which were highlighted in ivory.
342

   

 

While the Elgar Rooms did not recreate any one room at Fernside in all of its 

details, the decorative schemes used in the two period rooms were heavily 

indebted to the interiors that Helmore had designed for the Elgar’s neo-Georgian 
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style homestead in 1924.  The primary reference point for the Queen Anne Room 

was the Elgar’s large formal drawing room, upon which Helmore based the 

design of the panelling and the cornice, as well as the display’s colour scheme.  

Fernside also provided a model for the adjacent Georgian Room, where the 

mouldings and wall finishes were reminiscent of those used in the other formal 

reception rooms of the house.   

 

In order to complete the two displays, a small selection of soft furnishings and 

period light fixtures were also installed in each of the rooms.  In the Queen Anne 

Room the windows were hung with pearl-coloured brocade drapes that were 

modelled on a four-poster bed draping of about 1735, while those in the 

Georgian Room were based on a design by the eighteenth-century English 

furniture-maker, Thomas Sheraton.
343

  Further soft furnishings were introduced 

in the form of two small Chinese rugs in the Queen Anne Room and a pair of 

French carpets in the Georgian Room.  In contrast to the drapes, which were both 

modern replicas, all of the carpets were derived from the estate of Ella Elgar.
344
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Against this backdrop, the antique furniture and paintings that had formed part of 

the Elgar Bequest were displayed.
345

  In contrast to the structure of the display, 

which closely followed the model offered by the period rooms that had been 

created at the Otago Early Settlers Museum and the Canterbury Museum only a 

few years earlier, the manner in which the Elgar Rooms were furnished differed 

dramatically from their earlier counterparts.  Where period rooms had 

traditionally been used by local museums to evoke the conditions in which a 

certain group of people had lived during a certain period, the core function of the 

Elgar Rooms was to illustrate the history of English furniture design.  This aim 

found expression not only in the exclusion of commonplace and everyday items 

from the display, but also in the arrangement of the rooms.  Instead of attempting 

to recreate the layout of a typical drawing room or dining room of an English 

manor, the furniture was arranged so as to highlight the stylistic features and 

craftsmanship demonstrated by the individual pieces that the rooms contained.  

This characteristic is particularly evident in the Queen Anne Room where almost 

all of the items were placed so that they faced the front of the display. 

 

As noted above, Elgar made provision in her will for £500 pounds to be given to 

the Board of Trustees of the National Art Gallery and Dominion Museum on 

acceptance of the bequest.
346

  This money, the will stated, was to fund not only 

the cost of installing of the period rooms but also the cost of producing a 

catalogue to accompany the display.  This catalogue, which was drafted but 

never published, provided a brief introduction to the history of both the Elgar 
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collection and English furniture design between 1700 and 1900 as well as 

supplying a detailed inventory of the furniture and objets d’art that had formed 

part of the bequest.
347

  In the absence of a catalogue, the only interpretive 

material that appears to have been provided in connection with the period rooms 

during the 1950s were a series of three labels that were located along the back 

wall of the display.  In place by September 1951, these labels identified the fact 

that the contents of the display had formed part of the Elgar Bequest as well as 

identifying the period in which the furniture in that area of the display had been 

built.
348

   

 

As few records were made of the Elgar Rooms between their installation in 1951 

and the late 1960s, little is known about the appearance of the two rooms during 

this period.  Photographs that were taken of the two rooms in October 1954 show 

that some minor revisions had been made to the contents and arrangement of the 

displays by this time (figs 4.4-6).  In the Georgian Room, for example, one of the 

Mahogany dining chairs had been removed from the display and several other 

pieces of furniture, including a pair of upholstered window seats, a card table and 

a second Mahogany dining chair, had been relocated within the room.  Similar 

changes were made in the Queen Anne Room, with at least two items, a candle 

stand and a dining chair, being removed from the display.  By 1954, some 

additions had also been made to the two rooms.  In the Queen Anne Room, some 

of the furniture began to be used to display the porcelain plates and bowls that 
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Elgar had bequeathed to the museum, while in the Georgian Room the Elgar 

collection was supplemented with a small selection of porcelain and some 

Chinese figurines derived from other sources.  Further items of this kind may 

have been added in the years that followed.   

 

 

The Colonial Exhibition, 1954-55 

 

At the same time that the museum authorities began working towards the goal of 

reopening of the public galleries in the late 1940s, concerns began to be raised 

regarding the increasingly inadequate levels of storage and exhibition space that 

were available.  By 1950, pressure on the museum building had become such that 

the idea of abandoning the process of collecting period furniture, technology and 

other ‘bygones’ was discussed.
349

  In the absence of a separate institution to 

house such collections, however, the museum authorities decided that the 

Dominion Museum would continue to accept, and where possible exhibit, ‘all 

important material’ while at the same time supporting any future attempts to 

establish a technological museum in the region.  As a result of this policy, the 

museum not only established a new ‘Historical and Technological Section’, but 

also began to accept offers of such material in growing numbers after 1950.
350

 

 

One particular area of the Historical and Technological Section that experienced 

rapid growth in the early 1950s was the museum’s collection of furnishings 

associated with the colonial period.  Upon her death in 1951, Amy Clapham, 
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whose family arrived in New Zealand aboard the Lord William Bentinck in 1841, 

provided the Dominion Museum with the opportunity to accession anything of 

interest from her home.  The selection, which was made on behalf of the museum 

by Northcote-Bade, included several pieces of furniture and a range of domestic 

artefacts.
351

  Other significant gifts and bequests followed, including a substantial 

collection of early New Zealand furniture that was donated by Ada Caroline 

Dorset in 1951, and a set of bedroom furniture that was bequeathed to the 

museum by the Saxton family in 1953.
352

   

 

While the collection continued to grow, the amount of gallery space that was 

available at the museum hampered its ability to display colonial furniture and 

domestic ‘bygones’.  When the public galleries reopened in 1949, a section 

devoted to relics of European settlement in New Zealand featured in one of the 

galleries.
353

  As no record appears to have been made of the contents of these 

displays, it is unknown whether it featured any domestic furnishings.  One of the 

few pieces of furniture associated with colonial settlement that is known to have 

been exhibited in the early 1950s is a walnut canopied bed that had once 

belonged to Sir George Grey (1812-1896, Governor of New Zealand 1845-

1853), which was purchased and placed on display in conjunction with other 
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period furniture in January 1950.
354

  Little progress appears to have subsequently 

been made in the galleries, with the museum reporting in 1953 that it had been 

unable to expand the displays in the ‘Historical and Technological Section’.
355

  

 

In 1954 the museum temporarily overcame the problem by borrowing a suite of 

galleries on the first floor of its shared Mount Cook premises to host a large-

scale temporary exhibition of material associated with the history of European 

settlement in New Zealand.  Opened to the public on 7 December 1954, the 

Colonial Exhibition showcased a selection of historical documents, paintings, 

drawings, and watercolours from the collections of the Alexander Turnbull 

Library (ATL), the National Archives, and the London-based collector, Rex Nan 

Kivell.
356

  Complementing these displays, the exhibition also featured a wide 

range of artefacts associated with the colonial period, including builder’s 

hardware, scrimshaw, firearms, toys, clothing and domestic furnishings.  The 

furniture was displayed both in small groups and against the backdrop of ‘rooms’ 

designed to represent early New Zealand interiors.  

 

While the documentation surrounding the planning of the Colonists Exhibition is 

extremely fragmentary, the origins of the event can be traced back to the late 

1930s when a proposal was put forward that the museum should host an 

exhibition of material associated with the early years of European settlement to 
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coincide with national centennial celebrations in 1940.
357

  In 1939, however, war 

broke out in Europe and the exhibition concept was shelved.  Although the idea 

was discussed again in the early 1940s, this plan too was thwarted when the 

museum building was requisitioned for wartime service in 1942.
358

  Due to the 

closure of the museum building, which lasted seven years, no further progress 

was made towards hosting such an event until around 1952 when Northcote-

Bade began to explore the feasibility of organising an exhibition of this nature.
359

  

A proposal was subsequently placed before the Director, who agreed that the 

project should proceed. 

 

Having successfully convinced the museum authorities to host an exhibition of 

colonial material, Northcote-Bade took responsibility for overseeing much of the 

planning process.
360

  Given Northcote-Bade’s background, it is likely that period 

rooms featured as part of the exhibition layout at an early stage in its 

development.  As noted above, Northcote-Bade had long been a strong advocate 

for the period room, having promoted the use of this strategy of display to the 

museum authorities as early as 1944.  By the early 1950s, he also had a wealth of 

experience in organising such displays, having been involved in planning and 

installing the Nelson Pioneer Exhibition (1947-48), the Canterbury Colonists 

Exhibition (1950-51) and the Elgar Rooms (1952).
361
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Although the origins of the period rooms remain unclear, correspondence in the 

museum’s archives sheds some light on how the design of these displays 

developed over time.  In December 1953 Falla wrote to the manager of a local 

demolition company regarding the architectural salvages that the museum was 

hoping to obtain for use in the period rooms.  Following up on discussions that 

Northcote-Bade had previously had with the firm, Falla formally requested that 

the company supply the museum with two double-hung windows with small 

panes, two doors, and a fireplace, as well as sufficient skirting boards and 

architraves for two rooms.
362

  However, as plans for the exhibition evolved in the 

months that followed, a further two rooms were added to the proposed exhibition 

layout and the design of the rooms was refined to include fewer architectural 

salvages. 

 

In addition to sourcing material for the fabric of the rooms, Northcote-Bade was 

also responsible for overseeing the acquisition and selection of artefacts to 

furnish them.  When planning for the exhibition began in the early 1950s, the 

museum’s collection still contained only a relatively small number of furnishings 

suitable for display in period rooms, a problem that was compounded by the fact 

that a significant number of items had been sent to Northland around 1952 for 

display in Pompallier House.
363

  In order to supplement the museum’s collection, 

Northcote-Bade thus began the task of actively soliciting material from local 
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families.  As part of this process, he travelled to the Marlborough and Nelson 

Districts in December 1953.
364

  The trip, which resulted in a number of 

significant acquisitions, was later followed by visits to the Wairarapa and areas 

along the West Coast as far as New Plymouth.
365

  The process of acquiring 

material continued well into 1954, with some items proving harder to source than 

others.
366

 

 

Installed by the museum’s display staff in collaboration with representatives of 

the ATL and the National Archives, the Colonial Exhibition opened to the public 

on 7 December 1954.
367

  As built, the exhibition featured a series of four period 

rooms that were located in two of the smaller subsidiary galleries.  Constructed 

by the Dominion Museum’s Display Technician, Harry J. Allan, and furnished 

by the museum’s display staff under the leadership of Northcote-Bade, the suite 

of period rooms consisted of a kitchen and two parlours designed to represent the 

decade 1840-50 and a parlour of around 1875 (figs 4.7-4.10).
368

  Following the 

model offered by both the New Zealand Centennial Exhibition and the 

Canterbury Colonists Exhibition, each of the period rooms were constructed in 

the form of a three-sided box that visitors viewed through the absent fourth 

wall.
369

  In contrast to their earlier counterparts, however, the rooms did not 

feature a false ceiling and no attempt was made to represent historical wall 
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finishes.  Designed to be in place for only three months, the period rooms instead 

relied on a strategic selection of architectural elements to evoke the interior of a 

domestic dwelling.  In the room titled ‘Ships Furniture 1840-50’, for example, 

domestic architecture was referenced by means of a timber skirting board, a 

fireplace salvaged from a historic Wellington residence, and a chandelier. 

Samples of wallpaper were exhibited separately nearby.
370

   

 

Against this backdrop, each of the period rooms showcased a selection of early 

New Zealand furniture and other domestic artefacts, including china, ornaments, 

pictures, textiles and utensils.  However, unlike the displays that had been 

installed at the Canterbury Museum four years earlier, the rooms were not 

designed to be ‘typical’ of early New Zealand homes.  While the rooms 

continued the tradition of grouping furnishings in accordance with the type of 

room in which they would have traditionally been found in a nineteenth-century 

New Zealand household, they also separated the collection into groups based on 

particular design characteristics.  In the first of the two period room galleries, the 

‘Kitchen 1840-50’ was used to display furniture and other domestic artefacts 

associated with cooking and eating, while the adjacent parlour scene was 

furnished entirely with furniture that had been designed for use aboard sailing 

ships.  Complementing these displays, the first of the rooms in the second gallery 

showcased furniture that had arrived in New Zealand as cargo, while the final 

room in the sequence, the ‘Sitting Room (circa 1875)’, was furnished 

predominantly with pieces made from New Zealand native timbers. 
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Following the model offered by the exhibitions of colonial material that had 

previously been held in other centres, the labelling that accompanied the period 

rooms in the Colonial Exhibition was minimal.  The wall labels, which were 

located alongside each of the rooms, simply identified the period being 

represented and, in the case of the later three rooms, the type of furniture that 

was on display.  Rather than forming part of the displays themselves, additional 

information about the contents of the period rooms was instead provided in the 

form of a catalogue, which commented on the design of the individual displays 

and identified any association that the artefacts had with local families or 

historical events.
371

   

 

 

Temporary solutions 

 

Like its predecessors, the Colonial Exhibition proved popular with the public, 

attracting many visitors, including a large number of school groups.
372

  The 

exhibition was also well received in the press, where it was repeatedly touted as 

the largest and most comprehensive display of historical material ever to be held 

in the country.
373

  While many of the architectural salvages and artefacts that had 

been used to stage the exhibition were returned to their owners following its 

closure on 6 March 1955, the event had a lasting impact on the Dominion 

Museum.  In addition to the influx of donations of early New Zealand furniture 
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and furnishings that the museum received in the build-up to the exhibition, the 

interest generated by the event resulted in further growth in the collection in the 

years that followed, with a vast range of material, including period furniture and 

textiles, being acquired between 1955 and the early 1960s.
374

   

 

The exhibition also helped to generate a renewed interest in installing a 

permanent suite of displays devoted to early New Zealand furniture.  In 1955 

Falla wrote to a representative of the local Early Settlers and Historical 

Association stating that the museum was hoping to install a ‘temporary kitchen’ 

in the public galleries as a means to display more material from the history and 

technology collections ‘pending more permanent arrangements’.
375

  The limited 

amount of display space that was available at the museum, however, remained 

problematic and it was not until March 1957 that the museum authorities were 

able to report that a bay of ‘colonial period furniture associated with New 

Zealand’ had been installed.
376

  Progress towards the installation of permanent 

displays was slow in the decade that followed, with only a single reference being 

made to the display of period furniture within the museum’s own galleries in the 

annual reports that were published between 1958 and 1963.
377

 

 

Unable to provide exhibition space within its own walls, the museum 

increasingly made its collection of furniture available for display at other venues.  

Among the many exhibitions to which the museum contributed material in the 

late 1950s was an exhibition illustrating the development of commerce in 
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Wellington that was held at the National Art Gallery in 1956, and the Wanganui 

Antique and Historical Exhibition, which was held in Whanganui in September 

1959.
378

  Many more exhibitions featuring the museum’s furniture collection 

followed in the early 1960s, including an untitled exhibition at the Linden 

Community Centre (9-10 July 1961), the Early Wellington Exhibition (October 

1963), and the Lower Hutt Jubilee Exhibition (14-18 February 1966).
379

    

 

Throughout this period, the manner in which the museum’s furniture collection 

was displayed continued to be characterised by an interest in evoking the 

domestic contexts from which the material had been drawn.  In many cases this 

aim was simply achieved by grouping the furniture in accordance with the type 

of room in which it had traditionally been used.  For the Lower Hutt Jubilee 

Exhibition in 1966, for example, furniture and other household effects of the 

period 1840 to 1860 were staged to evoke a kitchen, a drawing room and a 

bedroom respectively without the aid of any architectural elements (figs 4.11-

12).
380

  Some detailed architectural backdrops, however, were also created during 

this period.  In October 1963 the museum’s collection was drawn on by the 

iconic Wellington department store Kirkcaldie & Stains to create a pair of period 
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rooms at the firm’s Lambton Quay store (figs 4.13-15).
381

  Building on the model 

offered by the period rooms that had been installed at the Dominion Museum in 

1954, these displays brought together a strategic selection of architectural 

salvages, historical wall finishes and furnishings to evoke the living room and 

kitchen of a ‘typical’ Wellington home in the 1860s.
382

  

 

Reflecting the growing interest that surrounded the use of historical buildings as 

a means to display furniture and domestic artefacts in the 1960s, the museum’s 

collection was also drawn on during this decade to temporarily furnish historical 

Wellington residences.  In 1961, part of the museum’s collection was used to 

stage a two-day exhibition of early New Zealand furniture and household objects 

that was held in Pauatahanui to commemorate the centennial of the local Post 

Office and the 130
th

 year of Pākehā settlement in area.  Laid out in an old cottage 

that had been built in the region in the mid-late Nineteenth Century, the 

collection was staged alongside a range of artefacts lent by local families to 

evoke the appearance of a dwelling in the early years of the settlement.
383

  When 

a similar exhibition was held in the historic Porirua homestead Papakowhai three 

years later, the museum’s collection was once again called on, with a substantial 
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number of pieces being used to refurnish the house in the manner of the colonial 

period.
384

 

 

 

The Colonial History Gallery 

 

In March 1967 the museum’s newly appointed Director, Richard K. Dell (1920-

2002, Director 1966-1980) announced that a designated department would be 

established to manage the museum’s collection of material related to the 

‘colonial history of New Zealand’, a criteria that applied to the bulk of the 

history and technology collections at the time.
385

  The creation of the Colonial 

History Department resulted in the appointment of a full-time staff member to 

oversee the management of the history and technology collections, with David P. 

Millar being appointed as the inaugural Curator of Colonial History in April 

1968.
386

  The establishment of the department also had a major impact on the 

display galleries, where the museum’s efforts to better represent the collection 

culminated in the opening of an entire suite of permanent displays devoted to the 

theme.
387
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Planned and installed between 1967 and 1972, the Colonial History Gallery 

attempted to take visitors on a journey through the history of European 

settlement in New Zealand from first contact with local Māori through to 

1899.
388

  Upon completion, visitors entered the gallery through a life-sized 

representation of the poop deck of Captain James Cook’s ship, the Endeavour.  

Further displays addressing the theme of early exploration followed, including a 

life-sized reconstruction of the ‘Great Cabin’ aboard the Endeavour, which was 

used to display a range of material associated with Cook and to ‘convey 

something of the cramped conditions which sailors endured at the time.’
389

   

Moving through the gallery, visitors then encountered the Elgar Rooms and a 

range of displays addressing the early history of the Wellington region, including 

early industries, its settlement under the auspices of the New Zealand Company, 

and life in the province in its early years.   

 

One of the star attractions of the early Wellington section was a suite of three 

period rooms that were constructed in the form of a one and a half storey cottage 

of the type built in Wellington in the 1840s.  As noted earlier in this chapter, the 

idea of constructing a suite of period rooms representing colonial interiors had 

been in circulation at the museum since the early 1950s.  The earliest known 

reference to a cottage display appears in a letter that Falla wrote in September 

1963, in which the Director stated that ‘we hope before long to furnish a colonial 

cottage in the fashion of the 1850s.’
390

  The construction of the display, however, 
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was again deferred and it was not until the development of the Colonial History 

Gallery in 1967 that practical progress began to be made towards the goal of 

installing this new suite of period rooms.
391

   

 

While the idea of installing a suite of colonial period rooms can be traced back to 

Northcote-Bade, the task of designing the display fell primarily to the museum’s 

Display Artist, Nancy M. Adams (1926-2007).
392

  Brought in to assist with the 

task of designing the layout of the galleries as early as February 1967, Adams 

immediately became involved in planning the cottage display, producing a series 

of sketches of the bedroom later that month.
393

  After the project officially 

received the green light from the museum authorities on 1 May 1967, Adams 

began the task of developing the contents of the display, utilising the museum’s 

accession registers, files and records to compile a list of the furniture and other 

historical material that was available for use in the exhibit.
394
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In addition to working with the collection, she also began the task of further 

developing the design of the three period rooms.  As part of this process, Adams 

collected historical images of early Wellington cottages and made arrangements 

with the Ministry of Works to view several local houses that were due for 

demolition.  Among the sources that Adams is known to have looked at as part of 

this research process is a photograph of the former Thorndon home of the Dorset 

family, which was supplied to her by the Evening Post in 1967, and an old 

cottage at 18 Arthur Street, Te Aro, which she viewed on 7 February 1968.
395

  

Another notable source of information on which Adams drew was Northcote-

Bade, who provided advice regarding the detailing of the interiors and how they 

should be furnished throughout the design process.
396

   

 

Although few records of this process survive, a snapshot of Adams’ early ideas 

regarding the display is provided by a set of three sketches that have been 

preserved in the Museum of New Zealand’s archives.
397

  The group of drawings, 

which includes two views of the exterior of the structure and one view of the 

interior, show a two storey cottage with a living room scene located on the 

ground floor and a bedroom above.  At this time, the main body of the cottage 

featured three large viewing windows that provided visual access to the interior 

of the display.  The first of these windows, which was located in the front façade 

of the cottage, looked into the living room, while a second window in the gable 

wall provided further visual access to the ground floor.  The third window, which 
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looked into the bedroom, was located at the top of a flight of stairs which led to a 

platform that ran the width of the display.  In the bedroom itself, Adams 

envisioned that the room would be furnished with a set of bedroom furniture that 

had formed part of the Saxton Bequest in 1953 and a bed covered in a patchwork 

quilt.
398

 

 

Constructed by the museum’s Display Technician, Harry J. Allan, in 1967, the 

structure of the cottage was one of the first elements of the Colonial History 

Gallery to be installed.  In place as early as December 1967, work commenced 

that month on the task of decorating the three rooms.
399

  Playing an active role in 

all aspects of the installation process, Adams was responsible for undertaking 

much of the work in the cottage in the months that followed, including painting 

the walls and ceilings, staining the timber woodwork, installing shelving, 

preparing and arranging the collection items, and making curtains.  Putting her 

skills as an artist to use, Adams also created all of the props that were required 

for the display, including a mural representing a view of Wellington in the 1840s 

that was fitted behind the window in the Living Room.
400

   

 

Unveiled to the public in 1969, the Colonial Cottage formed a visually dominant 

feature of the new Colonial History Galleries.  Designed to represent the type of 

home ‘that an early settler might have built in the 1840s’, the display was laid 

out in the form of a one-and-a-half storey weatherboard cottage with a steeply 

                                                 
398
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pitched gable roof and a single storey lean-to at the rear.
401

  Inside, the cottage 

accommodated a suite of three period rooms, with a living room and kitchen on 

the ground floor and an attic bedroom on the floor above.  While Adams had 

originally envisioned that the Living Room would be viewed from a position 

along the front façade of the cottage, visual access to this room was instead 

provided by a large plate-glass window that was located in the gable wall.  A 

further two windows were located in the walls of the adjacent lean-to, enabling 

visitors to examine this room from two sides.  Having viewed the two ground 

floor rooms, visitors then ascended a flight of stairs to a platform where they 

could inspect the interior of the attic bedroom through a window in the front 

façade.  The final element of the display, the tool shed, was located beneath the 

viewing platform, with the interior of the display being viewed through the 

absent fourth wall.   

 

Designed to provide a detailed architectural backdrop against which to display 

the museum’s collection, the interior of the Colonial Cottage brought together a 

range of architectural elements.  While most of the materials that were used in 

the construction of the rooms were modern, a small number of architectural 

salvages were incorporated into the display, including a large sash window, a 

door, and parts of a fireplace that had been salvaged from a Thorndon cottage 

built in 1847 by the early Wellington settler William Dorset.
402

  Supplementing 
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these elements, a range of other historically appropriate architectural features and 

finishes were reconstructed for the display, including a timber floor in each of 

the downstairs rooms and a brick fireplace in the Kitchen.  However, unlike the 

period rooms that had been installed at the Canterbury Museum almost 10 years 

earlier, no attempt was made to install or simulate historically appropriate wall 

finishes in any of the rooms.
403

  In contrast to its South Island counterpart, the 

design of the display was also less emphatic regarding the detailing of the rooms, 

with elements that would have served no display function, such as an internal 

staircase, being excluded from the display. 

 

Occupying around one and a half bays in the gallery, the cottage provided the 

museum with the opportunity to display a wide range of furniture, ornaments, 

utensils, and textiles from its collection, as well as a small number of paintings 

from the collection of the National Art Gallery.  Designed to represent a 

Wellington home during the first decade of settlement, the bulk of the furniture 

and other domestic artefacts that were shown in the cottage were known to have 

arrived in the region before 1850.
404

  The majority of these items had entered the 

collection prior to 1967, with many of the pieces having been donated in the 

1950s and early 1960s.  
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Although few records survive regarding the appearance of the Colonial Cottage 

at the time that the Colonial History Gallery opened in 1969, photographs taken 

of the Living Room following its completion in August 1968 provide a partial 

record of how the contents were arranged at this time.  In addition to 

documenting the spatial relationships that existed between the various 

components of the display, these photographs reveal that an attempt was made 

not only to evoke the layout of a domestic interior, but also to create the illusion 

of occupancy (fig 4.16).  Following the model offered by the Canterbury 

Museum, the room featured two female mannequins, who served not only to 

showcase items from the museum’s textile collection, but also stood in for the 

early Wellington residents who would have occupied such spaces.   

 

While the variety of furniture and other domestic artefacts that were shown in the  

Bedroom makes it likely that the furnishings in this area were arranged in a 

similar manner to those in the Living Room, the contents of the Kitchen indicates 

that the layout of this room was not designed to replicate that of a colonial 

kitchen.  Containing very little in the way of furniture, the various household 

goods, kitchenware and utensils were instead showcased on and around a 

colonial oven that had been salvaged from the historic Marlborough homestead 

Langley Dale.  Further items were shown on a set of shelving that was fitted to 

the rear wall of the room.  Like the Living Room, however, an attempt does 

appear to have been made to create the illusion of occupancy, with several props, 

including fruit, ham and a loaf of bread being created by Adams for use in this 

room. 
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Like its predecessors, the Colonial Cottage was not accompanied by labels in its 

early years, with supplementary information instead being provided in the form 

of a small guidebook.  Prepared by Adams during the process of installing the 

display, the guide featured a brief introduction to the history upon which the 

design of the cottage was based as well as comments regarding the contents of 

each of the rooms.
405

  Once again, the commentary was characterised by a strong 

focus on the people with which the individual collection items were associated, 

particularly those local families who had arrived in Wellington during the first 

decade of settlement.  In regards to the Kitchen, the text also served a second 

core purpose, acting to identify the function of those items that were likely to be 

unfamiliar to the contemporary audience. 

 

 

Refreshing the Elgar Rooms 

 

Located in the gallery where the new displays were to be installed, the Elgar 

Rooms were renovated and refreshed over three years as part of the 

redevelopment project.  In May 1968 the front of the two displays was glazed in.  

Designed by Adams, the new viewing wall was clad in timber and fitted with 

three large plate-glass viewing windows.
406

  Around the same time that this work 

was done, the windows in the rear wall of the display were also re-glazed.
407

  As 
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part of the renovation process, a new timber floor was also laid in each of the 

rooms, followed by the addition of new lighting in the early 1970s.
408

   

 

Following the installation of the new viewing wall in May 1968, Adams began 

the task of cleaning the furniture in the two rooms and reorganising the 

display.
409

  While the changes that were made to the contents and arrangement of 

the individual rooms at this time went unrecorded, a series of photographs that 

were taken of the Queen Anne Room in the mid 1970s indicate that a substantial 

rearrangement of the furniture took place during the renovation process (figs 

4.17-19).  In addition to relocating items within each of the rooms, some pieces 

were also moved from one room to the other, including one of the two window 

seats that had formerly been displayed in the Georgian Room.  Notably, the new 

arrangement of the furniture in the Queen Anne Room was characterised by an 

interest in making the layout of the room more closely resemble that of a 

domestic residence.  At the right end of the Queen Anne Room, for example, a 

chair was now placed at the open desk of the bureau cabinet, while at the 

opposite end of the display a set of dining chairs were placed around the dining 

room table. 

 

The addition of a glazed partition wall along the front edge of the display also 

allowed a number of smaller items to be exhibited in the rooms for the first time.  

By the mid-1970s, the Queen Anne Room featured two floor standing vases from 

the Elgar collection, a clock, a globe, and a silver goblet.  In keeping with the 

                                                 
408
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409
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changes that had been made to layout of the furniture, the first props were also 

added, with a glass inkwell and feather being placed on the open desk of the 

bureau cabinet.  The glazing-in of the rooms also enabled period costume to be 

displayed for the first time, with a female mannequin dressed in an eighteenth 

century red brocade gown being installed by Adams in the Queen Anne Room in 

May 1967.
410

 

 

Supplementing the physical changes that were made to the Elgar Rooms at this 

time, the modifications that were made to the surrounding gallery had a major 

impact on the context within which the rooms were seen and interpreted.  Prior to 

1967, the two rooms had been one of many displays in the gallery that had been 

used to present material from the museum’s collection of European decorative 

and applied arts.
411

  During the redevelopment of the gallery, however, these 

displays were removed to make way for material associated with New Zealand’s 

own history.  As the contents and design of the rooms were in no way typical of 

New Zealand homes, the display instead came to act as a foil to the colonial 

rooms, representing the styles of interior architecture and furniture design that 

formed the background to New Zealand’s own design history. 

 

 

                                                 
410
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411
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The ‘New Look’ Colonial History Gallery 

 

In 1972 the Dominion Museum officially changed its name to the National 

Museum.  Around the same time that the organization was re-branded, the 

museum authorities also adopted a long-term plan to comprehensively redevelop 

and modernise the museum’s display galleries.
412

  In order to demonstrate the 

types of improvements that would be made as part of this wider redevelopment 

project, renovation work was carried out in the Colonial History Gallery between 

1980 and 1982.  Developed under the leadership of Michael K. Fitzgerald 

(History Curator 1971-present), who had replaced David Millar as the museum’s 

Curator of Colonial History in August 1971, the ‘new look’ Colonial History 

Gallery was a mix of the old and the new.
413

  In addition to enabling the 

curatorial team to refresh the contents of the gallery, the project also resulted in 

major changes being made to the gallery environment, with modern display cases 

being installed throughout.  The entire look of the gallery was also transformed 

by means of a new lighting scheme, which added drama to the museum 

environment by creating striking visual contrasts between the dimly lit gallery 

space and the brightly lit displays (fig 4.20). 

 

As part of the redevelopment, the Elgar Rooms were once again modified in line 

with contemporary ideas about museum display.  While few, if any, changes 

were made to the fabric of the rooms themselves, the viewing wall that Adams 

had designed in 1968 was replaced at this time with a glass curtain wall.  In 

                                                 
412
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addition to improving visual access to the rooms, the new wall modified the way 

in which the two rooms interacted with the space of the viewer.  Rather than 

forming a flat barrier across the front of the display, the wall was indented to 

form three bays.  While the new viewing wall in the Georgian Room projected 

outwards into the gallery space, the two bays in the Queen Anne Room projected 

inwards, enabling visitors to get a sense of entering the room.
414

  As part of the 

installation of the new viewing wall, a new lighting scheme was also developed 

for each of the rooms.  In the Queen Anne Room a row of florescent lights were 

fitted along the top edge of the new viewing wall, while in the Georgian Room a 

crystal chandelier that had formed the centrepiece of the room since it was 

installed in 1951 was used to light the space for the first time. 

 

Like the renovation project that had been carried out in the Elgar Rooms over a 

decade earlier, the rejuvenation of the displays in the 1980s also involved 

substantial changes being made to the arrangement of the Elgar furniture.  The 

curatorial team also took the opportunity to incorporate further artefacts into the 

display, including an array of glassware, silverware, ceramics and other objects 

d’art.  Further mannequins were also introduced, enabling the museum to 

showcase a range of Edwardian and Victorian dresses from the museum’s 

collection.  The function of these elements was not only to generate new interest 

in the Elgar Rooms in the short-term, but also to address the concerns that had 

come to surround their static nature.  The introduction of further mannequins, for 

example, did not only enable the museum to exhibit more of its textile collection 

                                                 
414
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at any one time, but introduced an element of ongoing change to the display, 

with Fitzgerald stating in 1982 that the attire worn by the mannequins would be 

cycled over time.
415

   

 

During the development of the ‘new look’ Colonial History Gallery, the decision 

was also made to retain and refurbish the Colonial Cottage.  As part of this 

process, the Living Room was subject to several cosmetic changes, including the 

removal of the large carpet that had previously been shown on the floor and the 

installation of a new mural and curtains (figs 4.21-22).  Re-imagined as a dining 

room, the contents of this space was also modified slightly, with several pieces of 

furniture being relocated or removed to make way for other collection items.  A 

greater number of smaller household artefacts were also introduced into the 

display at this time and a new lighting scheme was installed, with spotlights 

being used to enhance the lighting levels in the room. 

 

Although a lack of documentation regarding the appearance of the Bedroom and 

Kitchen prior to 1980 makes it difficult to gauge what, if any, changes were 

introduced in these areas as part of the renovation process, it is likely that these 

rooms were modified in a similar manner to the Living Room.  From a pair of 

photographs that were taken of the Bedroom in 1982, it is clear that the majority 

of the furnishings that had been installed in 1968 were retained as part of the 

refurbished display.
416

  Some additions, however, had been made by this time, 

including a desk, a female mannequin, and a range of smaller artefacts.   
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416
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One notable addition that was made to both the Elgar Rooms and the Colonial 

Cottage as part of the refurbishment process was the addition of extended labels.  

Building on the two key themes that had characterised the interpretation of the 

Elgar Rooms since the 1950s, the labels drew attention to both the Elgar Bequest 

and the respective periods that the rooms represented.  By contrast, the new label 

that was installed in the Living Room of the Colonial Cottage was used to 

highlight the fact that many of the furnishings in this area had been used in the 

homes of Wellington settlers over the period 1840-1870.
417

  Comments that were 

made in the press at the time that the gallery opened in 1982 provide further 

insight into how the curatorial staff intended the Colonial Cottage to be viewed at 

this time, with Fitzgerald stating that the aim of the exhibit had shifted from 

pretending that it was ‘some sort of colonial cottage’ to simply using the rooms 

to showcase furniture and other articles brought out to New Zealand by early 

Wellington families.
418

   

 

One of the key catalysts for this shift away from using the cottage to illustrate the 

architecture of early Wellington residences was the recent establishment of the 

city’s first house museum.  Officially opened to the public on 23 November 

1980, the Colonial Cottage Museum on Nairn Street provided Wellingtonians 

with the opportunity to view colonial furniture and other domestic artefacts 

against the backdrop of a series of restored nineteenth-century interiors that were 

still located within their original architectural context.
419

  Where the museum’s 

                                                 
417

 ‘Colonial Furniture’, undated, MONZ: Display/Exhibition Files, circa 1980, MU252/1/9. 
418
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419
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Colonial Cottage had previously been the only permanent and publicly accessible 

representation of an early Wellington house furnished in the manner of the 

colonial period, the educational role that it had historically served was now able 

to be fulfilled outside the walls of the museum.  As such, the interpretation that 

accompanied the display shifted the visitor’s attention away from the architecture 

of the cottage onto the furniture that it was used to display. 

 

Following the reopening of the Colonial History Gallery in 1982, few changes 

were made to the fabric of the period rooms or the layout of the furniture.  As 

Fitzgerald had envisioned, however, minor adjustments were repeatedly made to 

the selection of ceramics, glassware, textiles and other small objects d’art that 

formed part of the Elgar Rooms (figs 4.23-27).  A similar situation appears to 

have occurred in the Colonial Cottage, with photographs indicating that minor 

adjustments were made over time to the collection of smaller household objects 

that were shown in this area (fig 4.28-31).   

 

 

The End of an Era 

 

In the years following the redevelopment of the Colonial History Gallery, the 

museum authorities continued to investigate the possibility of making 

widespread changes to the museum’s layout.  While planning initially centred on 

the museum’s existing Mount Cook site, the option of replacing the old museum 
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building soon came to the fore and in 1986 the New Zealand Government 

approved plans for the construction of a new building to house the National 

Museum.  A site was subsequently selected in 1989, and work commenced on 

the task of planning the new galleries with the architectural firm, Jasmax 

Architects.  Opened in 1998, the building housed the collections of both the 

former National Museum and the National Art Gallery, which had merged to 

form the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa (Te Papa) in 1992. 

 

While work continued to progress on the design of the new building in the early 

1990s, the National Museum took the opportunity to refresh some of its existing 

display galleries.  One area of the museum that was selected for redevelopment 

at this time was the Colonial History Gallery, which was cleared in 1992 to make 

way for Voices He Putahitanga: The People and the Land, an exhibition 

exploring the history of New Zealand from first discovery to the present.
420

  In 

preparation for the installation of this entirely new suite of displays, the Elgar 

Rooms and the Colonial Cottage were completely dismantled around May 1992.  

While the fabric of the period rooms was not preserved, a detailed photographic 

record was made of the displays prior to their deinstallation.  Of the five rooms, 

the Queen Anne Room was the most thoroughly documented, with measured 

drawings being commissioned from the Wellington architectural firm Synaxon 

Hill Group to provide a record of both the floor plan of the room and its 

mouldings.
421

  The Queen Anne Room was also the only exhibit to be recorded 
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in colour, with photographer Alan Marchant taking the first colour photographs 

of this area of the display in May 1992 (figs 4.32-33). 

 

In the early 1990s, the decision was made that the Elgar Rooms would not be 

reinstated at the museum’s new waterfront site.  As Elgar’s will stipulated that 

the collection was being gifted to the State on the understanding that it would be 

permanently displayed in period rooms, the museum approached Elgar’s 

descendants for permission to change the terms of the bequest.  Writing to senior 

members of the family in late April 1992, the head of the National Art Gallery, 

Jenny Harper, indicated that one of the key reasons why the museum authorities 

did not wish to reinstall the displays was their longevity, which not only caused 

damage to the individual collection items over time, but also hampered the 

museum’s ability to show the breadth of its collection.
422

  Similar sentiments 

were later expressed by the museum’s CEO, Cheryll Sotheran, who stated in the 

press that the museum was seeking to change the conditions of the bequest in 

order to provide it with more flexibility in terms of how the collection could be 

displayed.
423

 

 

 

Recent Developments 

 

Located on the Wellington waterfront, Te Papa opened to the public on 14 

February 1998.  While no period rooms featured among the new displays, a small 

number of items from the Elgar collection were displayed as part of On the 
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Sheep’s Back, a long-term exhibition exploring the history of the wool industry 

in New Zealand.  In contrast to the manner in which the furniture had previously 

been displayed at the museum’s Mount Cook site, no attempt was made to 

recreate a room in which to house the pieces of furniture.  Instead, the items were 

displays on a low plinth alongside a large photomural of the drawing room at 

Fernside.
424

  

 

In 2010 Te Papa installed a new long-term exhibition exploring New Zealand’s 

social and cultural history.  Entitled Slice of Heaven: 20
th

 Century Aotearoa, the 

exhibition features a tableau scene representing a New Zealand living room 

during World War II (figs 4.34-35).  In addition to representing a post-1900 

interior, the living room tableau contrasts sharply with the Colonial Cottage in 

terms of its design.  Firstly, where the cottage had attempted to recreate an entire 

suite of rooms, the tableau scene presents only a shallow slice of a room.  An 

attempt is also made to integrate the domestic scene into a much wider narrative, 

with information about life in New Zealand during the war being conveyed both 

through a series of text and image-based panels at the front of the display and by 

an audio track that plays on the room’s radio.  

 

Complementing the living room tableau, Slice of Heaven also features a series of 

cases that are used to display furniture and other household items representative 

of the individual decades between 1900 and 2000.  While these display cases do 

not attempt to recreate a room in its entirety, an attempt has been made to evoke 

                                                 
424
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the context from which the articles have been drawn, with each of the cases 

being lined with reproduction wallpaper patterns and skirting boards in a manner 

reminiscent of the Period Furniture Case that was installed at the Canterbury 

Museum as part of the Canterbury Colonists Galleries in the 1950s (fig 4.36).  

This approach indicates that the desire to visually contextualise items still plays a 

part in contemporary display practice.   
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Conclusion 

  

Offering a practical solution to the challenge of presenting colonial furniture and 

other domestic artefacts in a comprehensible and visually interesting way, the 

period room flourished in New Zealand’s metropolitan museums in the 1950s 

and 1960s.  The period rooms that were installed between 1948 and 1969 

subsequently remained largely unaltered until the 1980s when a new generation 

of museum professionals began to modify the displays to better reflect 

contemporary ideas and practices.  During this decade, however, the popularity 

of such displays went into decline, culminating in the 1990s in the removal of 

almost all of the period rooms that had been installed prior to 1970.  Remnants of 

the tradition survive at the Auckland Museum, with the colonial cottage 

remaining on display as part of the former Centennial Street (now renamed 

Auckland 1866).   

 

As illustrated in the preceding chapters, the modification and removal of period 

rooms at the OESM, the Canterbury Museum and the Dominion Museum in the 

1980s and 1990s was fuelled by a number of factors.  One of the key concerns 

that came to surround the period rooms that had been installed in these museums 

in the mid-twentieth century was the type of history that they represented.  

Specifically, the resolute focus on the colonial period (1840-1907) that had 

characterised the representation of New Zealand history fell out of favour, with 

museum professionals increasingly seeking to present a broader and more 

inclusive view of the nation’s past.  By the 1980s, ideas about museum education 
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had also radically changed, with museums increasingly moving away from the 

object-focused and didactic model of communication offered by reconstructed 

environments, towards narrative-driven and participatory modes of display.  At 

that same time, a growing awareness of conservation issues in the 1980s raised 

concerns regarding both the damage that continuous display had begun to cause 

to some of the artefacts in the rooms and the dangers that the longevity and 

inflexibility of such displays posed to collection items into the future.  The 

proliferation of house museums and historical villages from the mid-1960s 

helped to further fuel the crisis of confidence, serving to raise questions 

regarding their historical accuracy.   

 

Since the removal of many of the period rooms that had been installed in the 

mid-twentieth century, collections of furniture and domestic artefacts have 

largely been exhibited by museums using more flexible modes of display, such 

as plinths and cases, which enable curators to more easily make changes to the 

contents of the gallery over time.  Nevertheless, several new period rooms have 

been constructed in New Zealand museums since 2000, including Studding Sail 

Hall and the Paua Shell House at the Canterbury Museum, and the Steerage 

Quarters at the Otago Settlers Museum.  Differing in several key ways from their 

earlier counterparts, these exhibits demonstrate how the period room continues to 

evolve as a strategy of display in response to the changing demands that have 

been placed on museum galleries since the 1950s and 1960s.    
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